

Department of Psychology

COGNITIVE SOCIAL AND AFFECTIVE NEUROSCIENCE OF

PATIENTS WITH SPINAL CORD INJURY

Candidate: Giulia Galli

European Doctor of Philosophy course in

'Cognitive social and affective neuroscience'

XXVI cycle

Supervisor

Prof. Mariella Pazzaglia

Reviewers

Prof. Carlo Pozzilli

Prof. Giovanni Berlucchi

Prof. Simone Schutz-Bosbach

Prof. Jordan Grafman

Official Referee

Prof. Simone Schutz-Bosbach

Libertà di pensiero,

è libertà di movimento

Freedom of thinking,

is freedom of moving.

Lorenzo Amurri

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	
Overview of the thesis	7

Chapter 1 Phenomenology of spinal cord injuries: a brain body disconnection

1.1 Spinal cord anatomical organization	10
1.2 Phenomenology of spinal cord injuries	12
1.3 Brain plasticity after spinal cord injury	17

Chapter 2 Theoretical background

2.1 Nomenclature of body representations	21
2.2 Wheelchair embodiment	24
2.3 Wheelchair actions sound	26
2.4 Wheelchair stereotype	29

Chapter 3 A functionally relevant tool for the body following spinal cord injury

3.1 Aims and hypothesis	32
3.2 Materials and methods	33
3.3 Results	38
3.4 Discussion	43

Chapter 4 Embodying functionally relevant action sounds in patients with spinal cord injury

4.1 Aims and hypothesis	49
4.2 Materials and methods	50
4.3 Results	56
4.4 Discussion	64

Chapter 5 A computational model on perceptual-motor process of action-related sound

5.1 Elements of neural networks	73
5.2 Embodiment and neural networks: a proposal for a model	77
5.3 Limitations and considerations	88
5.4 Operating environment and code	90

Chapter 6 Don't look at my wheelchair: changing people's bias through social interaction

6.1 Aims and hypothesis	99
6.2 Materials and methods	100
6.3 Results	108
6.4 Discussion	113

Chapter 7 General discussion

7.1 Embodiment, disembodiment, re-embodiment	120
7.2 The importance of intergroup contact	125
7.3 Concluding remarks	126
References	129
Acknowledgments	155

APPENDIX A:

-	Additional clinical information about spinal cord injury	156
-	Table 3.1 Clinical and demographic data of patients presented in Chapter 3	158
-	Table 3.2 Means, standard deviations and communalities for the questionnaire statements	: 159
-	Table 4.2 List of the sounds of the auditory discrimination action task described in Ch	apter
	4	160
-	Overview on the publications status.	162
-	Others papers	163

ABSTRACT

A successful human-environment interaction requires a continuous integration of information concerning body parts, object features and affective dynamics. Multiple neuropsychological studies show that tools can be integrated into the representation of one's own body. In particular, a tool that participates in the conscious movement of the person is added to the dynamic representation the body – often called "Body schema" – and may even affect social interaction. In light of this the wheelchair is treated as an extension of the disabled body, essentially replacing limbs that don't function properly, but it can also be a symbol of frailty and weakness.

In a series of experiments, I studied plastic changes of action, tool and body representation in individuals with spinal cord injury (SCI). Due to their peripheral loss of sensorimotor functions, in the absence of brain lesions and spared higher order cognitive functions, these patients represent an excellent model to study this topic in a multi-faceted way, investigating both fundamental mechanisms and possible therapeutic interventions.

In a series of experiments, I developed new behavioral methods to measure the phenomenological aspects of tool embodiment (Chapter 3), to study its functional and neural correlates (Chapter 4) and to assess the possible computational model underpinning these phenomena (Chapter 5). These tasks have been used to describe changes in tool, action and body representation following the injury (Chapter 3 and 4), but also social interactions (Chapter 7), with the aim of giving a complete portrait of change following such damage.

I found that changes in the function (wheelchair use) and the structure (body brain disconnection) of the physical body, plastically modulate tool, action and body representation. Social context and social interaction are also shaped by the new configuration of bodily representations. Such a high degree of plasticity suggests that our sense of body is not given at once, but rather it is constantly constructed and adapted through experience.

OVERVIEW OF THE THESIS

The aim of this dissertation is to address functional and plastic properties of body and action representation, as well as changes in tool embodiment process, in patients with spinal cord injuries. Due to their peripheral loss of sensorimotor functions, in the absence of brain lesions and spared higher order cognitive functions, these patients represent an excellent model to study this topic in a multi-faceted way, investigating both fundamental mechanisms as well as possible therapeutic interventions. These patients show significant changes in peripheral sensorimotor processing, as well as important cortical reorganization in sensorimotor areas (Henderson et al., 2011), which are thought to be basic for the bodily self and related cognition. Such changes are thus likely to evoke disturbances in the body schema (Curt et al., 2011), the body image (Fuentes et al., 2013); tool embodiment (Papadimitriou, 2008) or action representation. Clinical characteristics of the spinal cord and consequences of its damage have been reviewed in Chapter 1.

Nonetheless, little is known about the perceptual changes in the embodiment process and its underlying neural mechanisms in these patients. Even less is known about how these changes influence higher-level embodied cognitions such as social interaction. In order to successfully interact with people and objects in the world the brain requires to continuously integrating information concerning body parts, object features and socio-affective dynamics in the environment. Two different models are thought to support this function: a dynamic representation of the body, i.e. Body Image (BI), and an online, constantly updated, action-orientated multisensory representations is that both BI and BS are not fixed, but they dynamically change depending on different types of experience. The connection of the self to the body (often termed "embodiment") is one of the most essential aspects of human consciousness and has been the subject of various influential philosophical (e.g., Descartes,

James, Merlot-Ponty) and, more recently, neuroscientific theories (e.g., Damasio). These recent theories converge in term of their emphasis of the great relevance of bodily sensorimotor processes (i.e. the non-conceptual representations and processing of body-related information) in higher-level cognition and self-consciousness, as well as in the interactions with external objects and people. These basic sensorimotor processes are peripherally and profoundly disturbed in patients with spinal cord injuries, leading also to important structural and functional cortical reorganization in the respective cortical areas (Henderson et al., 2011). Properties and features of these processes and representations, as well as the theoretical background inspiring my research, have been reviewed in Chapter 2.

In the experimental section of this dissertation, behavioral and functional properties of these plastic representations have been investigated using different methods. In particular, in Chapter 3 the bodily assimilation of a relevant external tool as a consequence of altered sensory and motor inputs from the body and of prolonged confinement in the wheelchair has been studied, while in Chapter 4 I presented a new matching-to-sample auditory discrimination paradigm specifically developed to investigate whether profound alterations in sensorimotor traffic between the body and brain influence audio-motor representations. Moreover, as suggested by a new computetional model, in order to compute the decision process for auditory recognition, individuals integrate information considering both the memory of a motor-action repertoire and the memory of the perceptual features of the sound repertoire. In Chapter 5 I presented an experiment run to test this computational hypothesis.

In a second series of experiments I focused on the way in which the dramatic change in body representation that occur after a sudden transformation in the structure of the physical body, such as the spinal cord injury, assume a role in social and affective dynamics as a function of different types of experiences. Particularly, in Chapter 6 I investigated how our perception of individuals on wheelchair is shaped by social experience. I firstly explored the presence of implicit stereotypes toward wheelchair-bound patients with spinal cord injury by means of an

ad hoc devised version of the Implicit Association Test. Subsequently, I focused on a possible attenuation of the strength of the implicit disability prejudice through a personal interaction with an individual with SCI. Finally, in Chapter 7 I will try to give a general portrait of social cognitive and affective neuroscience of this particular clinical population.

CHAPTER 1

PHENOMENOLOGY OF SPINAL CORD INJURIES: A BRAIN BODY DISCONNECTION

The spinal cord is the traditional starting point for a detailed consideration of the central nervous system (CNS). It is a uniformly organized part of the CNS, extraordinarily important in the day-to-day activities we tend not to think about. In it reside all the motor neurons supplying the muscles we use to move our body around, as well as major populations of autonomic efferents. It also receives all the sensory input from the body and some from the head and performs the initial processing operations on most of these input.

Spinal cord injuries (SCI) are among the most dramatic causes of immobility also because they often affect young people who expect to live for decades in a state of massive sensory de-afferentation and motor de-efferentation. Approximately between 180,000 and 250,000 people is currently living with such injuries in the United States (58% of them aged between 16 and 30 years) (Cole, 2004). A similar figure is found in Europe although both the incidence and prevalence are possibly underestimated (Wyndaele & Wyndaele, 2006). Importantly, although these patients have no brain lesions and higher order cognitive functions are largely spared, they show significant changes in peripheral sensorimotor processing, as well as important cortical reorganization in sensorimotor areas (Henderson et al., 2011), which are thought to be basic for the bodily self and related cognition.

1.1 Spinal cord anatomical organization

An adult human spinal cord appears surprisingly small on first inspection, being only about 42 to 45 cm long and about 35 g. It begins at the neck and extends down to the low back, supported and protected by the vertebral column; it connects the brain to the nerves

throughout the body and it is anatomically segmented by the nerve roots attached to it. A continuous series of dorsal (posterior) rootlets enter the cord in a shallow longitudinal groove (the posterocentral sulcus) in its posterolateral surface; and a continuous series of ventral (anterior) rootlets leaves from the poorly defined anterolateral sulcus. The dorsal and ventral rootlets from discrete sections of the cord coalesce to form dorsal and ventral roots, which in turn join to form spinal nerves. Each dorsal root bears a dorsal root ganglion just proximal to the junction between dorsal and ventral roots; it contains the cell bodies of the primary sensory neurons whose processes travel through that particular spinal nerve. Each dorsal root ganglion remains at the level of the appropriate foramen. Proceeding from the cervical to the sacral levels, the dorsal and ventral roots become progressively longer because they have longer and longer distances to travel before reaching their sites of exit from the vertebral canal. A portion of the cord that gives rise to a spinal nerve constitutes a segment, which supplies the upper and lower extremities and therefore contains increased numbers of motor neurons and interneurons. The sensory nerves leave the cord and the motor ones enter it through nerve roots at each vertebral level. These levels are broadly divided into: the neck or cervical (with eight vertebrae and eight root levels); chest, or thoracic (twelve roots); low back, or lumbar (five roots); and pelvic area, or sacral (five roots). In cross section the spinal cord consists of a roughly H-shaped area of gray matter that floats in a surround of white matter. The gray matter can be divided into horns and the white matter into funiculi. Each spinal nerve retains its relationship with a somite during the development, with the results that spinal cord segments are related systematically with to areas of skin, to muscles, and to vertebrae. A group of muscles innervated through a specific part of the spine is called a myotome, while a section of the skin innervated through a specific part of the spine is called a dermatome. This dermatomal arrangement is particularly apparent in the trunk, where pairs of dermatomes form bands that encircle the chest and abdomen. Similarly, the innervation of the skeletal muscles is related systematically to spinal segments. Knowledge of the segmental

innervations of muscles and cutaneous areas can be extremely helpful in diagnosing the site of damage in or near the spinal cord. In addition the highest level of a sensory or motor deficit may allow deductions about the segmental level of a suspected spinal cord lesion.

1.2 Phenomenology of spinal cord injuries

A spinal cord injury (SCI) refers to any damage to the spinal cord that is caused by trauma instead of disease. Depending on where the spinal cord and nerve roots are damaged, the symptoms can vary widely (Lin et al., 2002; Kirshblum et al., 2001). The level of an injury is described in terms of its roots level. An injury in the cervical area will lead to loss of use of arms, trunk, and legs: tetraplegia if complete, or a tetra-paresis if some movement remains. Injury to the thoracic, lumbar, and sacral cord leads to loss of movement of the legs but spares the arm: paraplegia if complete, or a para-paresis if incomplete.

Classification of the injury

Spinal cord injuries are described at various levels as "incomplete", which can vary from having no effect on the patient, or "complete", which mean a total loss of function. Retaining sensation and functions in the very lowest region of the spine, the sacral region, indicates that the spinal cord is only partially damaged. An incomplete spinal cord injury involves preservation of motor or sensory function below the level of injury in the spinal cord (Ho et al., 2007). This includes a phenomenon known as sacral sparing which involves the preservation of cutaneous sensation in the sacral dermatomes, even though sensation is impaired in the thoracic and lumbar dermatomes below the level of the lesion (Lafuente et al., 1995). Sacral sparing has been attributed to the lamination of fibers within the spinal cord and to the idea that the sacral spinal pathways are not as likely as the other spinal pathways to become compressed after injury (Lafuente et al., 1995). While the prognosis of complete

injuries are generally predictable since recovery, the symptoms of incomplete injuries can vary and it is difficult to make an accurate prediction of the outcome.

The American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) first published an international classification of spinal cord injury in 1982, called the International Standards for Neurological and Functional Classification of Spinal Cord Injury. Now in its sixth edition, the International Standards for Neurological Classification of Spinal Cord Injury (ISNCSCI) is still widely used to document sensory and motor impairments following SCI (Marino et al., 2003). It is based on neurological responses, touch and pinprick sensations tested in each dermatome, and strength of the muscles that control ten key motions on both sides of the body, including hip flexion (L2), shoulder shrug (C4), elbow flexion (C5), wrist extension (C6), and elbow extension (C7). Traumatic spinal cord injury is classified into five categories on the ASIA Impairment Scale:

• A indicates a "complete" spinal cord injury where no motor or sensory function is preserved in the sacral segments S4-S5.

• B indicates an "incomplete" spinal cord injury where sensory but not motor function is preserved below the neurological level and includes the sacral segments S4-S5. This is typically a transient phase and if the person recovers any motor function below the neurological level, that person essentially becomes a motor incomplete, i.e. ASIA C or D.

• C indicates an "incomplete" spinal cord injury where motor function is preserved below the neurological level and more than half of key muscles below the neurological level have a muscle grade of less than 3, which indicates active movement with full range of motion against gravity.

• D indicates an "incomplete" spinal cord injury where motor function is preserved below the neurological level and at least half of the key muscles below the neurological level have a muscle grade of 3 or more.

• E indicates "normal" where motor and sensory scores are normal. Note that it is possible to have spinal cord injury and neurological deficits with completely normal motor and sensory scores.

Dimitrijevic (1988) proposed a further class, the so-called discomplete lesion, which is clinically complete but is accompanied by neurophysiological evidence of residual brain influence on spinal cord function below the lesion (Sherwood et al., 1992).

Phases of the injury

Any spinal cord injury may be temporary or permanent. Most injuries involve some initial swelling as well as more serious damage. Then some recovery may occur, which is one reason why prognosis can initially be difficult. According to the arrangement of the cord in cross section (with nerve fibers involved in touch and movement sensation in its upper half and fibers involved in movement, pain and temperature sensation in the lower half) it is possible to have a cord syndrome with loss of movement and pain/temperature sensory loss but some touch sensation remaining, or one in which movement remains but touch and position sense are lost. Usually, though, the impairment is not so neat as this, and some or all of both are affected to varying amounts. Despite this, it is possible to identify a typical sequence of clinical events resulting from the trauma. The muscles may contract uncontrollably, become weak, or be completely unresponsive. The loss of muscle function can have additional effects if the muscle is not used, including atrophy of the muscle and bone degeneration. Spinal cord transection eventually leads to spastic (upper motor neuron) paralysis below the level of the damage. This is preceded by a stage of spinal shock that may last for weeks, characterized by more or less completely flaccid paralysis. Deep tendon reflexes then begin to return and

finally become hyperactive. Lesser degrees of spinal shock may occur even in cases of contusion of the spinal cord. The mechanism of spinal shock is not completely understood but the whole sequence of the events is thought to been a consequence of interruption of fibers from the brainstem and cerebellum descending to spinal cord motor neurons and interneurons. Multiple mechanisms contribute to the transition from spinal shock to spasticity. Early on, spinal cord neurons probably upregulate their complements of transmitter receptors and become abnormally sensitive. Later stages of the transition are thought to involve the formation of new synaptic connections. The degeneration of the endings of descending fibers leaves vacant synaptic sites at various places on motor neurons and interneurons, adjacent to intact reflex connections. Multiplication of these reflex connections to fill up the vacated sites would be expected to increase the sensitivity and magnitude of reflexes. Spinal shock followed by long-term hyperreflexia affects autonomic functions as well.

Spinal cord damage causes predictable deficits

The functions of the cord are reflected in the neurological impairments following damage to it. Determining the exact "level" of injury is critical in making accurate predictions about the specific parts of the body that may be affected by paralysis and loss of function (see Table 1.1). Signs recorded by a physician and symptoms experienced by a patient will vary depending on where the spine is injured and the extent of the injury. Impairments may be divided into movement and motor function, to voluntary muscles as well as to the breathing system, gut, bladder, and blood vessels, and sensory function to skin, muscles, and internal organs. Because different sensory and motor nerves pass in and out at each level and because the cord is the relay of fibers to and from the brain, the level of injury is crucial. Individuals injured at C1 and C2 will have no movement and sensation below the head. They will be dependent on a respirator because the nerves controlling breathing exit at C3. C3 tetraplegics may be able to control an electric wheelchair via a head control, but will still need assistance

with the breathing. People with a C4 lesion may be able to breathe unaided using the diaphragm, though they will still have lost chest wall movement and have reduced expansion of the lungs. A C5 lesion will allow some movement of the shoulders and of biceps, allowing elbow flexion, but no power to straighten the elbow. C6 adds movement of the wrist upwards, though still not use of the hands. A person may be able to transfer in and out of a wheelchair. A C7 level allows independence with elbow extension aiding transfers, though finger movements that are controlled by C8 and T1 are still not normal. For a C8 tetraplegic independence might be expected. Additional signs and symptoms of cervical injuries include: inability or reduced ability to regulate heart rate, blood pressure, sweating and hence body temperature; autonomic dysreflexia or abnormal increases in blood pressure, sweating, and other autonomic responses to pain or sensory disturbances.

In thoracic injuries and below people are paraplegic. In T1 to T8 lesions, trunk muscles as well as chest wall breathing are lost, leading to difficulties in balance in a wheelchair, which are shared with all tetraplegics. Lesions around T8 and below have effects mainly on leg and hip muscles.

To conclude, the cord damage may differ in completeness, duration and most importantly in level. The neurological impairment confronts each person with a huge loss, however, each person's response to it varies hugely.

Additonal clinical information can be found in Appendix A.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE NERVE LEVEL OF THE SCI AND MOVEMENT		
SPINAL ROOT LEVEL	MOVEMENT	
C3 C4 C5	Diaphragm	
C5 C6	Shoulder out	
C5 C6	Elbow flexion	
C6 C7 C8	Elbow straightening	
C6 C7	Wrist bending	
C7 C8	Wrist straightening	
C7 C8	Finger straightening	
C7 C8 T1	Finger bending	
C8 T1	Hand muscle	
L1 L2 L3	Hip bending	
L3 L4	Knee extension	
L4 L5 S1	Hip straightening	
L4 L5 S1	Foot lifting	
L5 S1 S2	Toe extension	

Table 1.1 Relationship between the nerve level of the SCI and movement.

1.3 Brain plasticity after spinal cord injury

Reorganization of brain function in people with CNS damage has been identified as one of the fundamental mechanisms involved in the recovery of sensory-motor function. Unlike cortical injuries, the brain remains largely intact after SCI, providing a unique opportunity to use mapping techniques to examine cortical and subcortical reorganization in an intact brain after a distal CNS neurotrauma. The impact of traumatic spinal cord injury on structural integrity, cortical reorganization and ensuing disability is variable and may depend on a dynamic interaction between the severity of local damage and the capacity of the brain for plastic reorganization. Intuitively, greater damage to the spinal cord induces greater cortical reorganization that relates quantitatively to disability. Several studies have demonstrated that

functional and structural cortical reorganization occurs following deafferentation (Bruehlmeier et al., 1998; Freund et al., 2011a; Freund et ale 2011b; Henderson et al., 2011; Moore et al., 2000; Wrigley et al., 2009). Specifically, subjects with SCI who recover functionally (Jurkiewicz et al., 2006) or who undergo surgical decompression (Duggal et al., 2010) show increases in the volume of activation in primary motor cortex. Increased cerebral activation during lower limb movement is correlated with spinal atrophy and impairment assessed by the American Spinal Injury Associations score (Lundell et al., 2011b). Analogously, subjects with SCI who do not recover show a reduced volume of activation in primary motor cortex (Jurkiewicz et al., 2010).

Reorganization of cortical networks in the brain can occur spontaneously after neurological injury. Several aspects of reorganization of brain function following SCI resembled those reported in stroke. Although SCI does not involve direct injury to cortical neurons, a spinal cord lesion affects primary sensorimotor areas connected to the damaged area and can result in reorganization of these and surrounding regions in order to compensate for sensorimotor loss (Jain et al., 1997; Donoghue et al., 1990). The brain reorganization that occurs can be dependent on both structural and functional changes. Structural changes may include synaptic alterations, such as the change in length and diameter of existing dendritic branches or the growth of new branches, providing the opportunity for new synapses (Bayona et al., 2005). Functional, changes may include modification of neuronal activity, synaptic efficacy (Dunlop, 2008), or increases in astrocyte activity (Kolb et al., 1995). Moreover, it appears that cortical reorganization is particularly associated with the growth of new intracortical connections (Pons et al., 1991). Henderson et al (2011) found that a primary somatosensory cortex (S1) reorganization of the hand area, towards the deafferented leg area, was associated with grey matter preservation and decreased fractional anisotropy. This expansion may be related to rewiring of axotomized hind limb neurons onto cervical motor circuits (Ghosh et al., 2010), driven by compensatory use of a less affected part of the body, similar to that seen following

rehabilitative training after stroke (Nudo et al., 1996) or overuse (Elbert et al., 1995). However, an alternative interpretation could be that greater disability induces greater cortical reorganization but that this does not translate into functional gain.

These changes in cortical organization may occur secondary to altered spinothalamic and spinocerebellar input, and presumably reflect the adaptation of cortical maps to altered inputs (Bruehlmeier et al., 1998). Spinal cord atrophy represents the endpoint of neurodegeneration resulting from an accumulation of multiple pathophysiological events, such as axonal degeneration and demyelination, axonal dieback and neuronal loss (Dusart and Schwab, 1994). Overall, the reduction of subcortical white matter volume in the corticospinal tract and cortical grey matter volume and cortical thinning in primary motor cortex is indicative of atrophy due to retrograde degeneration (Hains et al., 2003; Beaud et al., 2008), but could also arise from decreased cortical connectivity due to a reduction in dendritic spine density (Kim et al., 2006) or a reduction in angiogenesis (Fields, 2008). Atrophy of neurons in primary sensory cortex may be induced through reduced cellular activity, triggered by trans neuronal degeneration (Jones, 2000).

It is incredibly important to understand if this well documented brain plasticity finds its functional correlate in different aspects of cognition, affection and social behavior. Although sensory information clearly influences body image (Gandevia & Phegan, 1999; Paqueron et al., 2003) the conscious body model may be only indirectly linked to primary sensory areas. Instead, this body representation is thought to predominately arise from the posterior parietal cortex (PPC) and to depend strongly on visual input. Phantom limb studies in amputees, for example, show that perceived movement of the phantom limb is associated with increased activity in PPC (Kew et al., 1994) and other non-painful phantom sensations are more linked to changes in PPC than SI (Flor et al., 2000). Furthermore, in some cases, lesions in the PPC can suppress the experience of phantom limbs (Melzack & Bromage, 1973) and can induce asomatognosia, a condition in which parts of the body feel as though they have disappeared

(Salanova et al., 1995; Wolpert et al., 1998). Other studies have shown that the left PPC is involved with processing spatial information about bodies (Corradi-Dell'Acqua et al., 2008; Corradi-Dell'Acqua et al., 2009; Felician et al., 2009). Patients with damage to the left PPC can exhibit autotopagnosia, an inability to localize and orient different parts of the body while maintaining the ability to identify body parts (Buxbaum et al., 2001; Pick, 1922). Despite cortical reorganization of primary somatosensory areas, chronic sensorimotor loss may in fact not affect the body image, as higher level areas such as the PPC are generally unaltered following SCI. Indeed, a patient with total large fiber deafferentation below the neck was assumed to rely on a (visual) body image to compensate for the complete absence of proprioceptive or body schema input (Gallagher & Cole, 1995). It is critical to note that reorganization will be different in individuals with paraplegia compared to tetraplegia during upper limb movement. Brain activation with upper limb movements in individuals with paraplegia involve the intact arms/hands, which are above the level of lesion, whereas brain activation in individuals with tetraplegia will involve attempted or imagined movement below the level of lesion.

If brain networks involved in different demands of motor control remain responsive even in chronic paralysis, therapeutic strategies aiming for restoring spinal cord function even in people with chronic SCI should be shaped on a preserved competent brain control.

CHAPTER 2

THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Spinal cord injuries (SCI) are among the most dramatic causes of immobility also because they often affect young people who expect to live for decades in a state of massive sensory de-afferentation and motor de-efferentation. From a neuroscientific point of view, although these patients have no brain lesions and higher order cognitive functions are largely spared, they show significant changes in peripheral sensorimotor processing, as well as important cortical reorganization in sensorimotor areas (Henderson et al., 2011), which are thought to be basic for the bodily self and related cognition. Such changes are thus likely to evoke disturbances in the body schema (Curt et al., 2011); the body image (Fuentes et al., 2013), and tool embodiment (Papadimitriou 2008; Standal 2011; Arnhoff & Mehl 1963; Higuchi et al., 2006; Higuchi et al., 2009; Olsson 2012; Winance 2006a; Winance 2006b). Nonetheless, little is known about these perceptual and cognitive functions and their underlying neural mechanisms in these patients. Even less is known about how these changes influence higherlevel embodied cognitions such as e.g. empathy and social interaction. The aim of this dissertation is to give a portrait of the complex changes occurring in different aspects of cognition, affection and social behavior in these patients after such damage, trying to consider both structural and functional adaptation, as well as social and psychological dynamics.

2.1 Nomenclature of body representations

Sensory signals from receptors in the skin, muscles, and joints provide information about body position (Burgess et al., 1982). This sense of body position – termed proprioception (Sherrington, 1906) – helps form a mental representation of the body. However, since no afferent information specifies shape and size of the body, a model of the body must exist beyond sensory information. The characteristics of this body model have only recently begun to be explored. There is little agreement in literature about the number and types of body representations in the brain. The first distinction was proposed by Head and Holmes (1911), by studying impairments in tactile perception in a brain damaged patient suffering from a surgical ablation of part of the precentral gyrus. Head and Holmes found that the brain lesion affected patient's ability to localize the position of his hand in space, leaving unaffected the ability to localize, by naming it, a tactile stimulus at the hand. Head and Holmes introduced a dyadic distinction between a Postural Schema, a representation of the position of the body parts in space, used for action execution and updating of postural changes, and Superficial Schema, a model of the skin surface used for localizing bodily and tactile sensations. After this seminal paper, different taxonomies of body representations have been proposed, based on the different kinds of body-related information. The currently most accepted taxonomy poses a dyadic distinction between Body Schema and Body Image. Body Schema is generally defined as a constantly updated representation of the position of different body parts in space in relationship with each other, derived from multiple sensory (proprioceptive, vestibular, tactile, visual, auditory, kinesthetic) inputs. It is commonly accepted that Body Schema interacts with the motor system in the genesis of actions. The Body Image instead is an abstract and stable representation of the body for perception, more related to semantic or affective processes, and mainly influenced by visual inputs (de Vignemont, 2010; Gallagher, 2005; Schwoebel & Coslett, 2005). This action-perception duality reminds that originally shown in the visual domain (Goodale & Milner, 1992; Mishkin & Ungerleider, 1982), and more recently in the auditory (Belin & Zatorre, 2000) and somatosensory domains (Kammers et al., 2009; see Dijkerman & De Haan 2007 for a review).

More recently, Longo and colleagues (2010) proposed a general body model that distinguishes between two major classes of high-order body representations, named

somatoperception and somatorepresentation. The first term refers to the process of perceiving the body itself, while the second one is more related to abstract knowledge, beliefs and attitudes towards one's own body. Some studies have established that conflicting cross-modal information (e.g., proprioceptive and tactile information) can alter one's body model such that illusions of body shape and size are perceived (Lackner, 1988). Interestingly, a recent study found that conflicting sensory information within one modality (in this case, proprioception) can also affect one's body model: simultaneous extension and flexion signals at a joint can cause perceived shrinkage of the limb (Longo et al., 2009). In addition to having a body model that reflects our first-person perception of our body, we also maintain a cognitive representation of our bodies, which can be thought of as a body image. As opposed to what the body is "felt" to be like, this body image reflects what the body is "believed" to be like (Longo et al., 2010). While more studies are exploring this area, how sensory information is integrated into one's body model is still not well understood. Studying the effects of sensory loss on body representations provides a glimpse into the role played by afferent information. Anaesthetizing digits in healthy adults, for example, results in increased perceived size of the digit (Gandevia and Phegan, 1999) and size of objects held between digits (Berryman et al., 2006). The perception of phantom limbs (i.e., the presence of the missing limb) after traumatic amputation, on the other hand, often results in shrinkage and telescoping of the perceived limb (Henderson and Smyth, 1948).

Our bodies are our instruments and most of us pay little attention to them. They are usually absent from our awareness, just allowing us to do what we like. After spinal cord injury, the body is absented, insentient and unmoving, and yet has to be looked after, because it no longer functions automatically. Moreover, a sense of agency (or will), as well as feedback of movement, seems to be essential to feel at one with one's body. We also have a conscious sense of our appearance, seen in our relations with others and in developing our self-esteem. What we look like and how we move, as well as what we say, play a large part in how we are perceived. In our emotional life, as Merleau-Ponty (2002) wrote, "the body is more than a means, it is our expression in the world". For those with spinal cord injury, their bodies and hence their worlds might change. The injury may alter the relation to their own body and to others in huge and unimagined ways, from knowledge of the body itself to the will to move and psychological integrity. Moreover, a tool that extends or restores movement (such as the wheelchair) may become part of the identity of the person to whom it belongs. Many physiological and psychophysical studies suggest a highly complex relationship between body representations and relevant extracorporeal objects (Maravita & Iriki, 2004; Cardinali et al., 2009; Tsakiris, 2010).

2.2 Wheelchair embodiment

The extent of body representation is dynamically shaped as a function of subjects' action in the space, with or without the use of external objects (Gallese & Sinigaglia 2010). Some authors (Iriki et al., 1996; Maravita & Iriki, 2004) have proposed that the flexibility after tooluse reflects a modification in body representations, which indeed should be plastic enough to update accordingly to slow and fast changes the body undergoes with time. In humans, tool use induces plasticity after both short- and long-term learning and practice (Longo & Serino, 2012), and therefore, perceptual, motor, and cognitive capacities (De Preester, 2011) are reformed based on the mode of use (Bassolino et al., 2010). Specifically, if a tool extends the able body's movement potential, the object becomes part of the body (a process known as "embodiment") (Longo & Serino, 2012), distorts the perceived body dimension (Fuentes et al., 2013), and alters the sensorimotor state that guides actions (Cardinali et al., 2009; Cardinali et al., 2012).

These bodily changes may result in either a conscious, visual representation of the manner in which the body is perceived, known as "body image" (Fuentes et al., 2013) or, on the other

hand, potentially update unconscious sensorimotor representations to enable motor control, as referred to as "body schema" (de Vignemont, 2010). Behavioral studies have specified that, although seeing and touching a tool affirms its embodiment, movement may not be necessary (e.g., a rubber hand can be embodied without moving it) (de Vignemont, 2011). However, the ability to control movement enhances the feeling of embodiment (Newport & Preston, 2010), whereas the inability to control movement prevents it (Tsakiris et al., 2006). When a prosthetic device is used for action and constrains the injured physical body to a new position, the appropriate extracorporeal tool may be assimilated as a corporeal structure (Cardianli et al., 2012; de Vignemont, 2011), influencing the body schema and body image (Fuentes et al., 2013). For example, patients paralyzed because of spinal cord injury (SCI) may lose movement and sensation permanently, thus becoming dependent on a wheelchair for mobility and changing their body posture drastically. Influential theoretical models (Papadimitriou 2008; Standal 2011) and empirical studies (Fuentes et al., 2013; Arnhoff & Mehl 1963; Higuchi et al., 2006; Higuchi et al., 2009; Olsson 2012; Winance, 2006a; Winance, 2006b) have suggested that, in these cases, the body schema and body image are rearranged to incorporate the wheelchair. The experience of wheelchair embodiment has not been evaluated using quantitative measurements but, rather, through systematic descriptions of patient experiences. No definitive conclusions have been drawn from these studies and reports concerning wheelchair embodiment are controversial. Although some patients with SCI experience the wheelchair as a corporeal structure, others regard it as an artificial device. For example, a male patient who had a complete lesion at the fifth cervical vertebra was able to flex his elbow but was completely paralyzed from the chest down and had no hand movement, reported, "[The wheelchair] is not a part of me. It might need to fit me like a pair of trousers; it might need to be there when I want it to do what I want to do, but it is not a part of me" (Cole, 2004). Conversely, a 27-year-old male patient with a thoracic lesion, complete paralysis of the lower half of the body, and spared hand movement and sensation said: "It is a

part of me... I forget it" (Papadimitriou 2008). In these two cases, patients with upper and lower SCI reported differences in the corporeal experiences with the wheelchair.

Generally, injury to the upper level of the spinal cord results in greater deficits than injury to the lower level. Cervical spine lesions induce legs and trunk paralysis as well as a variable degree of sensory loss and partial paralysis of the upper limbs. In contrast, lesions of the thoracic and lumbar spine cause paralysis of only the lower limbs. Given the preservation of cognitive functions in SCI patients, the mobility-impaired wheelchair-bound patients offer a unique opportunity to characterize the inherently plastic nature of the body schema and body image as a result of tool use. In particular, sensorimotor deprivation and the specific use of a wheelchair may modulate the development of the corporeal awareness of a tool. Since bodily representation can change because of temporary (regional anesthesia) (Gimbel, 1975; Jauregui-Renaud et al., 2008) or permanent (amputation and peripheral nerve lesions) (Murray, 2004; Navarro, 2009) modification of sensorimotor signals, it is logical to expect that the proportion of the body that is "isolated" from the brain may have an impact on the embodiment of a tool. Along the same lines, the systematic adaptation to an assistive device requires a change in the body's center of mass (Fuentes et al., 2013). Thus, long-lasting distortions of the body morphology may reflect a new state of the body image, leading to a coherent modification of corporeal awareness.

2.2 Wheelchair actions sound

The functional imbalance of perceptual motor states may be partially restored with active tool use (Pereira et al., 1996). A body-held tool, for example, may become essential to the user if it facilitates mobility or other essential functions (Serino et al., 2007, Papadimitriou, 2008). As previously mentioned, the tool may be processed as a part of one's own body (Longo and

Serino, 2012, Lenggenhager et al., 2013; Farne and Ladavas, 2000) and guide visual-motor (Iriki et al., 1996) but also audio-motor (Serino et al., 2007, Bassolino et al., 2010) interactions. Each human action produces a characteristic sound that may permit its unequivocal recognition. For example, hearing hands clapping may allow an individual to draw several inferences about a given event (Aglioti & Pazzaglia, 2010). Similarly, for patients with spinal cord injury hearing the sound of a wheelchair approaching may provide precise (e.g., specific identity) as well as general (e.g., sex or mood) information about an individual. In principle, this patient population may be ideal for testing two fundamental, largely unaddressed simulation and embodiment issues: (i) how a relevant extracorporeal tool producing a typical sound (e.g. wheelchairs) may affect auditory action representations; and (ii) how motor afference/efference may influences the functional integrity of audio-motor mapping.

The notion of embodied cognition postulates that knowledge is grounded on actual bodily states and that higher-order processes, such as mind- and intention- reading or action- and perception- understanding, can be mapped onto modal sensorimotor cortices (Barsalou, 2008). The bodily instantiation of cognitive operations (or "embodiment") and the perceptual-motor state (or "simulation") are thought to enable the inter-individual sharing of experiences (Gallese, 2007). Based on the results of single-cell recordings in monkeys (Gallese et al., 1996, Fogassi et al., 2005), many neuroimaging and neurophysiological studies have proposed that the adult human brain is equipped with neural systems and mechanisms that affect the perception and execution of actions in a common format (Rizzolatti and Craighero, 2004, Van Overwalle and Baetens, 2009, Hommel et al., 2001, Schutz-Bosbach and Prinz, 2007). Direct action perception strengthens motor representation (Stefan et al., 2005), and short-term motor experiences with a particular action may influence its visual recognition (Casile and Giese, 2006) and facilitate action prediction (Pazzaglia, 2013).

Both visual and auditory channels participate in perception-action coupling (Aglioti and

Pazzaglia, 2010). The mechanisms and neural structures involved in the motor coding of action-related sounds have been explored in able individuals using correlative and causative approaches (Aziz-Zadeh et al., 2004, Alaerts et al., 2009, Ticini et al., 2012, Gazzola et al., 2006, Lahav et al., 2007, De Lucia et al., 2009). These studies indicate that the perception of sounds from body part specific actions (e.g. ripping a sheet of paper) activates the left fronto-parietal network (Aglioti and Pazzaglia, 2011) in a somatotopic arrangement (Gazzola et al., 2006, Schubotz et al., 2003). Moreover, greater involvement of the left vs. right inferior parietal lobe has been reported when an observer's attention is explicitly directed toward action sounds (Lewis et al., 2006).

The inability to perform or perceive a given motor action may impact on the structural integrity of that action representation. Individuals with spinal cord injury (SCI) who are unable to move their lower limbs, have a reduced ability to discriminate between different observed movements, suggesting that action mapping may be fully determined by immediate motor signals (Pernigo et al., 2012, Arrighi et al., 2011). In patients with apraxia, impairment in specific actions execution (e.g. inability to clap the hands) greatly reduces the individual's capacity to acoustically recognize the corresponding motor event. However, the inadequate discrimination critically depends on a properly functioning left fronto-parietal network (Pazzaglia et al., 2008), spared in patients with SCI. Individuals with congenital blindness and deafness who have total perceptual loss rely on less implicit motor representations when perceiving human actions (Ricciardi et al., 2009, Alaerts et al., 2011, Lewis et al., 2011). Blind people, however, may still rely on the coding of aural tool action via simulation, which could reflect the activity of inherent motor systems (Ricciardi et al., 2009, Lewis et al., 2011). However, it is unclear whether lifelong (mobility by lower limbs) and newly acquired (mobility by WHC) perceptual and motor experiences differently impact the integrity of action perception mapping.

2.3 Wheelchair stereotype

Despite the possibility of independence in most or all activities, individuals with paraplegia face multiple challenges that are common to people with disabilities. From rehabilitation tool with striking possibilities, the wheelchair may become the symbol of disability and the physical marker of the newly acquired bodily condition. The incorporation process described above points also to new ways of being in the world, i.e. to the relations between self and other and self and world (Winance 2006a, 2006b; Papadimitriou 2008), which extend beyond the oppositional distinction able-bodied/disabled. Considering our cultural influences, personal experiences, and normative expectations, simply being a wheelchair user is enough to be considered an outgroup member and to attract implicit negative stereotyping (Coleman, 2006). The visibility of a disability (in this case the chair) contributes significantly to producing a damaged identity (Goffman,1963). Empirical data are emerging that support the importance of the social context for shaping perceptions of quality of life after a spinal cord injury (Fuhrer; 1996).

Although people tend to consider themselves and others as single individuals, there are many circumstances in which they think, feel, and act largely as group members. Even if empathy is thought to play a critical role in social interactions motivating pro-social behavior (Dovidio et al., 1991), people often fail to empathize to the same extent with outgroup members as ingroup members (Chiao & Mathur, 2010; Batson & Ahmad, 2009; Stephan & Finlay, 1999). The failure of empathy has many practical repercussions for behavior in every day life. In this regard, it has been repeatedly demonstrated that people are less likely to help outgroup than in-group members in need (Gaertner et al., 1982; Saucer et al., 2005; Kunstman and Plant, 2008) and less likely to value the lives of outgroup members as much as in-group members (Pratto and Glasford, 2008). Furthermore, also response to other's pain depends on the social relationships between the parts. For example, affective links (Singer et al., 2004), perceived similarities (Perry et al., 2010), social memberships (Xu et al., 2009) and racial origin

29

(Avenanti et al., 2010) are likely to modulate the level of empathy experienced by the observer toward agent's pain (Chiao and Mathur, 2010, for a review).Failures of empathy are especially likely if the sufferer is considered as socially distant. There are specific prejudice-based attitudes about disability built on social and cultural norms in every society. Recent research in social cognition has indicated a way to predict prejudices, grounding on social and cultural dimensions (Cuddy, Fiske, & Glick, 2007; Fiske, Cuddy, & Glick, 2007; Fiske, Cuddy, Glick, & Xu, 2002). The core assumption behind stigma is that one can infer internal worth from an external sign or characteristic. In the case of the wheelchair user the chair becomes both the symbol and the object of stigmatization.

There is also a rapidly growing literature on the relationship between implicit and explicit attitudes and the effect of each on behavioral outcomes (Nosek 2005; Nock and Banaji 2007; McConnell and Liebold 2001; Greenwald et al., 2009). Concerning the racial bias, the evidence suggests that implicit attitudes predict race-related behaviors (Dovidio 2002, Towles-Schwen and Fazio, 2006; Rooth; 2010). A recent meta-analysis of attitude-behavior linkages (Greenwald et al., 2009) found not only that implicit racial attitudes reliably predicted relevant behavioral outcomes, but also that the predictive validity of explicit attitudes was compromised in socially sensitive attitude domains. On the contrary other authors found that explicit and implicit measures of racial attitudes appear to measure distinct concepts.

Since empathy is such a potent predictor of helping behavior (Decety & Ickes, 2009; Batson, et al., 2003), studying its failure as well as its plasticity could be a first stage toward the positive promotion of this particular aspect of the pro-social attitude. Although this theme has become an important research topic, two essential related matters continue to be largely unaddressed. The first concerns the question of whether is there any dissociation in explicit/implicit prejudice-based attitudes about disability according to the group-

30

membership. The second relates to whether we can actively counteract the presence of implicit/explicit bias.

CHAPTER 3

A FUNCTIONALLY RELEVANT TOOL FOR THE BODY FOLLOWING SPINAL CORD INJURY

[This research has been published in: Pazzaglia M, Galli G, Scivoletto G, Molinari M (2013)

A Functionally Relevant Tool for the Body following Spinal Cord Injury. PLoS ONE

8(3):e58312.doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0058312]

3.1 Aims and Hypothesis

A tool that extends or restores movement may become part of the identity of the person to whom it belongs. For example, some individuals with spinal cord injury (SCI) adapt their body representation to incorporate their wheelchairs. However, it remains unclear how the bodily assimilation of a relevant external tool develops as a consequence of altered sensory and motor inputs from the body. Generally, injury to the upper level of the spinal cord results in greater deficits than injury to the lower level. Given the preservation of cognitive functions in SCI patients, the mobility-impaired wheelchair-bound patients offer a unique opportunity to characterize the inherently plastic nature of the body schema and body image as a result of tool use. In particular, sensorimotor deprivation and the specific use of a wheelchair may modulate the development of the corporeal awareness of the tool. It is logical to expect that the proportion of the body that is "isolated" from the brain may have an impact on the embodiment of a tool. Along the same lines, the systematic adaptation to an assistive device requires a change in the body's center of mass (Fuentes et al., 2013). Thus, long-lasting distortions of the body morphology may reflect a new state of the body image, leading to a coherent modification of corporeal awareness. To explore such relationships in this study, we

collected structured reports on the introspective experiences of regular wheelchair use in patients with SCI. Our aim was to determine, after SCI at different levels, how the degree of spared sensorimotor function or the prolonged confinement by sitting in a wheelchair modulates the introspective experiences of instantiation of a wheelchair as captured by a standard principal component analysis (PCA).

3.2 Materials and Methods

Participants

Fifty-five wheelchair-bound patients were recruited from the Santa Lucia Hospital in Rome, where they were undergoing treatment in the Spinal Cord Rehabilitation Unit. All patients navigated autonomously in their wheelchair, using their arms for control. Three patients with complete cervical injuries (patients 1, 2, and 17) operated an electronic wheelchair. The remaining 52 patients propelled a wheelchair manually. The patients utilized their wheelchairs for approximately 13 h/day. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants. The study protocol was approved by the local ethics committee (IRCCS Ethics Committee at Fondazione Santa Lucia, Rome) in accordance with the ethical standards of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Assessment of individuals with SCI

The SCI lesions ranged from C3 to L1, as shown in Figure 1. Lesions were at 92.2 ± 84.6 months post-SCI (range: 6.2 to 340.6 months), which is within the chronic injury phase. None of the patients had experienced head or brain lesions associated with their SCI, as documented by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). A neurologist (G.S.) examined each patient after admission to the study. The international standards of the American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) for the classification of SCI were used to document the sensory and motor

impairments following SCI (Marino et al., 2003). The third version of the Spinal Cord Independence Measure (SCIM III) was used to quantify the functional status of each patient (Catz et al., 1997; Anderson et al., 2011). For the purposes of this study, the Self-care and Mobility subscales were used. The Self-care subscale consists of six items with scores ranging from 0 to 20. The Management and Mobility subscale consists of nine items with scores ranging from 0 to 40. Grades of 0 to 8 (requiring higher ability) are assigned for each item according to increasing difficulty. The neurological and clinical data are presented in Appendix A, Table 3.1.

The relationship between injury location and functional disorder

After spinal cord injury, the body parts located below the point of the lesion are insentient and unmoving. The various degrees of sensory and motor impairment are expressed mainly by neurological status, which is determined by the level and severity of the damage to the spinal cord.

Accordingly, the spinal cord vertebrae were numbered from the top, beginning at the neck and extending downward through the back. Lower numbers indicate upper cervical vertebrae (Figure 3.1). The lesion level was converted to a numerical value of the corresponding numbered vertebral column level. The neurological status determines the number of body segments that are "isolated" from the brain and the functional activity or potential ability. Indeed, significant positive correlations were observed between the lesion level and the Selfcare subscale scores (Spearman $r_{(53)} = 0.68$, t = 6.71, p < 0.0001) and Management and Mobility subscale scores (Spearman $r_{(53)} = 0.59$, t = 5.30, p < 0.0003), indicating a direct relationship between the level at which the spinal cord lesion occurred and the degree of body functional capacity. Although the patients with upper spinal cord lesions included in our study

retained partial upper-body function, injury in the upward-extending region of the spinal cord reflects a higher degree of sensory loss and partial paralysis, which consequently modulates the overall ability to act in a wheelchair.



SPINAL ROOT LEVEL	MOVEMENT
C3-C5	The most severe of the spinal cord injuries. Limited shoulder and elbow movement depending on muscle strength. Complete paralysis of arms, hands, trunk and leg.
C6-C8	Normal shoulder movement. Complete paralysis of upper and lower body. Partial finger movement and elbow wrist extension/flexion.
T1- T6	Full use of shoulders, arms, fingers movement with normal muscle strength. Injuries usually affect the trunk control. Complete paralysis of lower body and legs.
T7-T12	Full use of shoulders, arms, fingers movement with normal muscle strength. Complete paralysis of lower body and legs.
L1	Full use of upper body. Paralysis of lower body and legs.

Figure 3.1 Relationship between the nerve level of the SCI and movement. Among all patients with SCI recruited for this study, the level of lesions ranged from C3 to L1, as highlighted in the figure.

Questionnaire

Using a rating scale ranging from 0 ("completely disagree") to 7 ("completely agree"), participants evaluated questions designed to capture the implicit and explicit tool and body experiences. The questions, including previously adapted hypothesized constructs with prosthetic devices (Murray, 2004), were selected on the basis of a previous analysis of the

transcripts from informal interviews with 13 patients with SCI who reported wheelchairrelated feelings (unpublished). Six of the questions concerned the implicit (items BI_1-BI_6), and five questions explored the explicit (items BE_1-BE_5) bodily experiences of wheelchair use. The following questions translated from Italian were investigated:

[BI₁] Diet: Do you follow a controlled diet to prevent changes to your body shape and to avoid problems with the wheelchair?

[BI₂] Maintenance: Do you think of ways to prevent problems with the wheelchair? That is, do you pay particular attention to its maintenance?

[BI₃] Defense: Do you protect your wheelchair from dangerous situations?

[BI₄] Awareness: Did you experience any change in your attention and/or awareness while being in a wheelchair (after 1, 3, and 6 months)?

[BI₅] Tool: Do you perceive the wheelchair as an external tool?

[BI₆] Affect: Do you feel emotionally attached to your wheelchair?

[BE₁] Entire body: Do you perceive the wheelchair as part of your entire body?

[BE₂] Lower limbs: Do you perceive the wheelchair only as part of your lower limbs?

[BE₃] Substitution: Do you perceive the wheelchair as a "substitute" for your body?

[BE4] Extension: Do you perceive the wheelchair as an "extension" of your body?

[BE₅] Action: Do you perceive the wheelchair as a form of compensation for your actions?
Having defined implicit and explicit body experiences with the wheelchair, we next specifically targeted the presence or absence of corporeal awareness of the wheelchair by using the following two questions:

[BI] Image: Close your eyes and imagine yourself [pause for 3 s]. Do you see the wheelchair?

[BE] Frame: When thinking about your body frame, do you feel that the wheelchair is an internal part of your body?

Statistical analyses

Wheelchair embodiment among SCI patients was determined based on 11 different questionnaire statements. A PCA with an orthogonal varimax rotation was conducted to reduce the dimensionality of the data by computing new variables called principal components, which were obtained as linear combinations of the original items.

Certain indicators are traditionally used to draw conclusions regarding the appropriateness of a PCA. The strength of the linear relationship between items has been represented by a correlation coefficient greater than 0.3 (Hair, 1998). Although the ratio of patients to items was 5:1, as recommended (Bryant & Yarnold, 1995; Gorsuch, 1983; MacCallum, 1999; Everitt, 1975; Arrindell & Van der Ende, 1985), we also used the Kayser–Meyer–Olkin (KMO) measure to test the adequacy of the sample and the Bartlett test of sphericity to verify the extent of correlation allowable between items. Scree plots and eigenvalues greater than 1 were used to determine the appropriate number of components. Only items that loaded strongly (above 0.5) were considered, in accordance with the standard PCA approach (Jolliffe, 2002) and psychometric evaluations of embodiment (Longo et al., 2008). Briefly, the different steps involved in a PCA include the calculation of the correlation matrix, the extraction of the initial principal components, the application of the varimax rotation, the calculation of factor scores assigned to components, and the generation of factor loadings weighted for each component extracted. On each principal component axis, we also computed a single score to which all normalized measurements contributed for each patient.

We then analyzed the factor scores addressed in the PCA using a multiple regression analysis to explore the embodiment facets that are related to the clinical data (i.e., lesion level or exposure to/experience with the wheelchair).

3.3 Results

We will first report a brief summary of the results obtained for each question regarding the presence or absence of a corporeal attribution of the wheelchair. Among the 55 participants, 67% experienced the feeling that the wheelchair was integrated with their body [BE question], and 72% viewed the wheelchair in their corporeal image [question BI]. The percentage of responses indicating the presence of the wheelchair within the boundaries of the physical body in answer to at least one of the two questions described above (BE and BI) was higher than the percentage of responses indicating its absence (binomial test, p < 0.04). These percentages of wheelchair assimilation served as a "phenomenon check." We then analyzed the questionnaire statements using the PCA (Figure 3.2).

With the exception of two items (BE₄ and BI₄) all other correlations were significant at the 5% level and entered in the PCA analysis. The KMO test yielded values (KMO = 0.68) above the acceptable limit of 0.5 (Field, 2011). Moreover, Bartlett's test of sphericity indicated that correlations between items were large enough for the PCA $\chi^2_{(36)} = 119$; *p* < .0001). Analyses of eigenvalues and scree plot converged in the extraction of three components that, together,

accounted for 66.3% of the variance. Figure 3.2 shows the statement scores for each of the three principal components. The means and standard deviations and communalities for the statement scores are given in Appendix A, Table 3.2.

Principal component 1 accounted for substantially more variance than the other two components (variance = 31.01%; eigenvalue = 2.8) and included items BI₅, BI₆, BE₂, BE₃, and BE₅, which exhibited the highest loadings (magnitude of 0.5 or more). A major difference was observed in the positive loadings for "action," "lower limb," "substitution," and "affect" and in the negative loadings for "tool," suggesting that two separate processes load on the first component. The wheelchair appeared to be processed as if it were a part of the patients' limbs as opposed to a tool that reflects a more substitutive process linked to actions. This is consistent with the concept of functional embodiment. Although the positive loading for "affect" may seem to be a functionally less relevant point, this may partly explain the association between the level of wheelchair use and satisfaction of patients with their tool.

Principal component 2 (variance = 20.6 %; eigenvalue = 1.85) included items BI_1 , BI_2 , and BI_3 , which captured the burden of assistive tool care. The new corporeal state leads to the management of body weight, and the safety, risks, and dangers that redefine the person in terms of "body plus wheelchair" gain more focus.

Principal component 3 (variance = 14.4%; eigenvalue = 1.3) included items BI₅ and BE₁. These statements are related to the perception of the wheelchair as a body part (positive loading) as opposed to a tool (negative loading). Item BI₆ loaded moderately (0.40) on the component 3 providing convergent evidence that a lower emotional attachment to the wheelchair selectively influences the sense of embodiment of the tool.



Figure 3.2 Loadings of the statements on the three principal components extracted. The labels on the x-axis refer to the statements shown in panel A. Black bars indicate the statements with the highest loadings (≥ 0.5) for each component. A. Statements used to assess wheelchair embodiment.

We also computed the 55 individual component scores, using a single composite measure created for each patient on each orthogonal dimension. A factor score represents a participant's standard score on each specific component.

To identify the potential predictors of the three components, we investigated the relationship between the factor scores of each component and the clinical data: the lesion level, the time since the lesion, and exposure to (daily hours) and experience (time since use) with the wheelchair. The multiple linear regression analysis revealed that a lower lesion level predicted a larger value for principal component 1 ($\beta = 0.48$, $F_{(4,50)} = 4.4$, p = 0.004). Lesion level was not a significant predictor of components 2 ($\beta = 0.19$, $F_{(4,50)} = 1.01$, p = 0.40) or 3 ($\beta = -0.06$, $F_{(4,50)} = 0.95$, p = 0.44). Among all SCI patients, neither the time since injury nor exposure to/experience with the wheelchair predicted the individual component scores for each of the three principal components ($\beta = n.s.$ for all). The model indicated that having a lower lesion enhanced the positive factor (limb, action, and substitution) linked to the functional aspect of the embodiment. However, this relation was reversed for the tool factor, which exhibited a negative score. This linear relationship suggests that the feeling of functional embodiment regarding the wheelchair should be substantially enhanced in relation to active body segments.

The sensory-motor control of a wheelchair imposes considerable demand on the upper extremities. In particular, a precise balance occurs between the full use of the upper limbs and the strength or endurance of the trunk muscles to guarantee stability (Kulig et al., 2001).

All SCI patients in the study had complete paralysis of the legs but had various degrees of upper body impairment, such as hand/arm and trunk deficits. To more fully determine the demands on the specific upper body segment, we categorized patients with complete (grade A) injuries into tetraplegia (T: C₃–C₇), high paraplegia (P_H: T₂–T₇), and low paraplegia (P_L: T_8-L_1) groups. The first group included patients with extensive deficits in the entire body (in the arms as well as the trunk). The second group included patients with full use of hands/arms but limited strength, balance, and use of the trunk. The last group comprised patients who had more full use of the upper body (arms and trunk).

A mixed-model ANOVA with significant items in principal component 1 (BI₅, BI₆, BE₂, BE₃, and BE₅) × group (high-paraplegia, low-paraplegia and tetraplegia) revealed a significant effect for the items type ($F_{(4,164)} = 6.7$; p < 0.001) which was explained by the higher ratings for BE₅ (p < 0.01 for all) compared with the other items (BI₅, BI₆, BE₂, BE₃). No significant differences were observed between groups ($F_{(2,41)} = 2.14$; p = .13). However, we did observe a significant group × item interaction ($F_{(8,164)} = 2.8$; p < 0.006). Fisher's post-hoc test revealed that individuals with low and high paraplegia had a significantly higher rating when perceiving their wheelchair as part of their lower limbs ($P_L =$ 4.41 and $P_H = 4.11$) than those with tetraplegia (T = 2; p < 0.04 for all). Interestingly, patients with tetraplegia tended to regard the wheelchair more as an external device (T = 4.7) compared with individuals with low paraplegia ($P_L = 2.6$; p < 0.01) but not compared with those with high paraplegia ($P_H = 3.2$; p > 0.11). Patients with low paraplegia ($P_L = 5.94$; p <0.04) tended to regard the wheelchair more as a compensation for their actions compared with individuals with tetraplegia (T = 4.3) but not with those with high paraplegia ($P_H = 5.5$; p >0.68); the two latter groups did not differ from one another (p > 0.21). Upper extremity interaction with the wheelchair enhances the feeling of embodiment. The trunk, which functions to maintain posture and partially govern wheelchair movement, appears to modulate the flexibility in the integration of the tool.

We observed no relevant effects of the other statements (affect and substitution), which indicates that the three groups considered these aspects of the embodiment experience with a wheelchair in a similar way, despite their different lesions and body capacities (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3 Functional aspect of the sense of embodiment concerning the wheelchair. The mean subjective ratings for the statements with the highest loadings in Component 1 in the three subject groups with complete injuries (tetraplegia, high paraplegia and lower paraplegia). The error bars indicate the standard error of the mean (SEM). The asterisks (*) indicate significant results from the post hoc comparisons (p < .05).

3.4 Discussion

Most patients with SCI perceive that their legs are still their own (Lenggenhager et al., 2012), despite their inability to use or feel them (Cole, 2004). Although the patients do not confuse their body parts with their wheelchair (Nizzi et al., 2012), some do consider themselves to be "individuals with a wheelchair," whereas others regard themselves as "enwheeled individuals" (Papadimitriou, 2008; Cole, 2004). This identity or "wholeness" discrepancy prompted us to investigate whether the somatomotor deafferentation/deefferentation of disconnected body segments and the exposure to/experience with the tool, affects corporeal awareness of the wheelchair. To explore the presence of any such relationships, we developed a novel questionnaire regarding wheelchair-related feelings.

Among all participants included in the present study, a significant number experienced the wheelchair as being internal to the corporeal boundary, suggesting a revision in their body image. The perception of the body's edges does not appear to be fixed; rather, the body is plastic and flexible to assimilate the tool. As captured by component 1, the corporeal awareness of the tool emerges not merely as an extension of the body but as a substitute for (and part of) the functional self. This assistive device offers the possibility, at least in principle, to partially "repair" the motor functionality of the damaged body part (Murray 2004; Pereira et al., 1996) and appears conceived not as an object to move but as a mediator of the limbs' action. This reorganization of body model is consistent with the positive inclusion of the wheelchair to accommodate physical impairment and restore mobility (Papadimitriou, 2008; Standal, 2011; Arnhoff & Mehl, 1963; Higuchi et al., 2004, Higuchi et al., 2009; Merleau-Ponty, 2002). The perceived bodily experience is that of being functionally whole, and the system reorganizes itself to achieve its original balance, which enables the immobile user to act in the world. Amputees who use prostheses, which are less efficient and less safe than a wheelchair, report that the object became "part of them," and they feel as though they have a normal, complete body (Murray, 2004; Andre et al., 2001). Importantly, the emotional and physical acceptance of and adaptation to the wheelchair occurs over a period of years (Avillion, 1986; Bates et al., 1993). It also appears to affect the new corporal state whereby the tool feels like "part of" the user. The wheelchair requires the regulation of weight and a great deal of effort and control (maintenance and defense) to achieve reliable usage. The burden of assistive tool care appears to be indirectly processed considering the safety, risks, and danger to the body.

Given the prolonged history of immobility, the bodily attribution may refer to confinement in the wheelchair. However, no effects of either exposure to or experience with the wheelchair on the embodiment of this tool were observed. In contrast, we found that chronic sensorimotor loss specifically predicted the individual's corporeal awareness of his/her wheelchair.

A more unconscious body model, the body schema, which enables motor control and reflects the proprioceptive, tactile inputs of how the body is "felt", may regulate the functional aspects of embodiment considerably. Indeed, the compensatory flexibility of wheelchair embodiment observed in patients with SCI is linearly linked to their ability to feel and move the superior extremities, the trunk and arms in particular.

Accordingly, it has been suggested that the embodiment of an object is modulated by tactile interaction (Ehrsson et al., 2005), and objects that have been in contact with the body (Aglioti et al., 1996; Berlucchi & Aglioti, 1997) and are actively used (Bassolino et al., 2010) become part of the bodily representation (Longo & Serino 2012; Bassolino et al., 2010). The online information regarding movement in a wheelchair is a prerequisite for the capacity to feel that the event is generated by one's own body and one has control over it. The different modes of wheelchair use (from placing the hands on the wheels to steering a knob in more severe cases) may reflect a different attribution or evaluation of being the author of the movement, affecting how the retrospective sense of agency is perceived. This prediction might be tested in future research by comparing patients with SCI who operate their wheelchair manually with those who operate it electronically.

In the case of an upper spinal cord lesion, much more than in the case of a lower spinal cord lesion, there is a more pronounced reduction of strength and functionality in the entire body as well as an overall lack of feeling of touch. Such impairment interferes with the feeling of the wheelchair in direct contact with the body and with other objects and mainly with the regular status that updates the enwheeled body in motion. This failure to "capture" the somatic, proprioceptive, and motor information continuously being exchanged with the "body plus wheelchair" hinders the processes that are essential for creating an abstract reference of the

body frame (Gandevia & Phegan, 1999; Paqueron et al., 2003), leading to the feeling of the wheelchair as a corporeal assimilation. This concept is in line with the particular aberration of corporeal detachment and distance observed in patients with higher SCI (Lenggenhager et al., 2012) as well as in individuals with locked-in syndrome (Nizzi et al., 2012).

Neuroanatomically, such distorted sensorimotor input presumably induces adaptive or maladaptive cortical reorganization (Kokotilo et al., 2009). After SCI, the loss of afferent/efferent information related to the body parts located below the lesion leads to the structural and functional reorganization of the cortex, particularly in somatomotor areas (Freund et al., 2011a; Freund et al., 2011b; Henderson et al., 2011), and affects complex intracortical connections (Kokotilo et al., 2009; Freund et al., 2011b; Freund et al., 2012). Decreased frontal and frontoparietal cortical connectivity by the alteration of ascending and descending neural information flow is most pronounced in individuals with upper SCI (Truccolo et al., 2008). Conversely, in patients with lower SCI, an expansion of the primary somatosensory and motor-cortex hand area into the output-deprived primary-cortex leg area was observed (Curt et al., 2002; Henderson et al., 2011), which translates into a functional gain for the internal sensorimotor body representation (Kokotilo et al., 2009).

Moreover, atypical connectivity plays a prominent role in neuronal activity within the parietal cortex, which is the dominant structure for bodily representation (Blanke & Metzinger, 2009). Indeed, recent clinical and neuroimaging data suggest that temporoparietal junction (TPJ) activity reflects the multisensory integration of bodily instantiation (Arzy et al., 2006) as well as feelings of spatial unity related to the body (Blanke & Arzy, 2005). Moreover, the TPJ is thought to rely on the combination of tactile and proprioceptive information in a coordinated reference frame (Blanke et al., 2004; Lenggenhager et al., 2006). Dysfunction in this area may lead to a modified body experience, which is felt to be spatially disconnected (Blanke, 2012). Nevertheless, without further data, we cannot discern whether the modulation of embodiment

results from effects on brain networks, the periphery, or both. This should be investigated in future studies, for example, by investigating changes of the BOLD signal in brain areas of bodily representation in both injured and healthy subjects using paradigms eliciting self-referential activity during the observation of an avatar engaged in dynamic actions with tools.

One potential study limitation was the use of introspective data and PCA, which, although an elegant and powerful tool (Longo et al., 2008), needs to include empirical measures. Therefore, we aimed to establish the effect of sensorimotor loss, and the specific use of this tool, on wheelchair embodiment. It is important to note that previous SCI studies have already demonstrated the physical adjustment to (Fuentes et al., 2013; Arnhoff & Mehl, 1963; Higuchi et al., 2006; Higuchi et al., 2009), and brain representation of (Olsson, 2012), the "body plus wheelchair" being perceived as one. We also capitalized on the fact that 12 of the patients recruited for this study were tested in a separate experiment that indicated patients with SCI embody functionally relevant wheelchair action sounds (unpublished data, presented in Galli et al., Concepts, Actions, and Objects; Functional and Neural Prospective Meeting Abstract, 2012).

Altogether, our data suggest that the subjective experience of the embodiment of an external tool in patients with SCI is a complex, multifarious process that requires the following: a feeling of ownership over the tool (including a long-lasting coherent and accurate representation); online multisensory integration, referenced on the state of the body (including the effective regulation of sensorimotor information flow); and, finally the self-attributed control of the physical body and its movement.

The phenomenal reports from SCI individuals cannot be generalized to all occurrences of corporeal awareness of a tool but offer an initial step towards the determination of clearly dissociable subcomponents of prosthetic device embodiment. Indeed, the objective and quantitative evaluation of changes in patients with spinal cord lesions help identify the cause

that may preclude the experience of self-attribution and embodiment of a tool. United harmony between the body and the tool may be key for the embodied experience of success or rejection of an assistive device. Embodying a wheelchair may enhance the efficiency and safety of movement, thereby reducing bodily effort and the damage produced by its use. This ease of use may lead to greater autonomy and self-organization, thus allowing patients to benefit from the opportunities offered by the environment in which they move.

CHAPTER 4

EMBODYING FUNCTIONALLY RELEVANT ACTION SOUNDS IN PATIENTS WITH SPINAL CORD INJURY

[This research has been submitted in: Pazzaglia M, Scivoletto G, Galli G, Lewis JW, Molinari

M, Aglioti SM. Embodying functionally relevant action sounds in patients with spinal cord

injury. Cortex.]

4.1 Aims and Hypothesis

Growing evidence indicates that perceptual-motor codes may be associated with and influenced by actual bodily states. The inability to perform or perceive a given motor action may impact on the structural integrity of that action representation. In the visual domain, individuals with spinal cord injury (SCI) who are unable to move their lower limbs, have a reduced ability to discriminate between different observed movements, suggesting that action mapping may be fully determined by immediate motor signals (Pernigo et al., 2012, Arrighi et al., 2011). However, a dearth of direct evidence exists about whether profound alterations in sensorimotor traffic between the body and brain influence audio-motor representations. In principle, this patient population may be ideal for testing two fundamental, largely unaddressed simulation and embodiment issues: (i) how motor afference/efference influences the functional integrity of audio-motor mapping; and (ii) how relevant extracorporeal tools (e.g. wheelchairs) affect action representations. We hypothesize that the perceptual and motor experiences induced by the sounds of a wheelchair and lower limb activity should differ substantially between subjects with different levels of exposure to wheelchair- and limb-

related sounds. To test this hypothesis, we examined audio-motor mapping in three groups of participant. Wheelchair-bound patients with SCI have extensive motor and auditory experience of wheelchair sounds, but do not have motor use of their legs. Physical therapists with normal limb function have extensive perceptual experience of wheelchairs, but are not personally dependent on them. The third group consisted of able-bodied controls who had no previous experience of wheelchairs. We devised a novel psychophysical task that evaluated the auditory discrimination ability of sounds originating from actions produced by wheelchair use, the upper and lower limb, and animals. Listening to sounds of various actions performed by a tool or lower limbs allowed us to dissociate the perceptual and motor contributions of biological or artificial mobility entities (De Lucia et al., 2009). Furthermore, the given task allowed us to investigate the inverse relationship between movements that the patients had previously possessed, lost, and then regained with wheelchair use.

4.2 Materials and Methods

Participants

At the Santa Lucia Hospital in Rome, Italy, we recruited 14 subjects with established lumbar or thoracic SCI (12 men; mean age, 38.6 years; range, 19–56 years), 15 able-bodied participants who had worked exclusively with SCI patients as physical therapists (nine men; mean age, 40 years; range, 27–54 years), and 15 able-bodied subjects who were not physical therapists (eight men; mean age, 38.1 years; range, 20–66 years). The three groups did not differ in age and level of education (p > .23). The physical therapists were employed full-time and had an average of five years experience in SCI patient rehabilitation (range, 1–25 years). All of the subjects were right-handed, as determined by the 10-item version of the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971). Written, informed consent was obtained from each participant for all procedures, and the local ethics committee of Santa Lucia Hospital, Rome, approved the study.

Assessment of individuals with SCI

All of the patients had a traumatic lesion at the thoracic or lumbar level of the spinal cord that caused paralysis of the lower limbs while sparing upper limb function. Lesions were located between T3 and L1, and the patients ranged from 6.3 to 219 months post-SCI (mean, 65 ± 75 months). Each patient was examined by a neurologist (G.S.) with specific, long-standing expertise in treating SCI patients. The neurological injury level was determined using the American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) for the classification of SCIs (Marino et al., 2003). A standardized ASIA examination protocol was used to determine the most caudal level of the spinal cord with normal sensory and motor functions on both sides of the body. Functional ability was quantified using the third version of the Spinal Cord Independence Measure (SCIM III) (Catz and Itzkovich, 2007). For the purposes of the experiment, the Selfcare and the Management and Mobility subscales were considered. All patients were manual wheelchair users and recruited from physiotherapy programs of Spinal Cord Unit. None of the patients had experienced head or brain lesions, as documented by an MRI. No patient presented auditory discrimination deficits or signs of psychiatric disorders, and none of the patients had a history of substance abuse. The demographic and additional clinical data of the patients are presented in Table 4.1.

Case	Age	Time since injury (days)	Gender	Lesion level	Etiology	AIS grade	SCIM		Motor level		Sensory level	
							Self Care	Mobility	Right	Left	Right	Left
P ₁	19	589	м	T10	Traumatic	A	20	19	T10	T10	T10	T10
P ₂	36	190	м	L1	Traumatic	D	20	18	L1	L1	L1	L1
P ₃	42	760	м	T10	Traumatic	A	20	19	T10	T10	T10	T10
P ₄	42	970	м	Т9	Neoplastic	A	20	18	Т9	Т9	Т6	Т9
P ₅	42	4745	м	тв	Traumatic	A	20	19	Т8	Т8	тв	Т8
P ₆	35	6570	м	т7	Traumatic	Α	20	19	T7	T7	Т7	Т7
P 7	56	320	м	L1	Traumatic	С	17	13	L1	L1	L3	L3
P ₈	35	390	м	T10	Traumatic	A	20	19	T11	T11	T11	T11
P ₉	49	240	F	T12	Traumatic	A	18	15	T12	T12	T12	T12
P ₁₀	22	365	м	T12	Traumatic	D	20	22	T12	T12	T12	T12
P 11	42	970	м	тз	Traumatic	A	18	15	T6	Т6	Т6	Т6
P ₁₂	38	1825	м	T12	Traumatic	A	20	19	T12	T12	T12	T12
P ₁₃	44	5840	м	Т5	Traumatic	A	20	19	T5	Т5	Т5	Т5
P ₁₄	39	3650	F	Т5	Traumatic	А	20	19	T5	T5	T5	Т5

DEMOGRAPHIC AND CLINICAL DATA OF THE PARTICIPANTS

Table 4.1 Clinical and demographic data of the spinal cord injury patients. The clinical neurological level of the lesion (T, thoracic; L, lumbar) was reported for the subjects with spinal cord injury (SCI). The neurological and functional levels of the injury were determined using the American Impairment Scale (AIS) and the third version of the Spinal Cord Independence Measure (SCIM III). The motor/sensory level indicates the most caudal segment of the spinal cord with normal motor/sensory function.

Sound-into-action translation test

Because the auditory system is an intact sensory channel to individuals with paraplegia, we used a sound-into-action translation task to explore the effects of a massive loss of motor function in the lower extremities on the ability to distinguish between different action-sounds. In a two-choice, matching-to-sample auditory action discrimination task, the participants were asked to determine which of two probe sounds matched the previously heard single sample sound (for a schematic representation see Figure 4.1). The sounds used included upper (U_{RAS}) and lower (L_{RAS}) limb-related action sounds, wheelchair-related action sounds (W_{RAS}), and animal action-related sounds (A_{ARS}).



Figure 4.1 Action sound discrimination task. In each trial, following the presentation of a sample sound, two subsequent probe sounds were presented. Only one of the two probe sounds was specifically related to the sample sound. In the set of lower limb actions (e.g. "male footsteps on a glass surface" [the sample sound]), one probe sound represented the same action as the sample sound but was produced using a different source (e.g. "female footsteps on a wood surface"), whereas the other probe sound represented a totally different action produced using the same body part (e.g. "running"). No image associated with an aural action was provided.

Stimuli and task

The auditory stimuli (44.1 kHz, 16 bit, and monophonic) included 120 real-world sounds compiled by a sound engineer using professional collections (Sound Cinecittà, Rome, Italy, and Sound Ideas, Richmond Hill, Ontario, Canada). Many of these sounds were identical to those used in our previous studies (Pazzaglia et al., 2008, Lewis et al., 2011). The sounds were trimmed to an average duration of 4sec (range, 3–6.5 s) and presented to the participants at a comfortable decibel level through Sennheiser PC165 earphones, using the Presentation software (version 12.2, Neurobehavioral Systems, Inc.) on a Windows operating system.

Each sound belonged to one of the following four categories:

(1) Upper limb actions: a group of 10 sets of three different sounds. In this category, the sample, the matching and the non-matching stimuli were sounds of meaningful actions executed by the hands (e.g. knocking on a door).

(2) Lower limb actions: a group of 10 sets of three different sounds. In this category, the stimuli were three sounds of meaningful actions executed by the feet (e.g. descending footsteps on stairs).

(3) Wheelchair actions: a group of 10 sets of three different sounds. In this category, the stimuli were sounds of meaningful actions executed by manual (WHC_M) or electronic (WHC_E) wheelchair actions (e.g. WHC braking) and manual/electrical vehicle motion (e.g. bicycle).

(4) Non-human animal actions: a group of 10 sets of three sounds related to animal physical actions, excluding vocalizations (e.g. a bird flying).

A list of the auditory stimuli and information on the preliminary psychophysical studies are provided in Appendix A, Table 4.2.

Procedures

Each participant was tested in a single experimental session that lasted approximately 20 minutes. During this period, the subjects wore earphones and sat approximately 50 cm from a 17-inch computer monitor. Each trial was initiated by the presentation of a sample action sound that was selected randomly from one of the four categories (i.e. U_{RAS} , L_{RAS} , W_{RAS} or A_{ARS}). At the end of the sample sound presentation, two subsequent matching and non-matching action-sound stimuli were presented in quick succession, separated by an approximate interval of 100 msec. The matching action-sound represented the same motor act as the sample, but with different acoustic features. The non-matching action-sound was acoustically similar to the sample, but linked to a different action within the same category. The sequence of matching and non-matching sound stimuli was counter balanced. For example in the U_{RAS} category, a brief sample sound of an individual clapping three times was presented, after which the subjects listened to two additional sounds, one of which

represented the same action as the sample sound, but was produced using a different source (e.g. group applause) and the other sound represented a completely different action produced by using the same body part, which was acoustically similar (e.g. knocking on a door three times).

The subjects were asked to choose between the two auditory stimuli to identify the sound that evoked the same action heard in the sample sound. To better discriminate among the three different sounds, the words "action sound" (for the sample sound) and the numerals 1 (for the first probe sound) and 2 (for the second probe sound) appeared on the black screen while each respective sound was played. No image associated with an aural action was provided. After all three sounds were presented, the final screen prompted the subject to choose a response by pressing a button. The participants were instructed to answer as accurately and quickly as possible, and their accuracy and response times after the prompt (i.e. latency) were recorded and analyzed. Before beginning the test, the participants were given four practice trials, after which performance feedback was provided. The practice auditory stimuli differed from those used in the experimental phase, after which no feedback was provided.

To evaluate the subjective rating of each sound category, a post-test session was conducted, in which the same participants were instructed to rank each sound in terms of familiarity and perceived motor intensity on a vertical 10-cm visual analog scale (VAS). The first question was intended to assess their experience with each sound category ("How familiar is this sound to you?"), while the second investigated a subject's experience with the amount of movement sensations triggered by each sound ("To what degree do you feel your own movement is based on the action you have just heard?"). With regard to the first question, the lower and upper extremes of the VAS were "no familiarity" and "high familiarity," respectively, whereas for the second question, these extremes indicated "no perceived movement" and "maximum perceived movement," respectively. The participants were explicitly asked to rate

the sounds, which were presented randomly, in a counterbalanced order. Finally, we collected structured reports on the implicit and explicit introspective experiences of regular wheelchair use in patients with SCI.

Data analyses

The accuracy (raw data) and mean latency were calculated for each participant in each experimental condition (10 trials per category). Trials in which the reaction times (RTs) were two or more standard deviations above the mean for each subject were eliminated prior to the analysis (2% of the trials) (Ratcliff, 1993). Half of the eliminated trials were associated with U_{RAS} actions. Only the RTs for the correct response were considered. The individual accuracy, mean latency values and subjective ratings were entered into separate mixed-model analyses of variance (ANOVAs), with group (healthy subjects, patients with SCI, and physical therapists) as the between-subjects factor and sound category (U_{RAS} , L_{RAS} , W_{RAS} , and A_{ARS}) as the within-subjects factor. All pair-wise comparisons were performed using the Duncan post hoc test. The partial eta-squared (ηp^2) measure of variance was selected as the index of effect size (Cohen, 1973). A significance threshold of p < .05 was set for all of the statistical analyses. The data are reported as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

4.3 Results

Patients with SCI

Sound discrimination performance in patients with SCI was > 80% for all conditions. The ANOVA of accuracy revealed a significant main effect of sound category ($F_{3,123} = 7.60$, P < .001, $\eta p^2 > .19$), which was explained by the reduced accuracy observed in the L_{RAS} condition

(8 correct trials) compared with the U_{RAS} (8.5 correct trials), W_{RAS} (8.8 correct trials), and A_{ARS} (8.5 correct trials) conditions (all p < .04). No significant effects of group ($F_{2,41} = .51$, p = .59) and no group × sound category interactions ($F_{6,123} = 1.15$, p = .34) were observed, indicating that the three groups had comparable performance in the four different sound categories.

The ANOVA of latency (Figure 4.2) revealed no significant main effects of group ($F_{2,41} = 058$, p = .56) or sound category ($F_{3,123} = .63$, p = .59) but a significant group × sound category interaction ($F_{6,123} = 2.7$, p = .02, $\eta p^2 > .17$).

Importantly, the post hoc comparisons revealed that the patients with SCI discriminated the W_{RAS} earlier (608 ms) than the able-bodied individuals with comparable auditory experience (physical therapists: 706 ms, p < .04) and those with no comparable perceptual experience (healthy subjects: 814 ms, p < .0001). The latency difference in RTs between the physical therapists and healthy subjects was also statistically significant (p < .04). Notably, in patients with SCI, the RTs for W_{RAS} were comparable to the RTs elicited by upper and lower limb action sounds ($L_{RAS} = 716.0$ ms, $U_{RAS} = 708.1$ ms). Regular wheelchair use contributed to a specific and significant readiness to recognize the sounds produced by a wheelchair. Latency improvements were not accompanied by changes in accuracy, thereby ruling out potential speed/accuracy trade-off effects.

Importantly, SCI patient performance was similar for sounds related to actions of the lower ($L_{RAS} = 716.0 \text{ ms}$) and upper ($U_{RAS} = 708.1 \text{ms}$) limbs (p = .87), suggesting that audio-motor mapping can be retained even when the effector limb is no longer functional.

No significant latency differences were observed between the lower and upper limb sounds in any of the three groups: healthy subjects ($L_{RAS} = 711.4$ ms, $U_{RAS} = 727.3$ ms), physical therapists ($L_{RAS} = 662.9$ ms, $U_{RAS} = 761.8$ ms), and patients with SCI ($L_{RAS} = 716.0$ ms, U_{RAS} = 708.1 ms; all p > .30). There were also no differences between the three groups with regard to their responses to animal body action sounds (p > .24). Moreover, no differences were observed in discrimination latency between the WHC_M and WHC_E sounds or with regard to the order of the presentation of the correct probe (all p > .80).

We also examined whether the time since the injury influenced RTs for sound discrimination. No significant correlations were found between the SCI lesion-testing interval and latency in the discrimination of each sound category (Spearman correlation analyses; L_{RAS} , $r_{14} = -0.16$, $t_{12} = -.57$, p < .58; U_{RAS} , $r_{14} = -.27$, $t_{12} = -.99$, p < .33; W_{RAS} , $r_{14} = -.01$, $t_{12} = -.05$, p < .95). All patients were in the chronic injury phase (at least six months post-injury), and the time since injury did not appear to play a major role in sound discrimination related to wheelchair action, suggesting that plastic changes could occur rapidly and lead to behavioral gain.



Figure 4.2 Latency in action-sound discrimination. The mean latency for each sound category (upper (U_{RAS}) and lower (L_{RAS}) limb-related action sounds, wheelchair-related action sounds (W_{RAS}), and animal action-related sounds (A_{ARS})) in the three subject groups (healthy individuals, physical therapists and individuals with spinal

cord injuries). The error bars indicate the standard error of the mean (SEM). The asterisk (*) indicates significant results from the post hoc comparisons (p < 0.05).

Because three of the patients with SCI included in our study had incomplete injuries, we performed additional analyses that only considered the performance of patients with complete lesions. Consistent with the results of the original analysis of the entire sample, the ANOVA revealed a significant group × sound category interaction ($F_{6,114} = 2.24$, p < .04).

The ANOVA confirmed that in the patients with SCI there were no differences in the mean latencies for the different human action sounds ($L_{RAS} = 661 \text{ ms}$, $U_{RAS} = 640 \text{ ms}$; all p > .10) and the faster discrimination of WHC sounds ($W_{RAS} = 587 \text{ ms}$; all p < .01) when compared with the able-bodied controls.

Altogether, these findings suggest that active use of a sound-producing device, as opposed to mere exposure to the sounds, modulates readiness to recognize associated sounds. The inability of patients with SCI to move their lower limbs did not influence their ability to discriminate sounds of lower limb movement.

Subjective ratings of familiarity and perceived motor reactivity when listening to sounds

At the end of the test, a VAS was used to measure each participant's perceived motor reactivity and auditory familiarity ratings for each of the four sound categories. The mean VAS ratings are shown in Figure 4.3.

The ANOVA of perceived reactivity motor ratings for each sound (Fig. 3) yielded significant effects of sound category ($F_{3,123} = 7.45$, p < .0001, $\eta p^2 > .32$). *Post hoc* testing revealed that the subjectively perceived motor reactivity during passive listening was higher for human action sounds ($L_{RAS} = 6.3$, $U_{RAS} = 5.5$; p = .14) than for W_{RAS} (4.02; p < .004) or A_{ARS} (4.48; p

= .03). No significant differences were observed between groups ($F_{2,41} = .87$, p = .42). Crucially, the ANOVA revealed a significant group × sound category interaction ($F_{6,123} = 8.76$, p < .0001, $\eta p^2 > .40$). In patients with SCI, the perceived motor reactivity to sounds that implied lower limbs movement (2.8 ± 2.7 ; p = .0005) consistently received lower ratings than in able-bodied individuals (healthy individuals: $L_{RAS} = 7.2 \pm 1.9$; physical therapists: $L_{RAS} = 6.4 \pm 2.8$) and was significantly lower when compared with W_{RAS} sounds (6.4 ± 2.3) and U_{RAS} sounds (5.6 ± 3.15). These results suggest that the absence of motor signals reduces the reactivity with which actions can be perceived from an associated sound (de Vignemont, 2011). Instead, the perceived motor reactivity to WHC sounds received higher ratings in the patients with SCI (p < .01) than in able-bodied individuals (healthy subjects: W_{RAS} = $1.9 \pm$ 2.1; physical therapists: W_{RAS} = 3.9 ± 2.7) and was comparable to the perceived motor reactivity to U_{RAS} sounds (5.6 ± 3.15 ; p = .43).

Despite the aural expertise of physical therapists, their perceived motor reactivity to W_{RAS} sounds was significantly lower than their reactivity to human ($U_{RAS} = 6.97 \pm 2.7$, $L_{RAS} = 6.4 \pm 2.8$; p = .0001) and A_{ARS} (5.3 ± 3.4; p = .002) action sounds. Unsurprisingly, healthy subjects were unaccustomed to the W_{RAS} sounds, and their perceived motor reactivity to them was significantly lower than their reactivity to the human ($U_{RAS} = 6.3 \pm 2.7$, $L_{RAS} = 7.2 \pm 1.9$; p = .0001) and was comparable to A_{ARS} (3.3 ± 2.8; p = .16) action sounds. No significant differences in perceived motor reactivity were observed between the two groups of ablebodied individuals (p > .24).

The ANOVA of subjective familiarity ratings (Figure 4.3) revealed a significant main effect of sound category ($F_{3,123} = 17.13$, p < .0001, $\eta p^2 > .26$). Specifically, higher VAS ratings were found for human action sounds ($L_{RAS} = 8.2$, $U_{RAS} = 8.4$) than for non-human action sounds ($W_{RAS} = 5.49$, $A_{ARS} = 6.8$; p < .003). No significant differences in familiarity were observed between participant groups ($F_{2,41} = .66$, p = .42). However, we did observe a significant group × sound category interaction ($F_{6,123} = 8.3$, p < .001, $\eta p^2 > .32$). Physical therapists (7.2 ± 1.9) and SCI patients (7.02 ± 3.1) had similar levels of familiarity with regard to W_{RAS} actions sounds (p > .85), and this level of familiarity was not significantly different from the familiarity with human lower limbs (physical therapists: $L_{RAS} = 8.23 \pm 1.98$; SCI patients: $L_{RAS} = 7.7 \pm 2.3$) and upper limbs (physical therapists: $U_{RAS} = 8.25 \pm 2.4$; SCI patients: $U_{RAS} = 7.4 \pm 2.4$) action sounds and non-human action sounds (physical therapists: $A_{ARS} = 7.7 \pm 1.7$; SCI patients: $A_{ARS} = 6.7 \pm 2.9$; all p > .05).

As expected, in the group of healthy subjects, the familiarity ratings for W_{RAS} action sounds (2.4 ± 2.3) were significantly lower than the familiarity ratings for the human ($U_{RAS} = 8.8 \pm 1.4$, $L_{RAS} = 9.1 \pm .9$; p = .0001) and non-human ($A_{RAS} = 6.2 \pm 1.9$; p = .0001) action sounds. The familiarity rating for W_{RAS} was significantly different from those measured in the physical therapists and SCI patients (all p < .0001).



Figure 4.3 Subjective ratings of action-sound familiarity and perceived motor intensity. The mean subjective Visual Analog Scale (VAS) ratings for auditory familiarity and perceived movement for each sound category (upper (U_{RAS}) and lower (L_{RAS}) limb-related action sounds, wheelchair-related action sounds (W_{RAS}), and animal action-related sounds (A_{ARS})) in the three subject groups (healthy individuals, physical therapists and individuals with spinal cord injuries). The error bars indicate the standard error of the mean (SEM). The asterisks (*) indicate significant results from the post hoc comparisons (p < 0.05).

The subjects were also briefly interviewed with regard to their feelings about the auditory stimuli. A "yes" or "no" response was required for the following questions: (1) "Do you pay more attention to a specific category of auditory stimuli?" and (2) "Do you feel more emotional participation when hearing a precise sound category?" In the case of a "yes" response, the subject was asked to explain the answer. All subjects stated that they did not pay particular attention to the specific sound category. Four SCI patients declared an increase in emotional participation when hearing lower limb sounds, while another three reported greater emotional participation when hearing animal sounds. Only one SCI patient and one physical therapist (who was married to an individual with SCI) experienced more emotional involvement when hearing the WHC sounds compared with the other sound categories. Sound discrimination does not appear to be explained by category-specific, attention-driving tendencies. Presenting the auditory stimuli in a random order may have prevented the subjects from focusing their attention on a particular auditory stimulus category.

Together, these findings suggest that although the SCI patients and auditory experts (i.e. physical therapists) demonstrated the same degree of familiarity with the WHC sounds, the greatest differences between the three groups occurred with regard to the subjective motor experiences associated with WHC and lower limb action sounds.

Subjective reports of the embodiment experience of wheelchair use

We also used nine question statements (adapted from Pazzaglia et al., 2013) to obtain

subjective reports of the corporeal awareness of the wheelchair in SCI patients. The questionnaire consisted of nine statements (listed in Figure 4.4) that described implicit and explicit tool experiences linked to actual bodily states. The first two components (WCH adjusting and WCH awareness) were designed to capture the implicit experience linked to wheelchairs. Tools require a considerable deal of effort from their users (diet, maintenance and protective behavior) to achieve reliable and smooth usage, as well as a reduced need for awareness and attention over time. The remaining components explored the corporeal awareness of tools, including the issue of incorporating the wheelchair into the body as a substitute for the motor architecture of the limbs. For each statement, the numbers of "true" and "false" responses were compared using a binomial test. The responses from 12 patients were available for analysis (cases 2 and 10 were patients with incomplete SCIs and did not return their questionnaires).

In the components "adjusting" and "awareness" and incorporating the wheelchair into the body as a "substitute" for the motor architecture of the "lower limbs" (Figure 4.4), the number of "true" responses was greater than the number of "false" responses (binomial test, p < .01). In contrast, the number of "true" and "false" responses did not differ when considering the wheelchair as part of the entire body (binomial test, p = .2). This pattern of responses suggests that some wheelchair properties are implicitly processed in the same manner as properties of the body (de Vignemont, 2011). It also seems that the sense of corporeal wheelchair awareness is much more hardwired to the motor architecture of the lower limbs than to the motor architecture of the entire body.

PARTICIPANT RATINGS OF INTROSPECTIVE EXPERIENCES OF WHEELCHAIR EMBODIMENT

	Statement										
Response Count		Wheelchair Adjustment		Wheelchair Awareness	Wheelchair Tool	Wheelchair Body	Wheelchair Lower Limb Action		Corporal Structure		
	diet	maintenance	defense				lower limbs	sub/ext			
true	10	11	11	12	2	5	10	9 (sub.)	10 (in)		
false	2	1	1	0	10	7	2	1 (ext.)	2 (out)		
binomial test p-value	0.01	0.003	0.003	0.0006	0.01	0.2	0.01	0.01	0.01		

Adapting to a wheelchair:

[diet] Do you follow a controlled diet to prevent changes in your body shape to avoid problems with the wheelchair?
[maintenance] Do you think of ways to prevent problems with your wheelchair, that is do you pay particularly attention to its maintenance?
[defense] Do you protect your wheelchair from dangerous situations?

Awareness of the wheelchair

(4) Did you experience any change in your attention and/or awareness while being in a wheelchair (after 1 -3 - 6 months)?

Wheelchair as a tool or body structure

(5) Do you perceive the wheelchair as an external tool?

Wheelchair as part of the body structure

(6) Do you perceive your wheelchair as part of your entire body?

Wheelchair as a lower limb structure

(7) Do you perceive the wheelchair only as part of your lower limbs?

(8) Do you perceive the wheelchair as an "extension" of or a "substitute" for your limbs?

Wheelchair in a corporal structure

(9) When thinking about your body frame, do you feel that the wheelchair is an internal or external part of your body?

Figure 4.4 Participant ratings of introspective experiences of wheelchair embodiment. The first four questionnaire statements were designed to capture the implicit perceptual experience, and the other statements explored the explicit perceptual experience of wheelchair use. For each statement, the numbers of "true" and "false" responses were compared using a binomial test.

4.4 Discussion

Many theories have proposed an association between the perception and execution of actions, suggesting that both are coded according to a common representational format (Prinz, 1997, Brass et al., 2001, Brass et al., 2000, Craighero et al., 2002, Kilner et al., 2003, Sturmer et al., 2000, Repp and Knoblich, 2007). Neural studies in healthy (Gazzola et al., 2006, Rizzolatti et al., 1996, Doehrmann et al., 2010) and brain-damaged (Pazzaglia et al., 2008) individuals indicate that action perception and execution rely on largely overlapping neural substrates. Importantly, it is unclear whether lifelong (mobility by lower limbs) and newly acquired

(mobility by WHC) perceptual and motor experiences differently impact the integrity of action-perception mapping.

The present study investigated action-sound mapping in SCI patients and revealed three key findings. First, SCIs that have induced a total loss of lower limb function do not lead to a general reduction of the perceptual-motor mapping of lower limb action sounds. Second, a wheelchair can be integrated as part of the body, thus modifying audio-motor interaction. Third, the effect of "learning by doing" leads to plastic changes that are distinct from the impact of "learning by perception."

Is action audio-motor mapping disembodied?

Alteration of the action network involved in the perception of human motor acts may occur in the absence of a cortical lesion, such as in blind (Ricciardi et al., 2009, Lewis et al., 2011), deaf (Alaerts et al., 2011) and SCI (Arrighi et al., 2011) individuals. This result prompted us to investigate whether the somatosensory deafferentation and motor deefferentation of specific body parts alters the audio-motor mapping of actions generated by the affected body part. Thoracic and lumbar SCI lead to a loss of movement in the legs while sparing arm function. Consequently, this type of injury provides an ideal experimental approach for exploring how sound actions associated with upper and lower limbs are processed in the same individual. As mentioned previously, patients with SCI exhibit reduced perceptual sensitivity in the visual domain when compared to the biological motion of the point-light displays of the entire body (Arrighi et al., 2011) and specific impairments in the visual perception of form and action in the disconnected body parts (Pernigo et al., 2012). In this study, we expected that the processing of sounds depicting lower limb actions might be degraded. However, we obtained psychophysical evidence that paraplegic patients recognize lower and upper limb actions as

efficiently as able-bodied individuals. The inability to move and feel the lower limbs did not lead to a deficit in the sound discrimination of actions, even several years after the initial injury.

Several mechanisms may explain the preservation of perceptual signaling referred to the paralyzed portion of the body following SCI. Although speculative, this scenario may recall pathology studies which demonstrate that a small portion of the spinal cord remains intact, even in cases of severe and complete spinal cord lesions (Bunge et al., 1993, Bunge et al., 1997, Guest et al., 2005, Anderson et al., 2004). After injury, spared axons sprout and make new connections. Although these projections are insufficient to restore any motor function, they can support perceptual-motor interaction, even in cases of complete thoracic lesions (Cariga et al., 2002).

However, the use of the legs for a long period of time prior to injury could be a determining factor with regard to the audio motor discrimination of lower limb actions. With a long history of absent sensation and movement after injury, accurate perceptual discrimination may be mediated by long-term motor representations that were learned before the injury. Studies in amputee patients revealed that perceptual sensitivity associated with the missing limb remains accurate (Nico et al., 2004), a process that requires motor simulation (Fiorio et al., 2006). Moreover, neuroimaging studies have suggested that motor mirroring is activated during the observation of limb movements independently of the subject's actual motor and perceptual abilities (Costantini et al., 2005).

The sounds utilized in the present study were highly relevant to the everyday motor functions that the patients had regularly performed prior to injury. These representations could, however, be updated and reinforced through visual and acoustic experiences involving ambulatory individuals encountered in daily life. Action-related networks may be activated to mediate the motor limb sound representation, despite the fact that motor plans have not been utilized for years. Accordingly, the brain regions involved in foot movements appear to remain relatively preserved and active even years after the body has been massively deafferented/deefferented (Corbetta et al., 2002, Cramer et al., 2005, Cramer et al., 2007, Hotz-Boendermaker et al., 2011, Hotz-Boendermaker et al., 2008, Alkadhi et al., 2005).

All of the patients recruited in our study were also involved in a motor program at a rehabilitation center. As part of this program, they attempted daily movements and exercise training, including attempts at moving the foot and (to a lesser degree) walking. Such programs require the use of numerous motor functions (including motor imagery) that prompt natural and ecological actions. Accordingly, recent neuroimaging studies demonstrated that a common observation-execution network, including the ventral premotor cortex, parietal cortex and cerebellum, is activated at a normal level through attempts to move a given body part and observations of the movements of other individuals, long after the onset of complete SCI (Hotz-Boendermaker et al., 2011, Hotz-Boendermaker et al., 2008, Mattia et al., 2009, Mattia et al., 2008).

Defects in the audio-motor mapping of actions have been reported in brain-damaged patients. The preservation of the perceptual ability in SCI patients suggests that the cortical regions involved in action simulation could play a compensatory role and facilitate the maintenance of intact audio-motor resonance in patients with impaired lower limb motor functions. Therefore, studies of either virtual (via transcranial magnetic stimulation) or natural lesions probe the essential role of the fronto-parietal regions in mediating the auditory and visual processing of body actions (Aziz-Zadeh et al., 2004, Ticini et al., 2012, Moro et al., 2008, Fazio et al., 2009). Instead, the presence of intact audio-motor mapping in patients with profoundly impaired body-brain communication may conflict with studies of visual-motor action translation in SCI patients. One way to reconcile this potential discrepancy concerns the quality of the experience of actions mediated through visual vs. auditory inputs. Indeed,

67

whereas vision allows one to directly simulate a specific action (e.g. grasping an object), auditory input may elicit the simulation of more than one action related to the sound that was heard (e.g. clapping different hands), thus enabling the simulation of the heard action in multiple, indirect ways as well as higher degrees of compensatory flexibility. Importantly, although we used ecologically relevant sounds of daily human actions, perceptual alterations in SCI studies appear only when a somewhat unnatural task (e.g. the direction of motion point-light (Arrighi et al., 2011) and a humanoid form that assumes a sports posture (Pernigo et al., 2012) is presented.

The ability to properly discriminate everyday action-sound after spinal cord injury led to the development of rehabilitation programs based on the notion of using audio-motor interactions to improve the function of immobile patients. Accordingly, auditory virtual walking may be a viable intervention for neuropathic pain following SCI (Moseley, 2007).

Action-sound mapping highlights the plastic nature of novel object embodiment: a portrait of SCI

The present study investigated action-sound mapping in individuals with SCI with functioning upper limbs and non-functioning lower limbs who had regained mobility using a wheelchair. We provided the first psychophysical evidence that patients with SCI can distinguish WHC sounds from other distracting sounds more rapidly than individuals with no direct perceptual or motor wheelchair experience. Patient DT, a 22-year-old paraplegic, illustrated this process well. He spontaneously reported that he might be able to recognize not only the wheelchair but also the identity of other known wheelchair-bound individuals just by hearing the WHC sound. Notably, the ability of the audio-motor system to distinguish wheelchair actions recalls the greater perceived motor reactivity present when listening

passively to WHC sounds. Accordingly, the subjective data also reveal an implicit mechanism of adjustment to the tool, as occurs with artificial limb in amputees (de Vignemont, 2011, Murray, 2004). It also seems that the sense of corporeal wheelchair awareness is much more related to a sense of substitution of the affected body part than to the motor architecture of the entire body (Pazzaglia et al., 2013).

This finding indicates that SCI patients probably redefine or modify their motor abilities, appropriating the action schema to include the actual features of the wheelchair. Therefore, when a tool extends the movement potential of a physically impaired individual, it may be included in the internal representation of the body schema to meet the novel demands of immobile limbs. As posited by theoretical studies, the acquisition of wheelchair skills by SCI patients alters their body representation by adding corporeal awareness of the device (Papadimitriou, 2008, Standal, 2011).

The experience of wheelchair embodiment has not been directly evaluated using systematic quantitative measurements, but has been commonly reported. However, almost five decades ago, Arnhoff and Mehl suggested that body image distortion in paraplegia was attributable to changes in the dimensions of the "body-wheelchair" combination (Arnhoff and Mehl, 1963). More recently, a behavioral study indicated that the altered images of "body-plus-wheelchair" in SCI patients enables them to calculate the accurate spatial requirements for their wheelchair to pass through a space (Higuchi et al., 2009). This scenario is also consistent with the findings of a recent neuroimaging study that compared the motor imagery of tool locomotion (i.e. the wheelchair slalom) with the motor imagery of movement without the wheelchair (i.e. stair walking). An increased blood oxygen level-dependent signal in the dorsal premotor cortex was found during wheelchair movement in a SCI subject (Olsson, 2012). Therefore, objects that have been in contact with the body become part of the bodily representation (Aglioti et al., 1996, Berlucchi and Aglioti, 1997) and induce short- and long-term

neuroplastic changes in the motor system (Giraux et al., 2001) following active (rather than passive) use of the body (Cardinali et al., 2009, Cardinali et al., 2012). The incorporation of an external tool into the body representation, together with updating and modifying internal action representations, indicates the inherently plastic nature of the body schema. Therefore, recent studies of tool integration in the corporeal representation revealed bodily changes in experienced identity in both patients with SCI (Lenggenhager et al., 2012) and individuals with locked-in syndrome (Nizzi et al., 2012). Specifically, the capacity to embody new objects may extend an individual's physical impaired ability and remains a potentially unexploited resource for the growing population of those who are severely disabled.

Physical and perceptual practices to forge new learning opportunities

These findings highlight the unique role of motor practice in learning ability. Individuals with SCI, when compared with auditory experts, can closely match aural perception with wheelchair-executed motion, enabling these patients to quickly extract and discriminate relevant WHC sounds. Visual and auditory wheelchair familiarity, although not fundamental, certainly plays a role in the discrimination of its sound. Although the physical therapists did not demonstrate the same ability as the wheelchair-bound subjects in recognizing the WHC sounds, the mere "observation/audition" ability of the wheelchair-bound subjects. However, the RT readiness in audio-motor interaction with the tool is revealed when the wheelchair is used actively, rather than passively. The acquisition of motor skills through physical vs. perceptual practice may imply a highly selective coupling of perceptual-motor information. The striking effects of perceptual-motor practice with specific objects induce long-term structural changes in monkey (Quallo et al., 2009) and in human (Bassolino et al., 2010, Aglioti et al., 2008) body representations. The exclusive plastic effect of physical (as opposed to perceptual)

learning on the development of new action perception abilities suggests that it is essential for people to experience close sensorimotor associations in order to forge new learning opportunities (Serino et al., 2007, Bassolino et al., 2010).

CHAPTER 5

A COMPUTATIONAL MODEL ON PERCEPTUAL-MOTOR PROCESS OF ACTION-RELATED SOUND

In the previous chapters we provided further evidence of tool and action representation plasticity after spinal cord injury. Nevertheless, the underlying neural mechanisms of these plasticity processes are still largely unknown. The pioneering work of Iriki and colleagues (1996) specifically demonstrated that after tool use, visual receptive fields (RFs) of bimodal neurons at the level of the intraparietal sulcus elongated and became responsive to stimuli presented at the tip of the tool. Few neurophysiological studies in recent years suggest that these effects of tool-use training on the extension of the visual RFs could be explained by morphological changes at the level of synapses connection within the parietal lobe. More specifically, Ishibashi and colleagues (Ishibashi et al., 2002) suggested that the mechanism underlying this phenomenon could be the creation of new synaptic connections from the visual related areas cortex in the parietal cortex with the somatosensory neurons in the intraparietal sulcus (Ishibashi et al., 2002; Hihara, et al., 2006). However, much is still unknown about higher order phenomena such as embodiment and decision-making.

In this chapter, a tentative has been made in order to create a theoretical model describing these neural mechanisms, taking advantages of computation neural network modeling. Neural network models are information elaboration systems aimed at simulating neuron behavior in a realistic way. In this case neural network models and computer simulation techniques represent a useful tool to investigate the mechanisms underlying decision-making processes responsible for different performance in sound of action recognition.
5.1 Elements of neural networks

The term "computational" refers to the use of computer and mathematical principles for the calculation of responses and the simulation of behavior, of a given system. A neural network implemented in the computer is a mathematical model that simulates the behavior of neurons, or groups of neurons, connected between each other. This type of structure is particularly suitable to capture specific aspects of the human brain capacities, such as parallel processing, generalization, and reconstruction of a stimulus or a memory from a partial set of information. Neural networks also allow simulating the processes of various forms of learning, for example associative, supervised, conditional, or with reinforcement. A neural network is composed of units connected between each other. The network activates its own output in function of the values received at input. The activation of the output of the units can be modeled through a function. The connections between the units have associated weights that modulate the contribution of the respective unit of origin. The weights can be changed depending on the output values of the network by simulating the process of learning. Groups of units can be organized to form functional layers of a network such as the input one, the intermediate processing one and output one, as shown in Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1 Schematic representation of a simple neural network.

There are multiple networks to model the various types of learning. Here I will briefly describe three of them, highlighting their strengths and limitations:

1. **Hopfield network:** this network (Hopfield, 1982) has a generic structure in which each unit is connected with each other except with itself. The weights of the connections are all equal to each other (Figure 5.2). The input stage also corresponds to the output one. This structure allows to model the Hebbian learning process, characterized by the strengthening of the connections in which the units of input and output are both active within a specific time window. In the neural networks this condition is realized considering the simultaneity of activations. The formula describing this process is:

$$\Delta w_{ji} = \eta * y_j * x_i$$

The information storage, and then the learning, is represented by the reinforcement of the connection w_{ij} in terms of increase of Δw , between the input unit and the output one, while η represents the learning coefficient. The set of all weights of the network can be summarized in a matrix with *j* columns and *i* rows. The process to calculate the variations of weights in the connections needs the calculation of the learning formula, multiplying the value of the activated units, for each column and each row of the matrix. The algorithm is:

for j = 1: N

for i = 1: N

$$W(j, i) = W(j, i) + 1 / T * q(j) * q(i)$$

where q is the activation of the unit and W (j, i) as second member is the value of the connection before updating.

This network is able to provide a maximum output response in case of input corresponding to memorized stimuli. In case of noise or partial impairment of the input stimulus, the network

will be able to reconstruct the output. The stored stimuli become stable states, called attractors. A limitation of this type of network is that non-learned attractors can be accidentally created. Furthermore, the storage memory of these networks is limited.



Figure 5.2 Schematic representation of a Hopfield network.

2. **Kohonen network**: this network (Kohonen & Teuvo, 1982) is constituted of one input layer and one processing layer. Each input unit is connected with those of the second layer and the units of the second layer are all connected together. When an input stimulus is presented, the unit of the second layer with the maximum response is able to inhibit the other, with gradually growing force at the increasing of the distance from it (Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3 Schematic representation of a Kohonen network.

This network is suitable for modeling a type of unsupervised competitive learning, in which the units of the second layer are specialized in the recognition of a particular input pattern. As the pattern changes, the network reorganizes itself and changes its structure. The formula describing the competition between adjacent units, also known as Ojas' rule (Oja, 1982), is:

$$\Delta w_{ji} = \eta * y_j * (x_i - w_{ji})$$

$$\Delta w_{ji} = \eta * y_j * x_i - \eta * y_j * w_{ji}$$

The second row shows how both a part of Hebbian learning and a part able to contain the variation around the activated unit, constitute this computation.

3. Actor-Critic network: this type of structure includes a network responsible for the execution of an action, according to established rules, and a control network to evaluate the difference between the obtained result and the expected one, through a specific function (Figure 5.4).



Notes: Actor generates an action of an agent according to a stochastic policy which concerning with the output of Fuzzy net; critic calculates TD-error using the reward of the states from the environment

Figure 5.4 Schematic representation of an actor critic network.

The formula for the calculation of the weights matrix is now more complicated.

$$\Delta w_{ji} = \eta * \epsilon * f(x)$$

Without going into the details, we just note the presence of a further modulation element of the weight of the connection, ε , linked to the error gradient, i.e. to the direction of its trend. The more is the distance from the desired value, the more is the increasing of the coefficient. This type of network allows to solve discrimination problems and to simulate non-linear processes of learning by reinforcement.

5.2 Embodiment and neural networks: a proposal for a model

In order to choose the best-suited configuration for our neural network model, I will briefly summarize the salient aspects of data and considerations shown in Chapter 4.

We previously showed that:

- Reaction times performance of patients with SCI for wheelchair related action sounds (W_{RAS}) is significantly than the one showed by the other groups. This latency improvement is not accompanied by changes in accuracy, ruling out any potential speed/accuracy trade-off effects.
- SCI patients show similar performances for sounds related to actions of the lower (L_{RAS} = 716.0 ms) and upper (U_{RAS} = 708.1ms) limbs (P = 0.87), suggesting that audio-motor mapping can be retained even when the effector limb is no longer functional.
- SCI patients have both perceptual and motor experiences with the wheelchair, physical therapists have only the perceptual one, and healthy controls don't have any kind of knowledge with this tool.
- To accomplish the test individuals express a form of decision, discriminating not only the target sound but also its relation with the probe sounds.

 At the end of the process there must be a motor action to express the decision by pressing a button.

In order to integrate all these aspects in the model, we prefigure the presence of the following blocks:

- An input block with perceptual stimuli;
- A memory block that stores the sound repertoire (perceptual experience).
- A memory block that stores the action repertoire (motor experience);
- A decision block that compute the decision process;
- An output block that execute the choice;

The complete neural network is shown in the Figure 5.5.



Figure 5.5 Schematic representation of the proposed neural network model.

This schema is common and replicated for every group. The information contained in the memory blocks differentiates the groups. In order to discriminate and store the information, an encoding process is required. Thereby, a unique code will be associated to every single stimulus. We will use a sequence of four numbers: the value "1" will indicate the presence of the corresponding sound category and "0" will indicate its absence. Organizing the digits in a vector, the stimuli will be encoded in the following way:

URAS [1 0 0 0], LRAS [0 1 0 0], WRAS [0 0 1 0], AARS [0 0 0 1].

These vectors are orthogonal to each other, as none of them shows the symbol "1" in the same position. This simplifies the calculation of the behavior of the network and its representation. In case of absence of information, (i.e. no stimulus) we will use the null vector $[0\ 0\ 0\ 0]$.

Sound Memory Block

Recognizing an acoustic stimulus means that it has been experienced before and it is possible to compare the actual perception with the stored representation in our memory. In computational terms, this means that there is a memory block that maintains the information to compare through a learning process in order to recognize this stimulus. Table 5.1 summarizes the stored information for every group.

INFORMATION STORED IN THE SOUND MEMORY BLOCK					
	SCI Patients	Physical Therapists	Healthy Controls		
Uras	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Lras	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Wras	Yes	Yes	No		
Aras	Yes	Yes	Yes		

Table 5.1 Action auditory representation stored in memory, for every group and each sound category.

In the column relative to the control group, we have the presence of the representative vector for the U_{RAS} , L_{RAS} and A_{ARS} stimuli, but not of W_{RAS} , in place of which we have the null vector.

The vectors of the stimuli will be represented synthetically through an array of stimuli, called Q. For the control group we will have:

Q_{CO} =

 $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$

while for the other groups we will have:

 $\mathbf{Q}_{SCI} = \mathbf{Q}_{TH} =$

1	0	0	0
0	1	0	0
0	0	1	0
0	0	0	1

At this stage, we will omit the dynamic aspects of memory formation. Instead we analyze the general characteristics required by this type of long-term learning, a key element for the implementation of the block, considering the presence of competition and supervision. If the acoustic memory was purely competitive there would be an overwriting of the most recent (or most used) stimuli on the oldest or less used ones. For example, avoiding knocking at a door for a certain period of time should be replaced by the sound of the bell used in substitution. As regards the necessity of a supervised learning we can consider that the storage of a certain sound can be simply explained through an associative, Hebbian-like, learning process, without involving additional mechanisms.

With this background, the sound memory block can be simply modeled by a Hopfield network, described by a W matrix obtained as a product of the Q matrix of the stimuli for its transpose Q ', divided by the number of possible patterns T to learn. In our case the pattern correspond to the four stimuli:

Ws = 1/T*Q*Q' =

	1	0	0	0		1	0	0	0
1 //+	0	1	0	0		0	1	0	0
1/4^	0	0	0	0	ĥ	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	1		0	0	0	1

Since we chose a base of orthogonal vectors the transposed matrix coincides with the original one, so that the product of matrices is reduced to the product of a matrix for itself, which gives as result the starting matrix. We compute a different Ws matrix for every group, so that we have three different matrices describing the sound memories:

WS_{SCI}, WS_{TH}, WS_{CO}.

Data collected on individuals with SCI are in line with the modeling of Hopfield network. After 6 months from the beginning of wheelchair use, all individuals express the same performance of recognition of W_{RAS} , and this result is independent from the total amount of time spent on the wheelchair. The crucial element seems to be the time window from the onset of tool use and not the absolute time of its use. This is consistent with a classic learning process in which a plateau can be reached after a certain period of learning.

Motor Memory Block

We have to highlight some differences between this block and the Sound Memory Block. This part of the model represents the memory of a specific motor-action and not the repertoire of the actions that individuals can express in a specific moment. In fact, referring to L_{RAS} recognition performances, there are not significant statistical differences among groups, indicating that what is relevant for the task is the previous knowledge of a specific motor action and not its actual execution. One possible explanation could be to postulate the existence of two different memory blocks, one for "innate" actions and another one for "acquired" actions, interacting together. However, this hypothesis is difficult both to verify and to falsify. Moreover, it introduces in the model a level of complexity, without adding any further relevant information to the description of the phenomenon. The simplest explanation is to consider the time at which the trauma occurred and the repertoire of motor actions already acquired from the individual at that moment. Also in this case, as in the sound memory block, a competitive learning mechanism seems to be unsuitable to describe the phenomenon, as it should occur at least one of the following situations:

- None of the individuals with SCI should respond to the L_{RAS} stimuli;
- The performance of individuals with SCI to the L_{RAS} stimuli should be well below the performance of controls and therapists in the same category.

Both of these cases are in contrast with the empirical data collected. Therefore, we discard the use of a Kohonen network and we use a Hebbian network. This model, added in the scheme described before, is able to explain the "re-activation" of the motor memory, through a cross-modal process involving both vision and hearing (Alaerts et al., 2009). Table 5.2 shows the content of the motor memory block. In this case we have the presence of the lower limbs information for all groups and the absence of information related to the action sounds produced by animals.

INFORMATION STORED IN THE MOTOR MEMORY BLOCK					
	SCI Patients	Physical Therapists	Healthy Controls		
Uras	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Lras	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Wras	Yes	No	No		
Aras	No	No	No		

Table 5.2 Action motor representation stored in memory, for every group and each sound category.

The procedure for the calculation of the matrix describing the Hopfield network for the motor memory block is the same as in the sound memory block, so that we will have:

WM_{SCI}, WM_{TH}, WM_{CO}.

Decision Block

The final stage of our neural network must be able to carry out the computation of a decisionmaking process, solving the competition between different options, which arise from different possible input stimuli. The basic model selected to solve this task is a biological neural network for optimal selection, introduced by Bogacz (Bogacz et al, 2005). The structure of the network and its behavior is reported in Figure 5.6.



Figure 5.6 Schematic representation of Bogacz network.

The output units individually receive their input and are mutually linked through an inhibitory connection. In this way just one connection will prevail as function of the force of the input signal, making simultaneously silent the others. The "c" factor represents a bias element and is able to polarize the model towards a choice rather than the other. The formula for the calculation of the unit activation is:

unit_N = unit_N +
$$(\delta/\tau)$$
* (- κ * unit_N - w* unit_(J \neq N)+ Input_N + Noise_N);

The parameters of the formula are:

- Δ is the integration time, i.e. the time interval used to calculate the result of the formula, expressed in milliseconds (ms);

- T is the speed of the activation process between the units;

- K is a parameter that expresses negative autocorrelation;

- W is a parameter corresponding to a mutual inhibition between the units;

- InputN is the input signal of the unit N;

- NoiseN is a noise factor.

The generalization to N-dimensions uses an expression in which each element becomes a parameter array, allowing the simultaneous computation of N units at one time.

$$U = U + (\Delta/T) * (-K * U - U * W + I + N)$$

In this case, K is a diagonal matrix, a matrix of autocorrelations, while W has all the elements on the diagonal equal to 0, since each unit can inhibit the others but not itself. I is the contribution from the two memory blocks examined previously, and N is the matrix of the noise elements.

To test the behavior of the model we prepared three neural networks, one for each group, triggered by the four categories of stimuli. For the computation of the behavior of the neural network unit we can use both the synchronous or asynchronous method. With the synchronous method all the values of the variables are updated at a specific time, and the relative value of the output units is calculated. In this way all the variables remain stationary until the next calculation moment. With the asynchronous method the variables are updated one at a time. In our case we used the first method.

The levels of activation of the output units for each group are shown in the following figures, as function of the input stimulus. The horizontal line shows an arbitrary threshold value in order to compare the points of intersection of the curve: the more the activation is high, the

more the intersection is shifted to the origin, indicating a shorter time to reach the threshold and, therefore, the expressed choice.



Figure 5.7 Activation levels of the neural network with U_{RAS} and L_{RAS} input stimuli, for each group.

In the case of W_{RAS} we have three different activations, in line with the requirements and the structure of the model. Consequently, the level of activation will be:

 $T_{wSCI} > T_{wTH} > T_{wCO}$



Figure 5.8 Activation levels of the neural network with W_{RAS} input stimuli, for each group.

In the end, we have the graph of the performance relative to the sounds produced by animals. In this case, as for the stimuli relative to the limbs, the performance is equal in the three groups, but with less activation due to the absence of the active motor component.



Figure 5.9 Activation levels of the neural network with A_{RAS} input stimuli, for each group

The figure below shows all the responses from the various units of the different groups in order to compare immediately the different cases.



Figure 5.10 Comparison of activation levels of the neural network for all input stimuli in each group.

5.3 Limitations and Considerations

Although able to explain many aspects of the behavioral data collected, the present model is currently limited by three main points:

- Aspects of learning and salience are expressed by a single parameter;

- The computational aspect of dynamic integration of the information relative to the soundaction association is still absent.

- The ability to implement the principles identified in the phenomenon to a virtual embodied level is still lacking.

The last point is most challenging for the implementation. It would allow to realize a model as close as possible to the reality. In this model, a robotic motor system affected by a lesion could potentially reorganize the underlying neural network, depending on the tool replacement.

We demonstrate that this model can simulate the process underlying the performances expressed by different individuals exposed to different auditory stimuli. We assumed that the physical experience of an action can produce different performances when perceiving a related sound, but we reported some evidences that this phenomena changes depending on tool embodiment. It is still possible that different tools have different "salience level". An alternative explanation could refer to the concept of "salience of the action" (i.e. to what extent the action is important for the individual). From this point of view SCI individuals may respond faster at the W_{RAS} simply because is "highly salient". In this case we can think to a different model where all individuals share a structure and the difference among them is in terms of action salience. This is a very different hypothesis from what we considered as far. How can we model the salience of an action? We can think of salience as a reinforcement process, where what is useful and create advantage for the individual is preferred and strengthened. Given this, if using a wheelchair gives more opportunities than other options, it becomes very relevant for the individual and increases the valence of all elements related to it.

The question then becomes: Do SCI individuals respond faster at the W_{RAS} because is "salient" or because of the "embodiment"? And how to explain the different performances between TH and SCI groups? To what extent is the wheelchair salient for TH group?

There is a further option we can consider, trying to reconcile these different points of view. What is salient for SCI is something related to autonomy and interaction with the environment. These aspects, in terms of adaptation, may lead to an increased probability of survival and success and to a concrete advantage for the fitness. It is possible that through the action that causes motor memory by embodiment, the individual system checks the consequent advantage and increases the "level of salience" of the action itself. For physical therapist, because of the nature of their job, wheelchair sounds are salient but not so relevant for their lives, as for SCI group. In this light "salience" and "embodiment" could be two

parallel aspects of two interacting processes, feed forward one each other. To investigate this issue we can either empirically create some tests to dissociate salience and motor memory of the action; or virtually model different structures that predict our results. A better understanding of these aspects can lead to create new physical therapies and training programs, based on both natural "embodied" and "salient" processes.

5.4 Operating Environment and Code

The model has been implemented using Matlab[©] 2012a V7.14 for students, on Windows 7 operating system. The code is shown below. The usual conventions of programming in Matlab are shown, where green represents the code comments. The beginning of the listed code contains all the variables with their initialization values. In case you want to run the simulation with different values, such as changing the learning rate of the network, it is possible to change only the variable at the beginning of the code, avoiding updating it in all instances in which it is used.

```
%%% Embodiment Model %%%
```

```
% Clear all
clear all %Delete variables from work memory
clc %Delete previous outputs and commands from command window
close all %Closes opened windows, e.g. of previous figures
```

% Constant parameters. Note: base time unit is the second

```
SIMU_LENG = 30; %In seconds
SIMU_TIME_UNIT = 500; %Simulation time unit is milliseconds
DELT = 1; %Integration time step, in milliseconds
DELT SECO = DELT/SIMU TIME UNIT; %Integration time step, in seconds
```

```
MAX STEP = (SIMU LENG * SIMU TIME UNIT)/DELT; %Steps of simulation
Ni=4; %input unit
No=4; % output unit
T=Ni;
TAU = 1000; % Speed of processes within units
    = 0.2
              % K is the first Bogacz's key parameter, corresponding to
K
negative self-recurrency
    = K
            % W is the second to Bogacz's key parameter, corresponding to
8W
mutual inhibition. If = K, efficient decision process
W = ones(Ni) * K;
W = W.* (1 - eye(Ni));
 smooth=0.5;
q1 = [ 1 0 0 0 ]'; % Upper limb stimulus
q2 = [ 0 1 0 0 ]'; % Lower limb stimulus
q3 = [ 0 0 1 0 ]'; % Wheelchair stimulus
qhalf = [0 0 0.8 0]'; %used for simulating the CO's training in recognizing
wheelchair sound
q4 = [ 0 0 0 1 ]'; %Animal stimulus
no = [0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0]';
Q = double([q1 q2 q3 q4]); %Stimulus Matrix%
Cs = double([q1 q2 no q4]); %Sound Stimulus Matrix CO%
Ps = double([q1 q2 q3 q4]); %Sound Stimulus Matrix ML%
Ts = double([q1 q2 q3 q4]); %Sound Stimulus Matrix TE%
Cm = double([q1 q2 no no]); %Motor Stimulus Matrix CO%
Pm = double([q1 q2 q3 no]); %Motor Stimulus Matrix ML%
Tm = double([q1 q2 no no]); %Motor Stimulus Matrix TE%
WCs = (1/T) *Cs*Cs'; %Hopfield Sound Matrix CO%
WPs = (1/T)*Ps*Ps'; %Hopfield Sound Matrix ML%
WTs = (1/T)*Ts*Ts'; %Hopfield Sound Matrix TE%
```

91

```
WCm = (1/T)*Cm*Cm'; %Hopfield Motor Matrix CO%
WPm = (1/T)*Pm*Pm'; %Hopfield Motor Matrix ML%
WTm = (1/T)*Tm*Tm'; %Hopfield Motor Matrix TE%
WsInpu = ones(4)*0.5;
WmInpu = ones(4)*0.5;
WS=[WCs; WTs; Wps]; %We use one matrix of matrix to compute once all the
activations%
WM=[WCm; WTm; WPm];
TIME_FOR_NOIS_RESE = 1; %= DELT_SECO;
NOIS_SIZE = 0.1;
STEP_FOR_NOIS_RESE = (TIME_FOR_NOIS_RESE * SIMU_TIME_UNIT)/DELT;
```

```
% Variables of model
step = 0;
```

```
% Variables Matrix
nois = zeros(1,4);
unit = zeros(1,4);
unitC = unit;
unitT = unit;
```

unitP = unit;

```
% Variables for collecting data to be plot
unitHist = zeros(4, MAX_STEP);
unitHistC = unitHist;
unitHistT = unitHist;
unitHistP = unitHist;
scrsz = get(0,'ScreenSize');
figure('Position',[scrsz(1)/2 0 scrsz(3) scrsz(4)/2]);
```

```
%for index = 1:4
    stim = Q(:,3)'*1;%*rand(); smooth
    perc=stim*WTs;
   motor=stim*WTm;
       INPU = perc+motor;
       INPU2=(WS+WM) *stim';
% Program step and initialization of units
     unit = unit.*0;
     unitC = unitC.*0;
     unitT = unitT.*0;
     unitP = unitP.*0;
for step = 2:MAX STEP
 if mod(step, STEP FOR NOIS RESE) == (STEP FOR NOIS RESE-1)
     nois = (rand(1, 4) * 2-1) * NOIS SIZE;
    end
unit = unit + (DELT/TAU) * (-K * unit - unit*W + INPU + nois);
unitC = unitC + (DELT/TAU) * (-K * unitC - unitC*W + INPU2(1:4)' + nois);
unitT = unitT + (DELT/TAU) * (-K * unitT - unitT*W + INPU2(5:8)' + nois);
unitP = unitP + (DELT/TAU) * (-K * unitP - unitP*W + INPU2(9:end)' + nois);
    % Activate these if you want to keep units > 0
    if unit(1) < 0
        unit(1) = 0;
    end
    if unit(2) < 0
       unit(2) = 0;
```

93

```
end
if unit(3) < 0
unit(3) = 0;
end
if unit(4) < 0
 unit(4) = 0;
end
if unitC(1) < 0
 unitC(1) = 0;
end
if unitC(2) < 0
  unitC(2) = 0;
end
if unitC(3) < 0
 unitC(3) = 0;
end
if unitC(4) < 0
 unitC(4) = 0;
end
if unitT(1) < 0
  unitT(1) = 0;
end
if unitT(2) < 0
unitT(2) = 0;
end
if unitT(3) < 0
 unitT(3) = 0;
end
if unitT(4) < 0
  unitT(4) = 0;
end
if unitP(1) < 0
  unitP(1) = 0;
```

```
end
    if unitP(2) < 0
       unitP(2) = 0;
    end
    if unitP(3) < 0
       unitP(3) = 0;
    end
    if unitP(4) < 0
       unitP(4) = 0;
    end
    %Collect data
    unitHistC(:, step) = unitC';
   unitHistT(:, step) = unitT';
   unitHistP(:, step) = unitP';
end
% Graphics
xs=0; xe=15000; ys = 0.5; ye = 0.5;
x = 1:MAX STEP;
subplot(3,4,1);
line([xs xe], [ys ye]);
hold on
plot(x,unitHistC(1, :));
hold on
```

```
axis([0 MAX_STEP 0 2])
title('Control stimulus 1')
```

```
subplot(3,4,2);
line([xs xe], [ys ye]);
hold on
plot(x,unitHistC(2, :));
hold on
```

```
axis([0 MAX_STEP 0 2])
title('Control stimulus 2')
```

```
subplot(3,4,3);
line([xs xe], [ys ye]);
hold on
plot(x, unitHistC(3, :));
hold on
```

```
axis([0 MAX_STEP 0 2])
title('Control stimulus 3')
```

```
subplot(3,4,4);
```

line([xs xe], [ys ye]); hold on plot(x, unitHistC(4, :));

hold on

```
axis([0 MAX_STEP 0 2])
title('Control stimulus 4')
```

```
subplot(3,4,5);
line([xs xe], [ys ye]);
hold on
plot(x,unitHistT(1, :));
hold on
```

```
axis([0 MAX STEP 0 2])
title('Therapist stimulus 1')
subplot(3,4,6);
line([xs xe], [ys ye]);
hold on
plot(x,unitHistT(2, :));
hold on
axis([0 MAX STEP 0 2])
title('Therapist stimulus 2')
subplot(3,4,7);
line([xs xe], [ys ye]);
hold on
plot(x, unitHistT(3, :));
hold on
axis([0 MAX STEP 0 2])
title('Therapist stimulus 3')
subplot(3,4,8);
line([xs xe], [ys ye]);
hold on
plot(x, unitHistT(4, :));
hold on
axis([0 MAX STEP 0 2])
title('Therapist stimulus 4')
subplot(3,4,9);
line([xs xe], [ys ye]);
```

```
hold on
```

```
plot(x, unitHistP(1, :));
hold on
axis([0 MAX STEP 0 2])
title('Patient stimulus 1')
subplot(3,4,10);
line([xs xe], [ys ye]);
hold on
plot(x, unitHistP(2, :));
hold on
axis([0 MAX_STEP 0 2])
title('Patient stimulus 2')
subplot(3,4,11);
line([xs xe], [ys ye]);
hold on
plot(x, unitHistP(3, :));
hold on
axis([0 MAX STEP 0 2])
title('Patient stimulus 3')
subplot(3,4,12);
line([xs xe], [ys ye]);
hold on
plot(x, unitHistP(4, :));
hold on
axis([0 MAX_STEP 0 2])
title('Patient stimulus 4')
```

CHAPTER 6

DON'T LOOK AT MY WHEELCHAIR: CHANGING PEOPLE'S BIAS THROUGH SOCIAL INTERACTION

[This research has been submitted in: Galli G, Lenggehager B, Scivoletto G, Molinari M, Pazzaglia M. Don't look at my wheelchair: changing people's bias through social interaction. Cognitive, Affective and Behavioral Neuroscience.]

6.1 Aims and Hypotheses

The dramatic change in body representation that occur after a sudden transformation in the structure of the physical body, such as the spinal cord injury, surely assume a role in social and affective dynamics as a function of different types of experiences. Considering our cultural influences, personal experiences, and normative expectations, simply being a wheelchair user is enough to attract negative stereotyping. Although this theme has become an important research topic, two essential related matters continue to be largely unaddressed. The first concerns the question of whether is there any dissociation in explicit/implicit prejudice-based attitudes about disability according to the group-membership. The second relates to whether we can actively counteract the presence of implicit/explicit bias.

To this purpose, in this study we sought to explore the presence of stereotypes toward wheelchair-bound patients with spinal cord injury (SCI), determining whether an ingroup/out-group bias was present in healthy subjects (who have had no past experience with paraplegic patients) compared with physical therapists (who have had extensive experience with paraplegic patients) and paraplegic patients (Experiment 1). Based on the notion that stereotypes and prejudices are more readily observed at implicit rather than explicit levels, we asked participants both to perform an ad-hoc modified version of the Implicit Association Test and to express their opinion explicitly. More importantly, we sought to investigate, if such hardwired biases can be modified by a personal interaction with an individual with SCI (Experiment 2).

6.2 Materials and methods

6.2.1 EXPERIMENT I:

Participants

Fifteen subjects with established SCI (13 men; mean age, 38.07 years; range 19–56 years), 15 healthy control subjects without SCI (11 men; mean age, 37.3 years; range 23–50 years), and 15 physical therapists working with paraplegic patients (11 men; mean age, 37.8 years; range 25–58 years) were recruited at Fondazione Santa Lucia Hospital in Rome, Italy. All therapists were employed full-time and had an average of five years' experience with in-patient rehabilitation (range: 1 to 25 years).

The neurological injury level of the 15 SCI subjects (Table 6.1) was determined by experienced neurologists using the American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) international standards for the classification of spinal cord injury. All patients were recruited from physiotherapy programs for SCI patients and were in the chronic injury phase (6 months post-injury). None of the SCI patients had suffered a head or brain lesion associated with the trauma leading to the injury.

No participant presented signs of psychiatric disorder, and none had a history of substance abuse. All subjects were right-handed as determined using the 10-item version of the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971). Informed written consent was obtained for all procedures, and the study was approved by the local ethics committee of Fondazione Santa Lucia, Rome.

DEMOGRAPHIC AND CLINICAL DATA OF THE PARTICIPANTS						
Case	Age	Gender	Time since Injury (days)	Lesion Level	AIS grade	Etiology
P1	42	м	960	T10	Α	Traumatic
P2	42	M	1170	тз	Α	Traumatic
P3	30	м	220	тз	Α	Traumatic
P4	35	м	6770	T7	Α	Traumatic
P5	38	м	5840	T8	Α	Traumatic
P6	36	м	70	L1	D	Traumatic
P7	19	м	789	T10	Α	Traumatic
P8	49	F	450	T12	Α	Traumatic
P9	38	M	4945	Т8	Α	Traumatic
P10	42	м	1170	Т9	Α	Traumatic
P11	56	м	10220	T4	Α	Traumatic
P12	56	м	600	L1	С	Traumatic
P13	19	F	395	T6	Α	Traumatic
P14	35	м	590	T10	Α	Traumatic
P15	22	м	365	T12	D	Traumatic
Range	19-56	13 M - 2 F	70-10220	T3 - L1	-	-
Mean	37.26		2303.6			
SD	11.56		3102.7			

Table 6.1 Clinical and demographic data of the spinal cord injury patients. The clinical neurological level of the lesion (T, thoracic; L, lumbar) was reported for the subjects with spinal cord injury (SCI). The neurological and functional levels of the injury were determined using the American Impairment Scale (AIS).

Stimuli and Test description

We adapted the classical IAT test (Greenwald et al. 1998) in order to reveal implicit associations between concepts that often reflect the strength to which a person holds a particular societal stereotype. In each IAT trial, a single stimulus is presented on the screen. The task of the participant is to classify it as quickly and accurately as possible into its respective category (for a detailed description of the task and its analysis please see Greenwald et al. 2003). For the current IAT variant, the stimuli consisted of 8 paraplegicrelated pictures and 8 non paraplegic-related pictures. Pictures were created using a 3D creation software (Poser 9, SmithMicro Software). All samples were depicted as seated, but paraplegic samples seated on a wheelchair, while non-paraplegic models seated on an armchair. Eight negative common words (ugly, evil, failure, terrible, agony, discomfort, horrible, pain), and eight positive common words (glory, peace, wonderful, laugh, joy, happiness, love, pleasure) were chosen. A schematic representation of stimuli and procedure is displayed in Figure 6.1.



Figure 6.1 Schematic representation of the Implicit Association Test. In each IAT trial, a single stimulus is presented on the screen. The task of the participant is to classify it as quickly and accurately as possible into its respective category.

Procedure

Participants were seated at a distance of approximately 50 cm from a 17-inch monitor (resolution: 1024x768 pixels). Presentation of the stimuli and registration of answers were

controlled using the E-Prime software version 1.0 (Psychology Software Tools, INC). Answers were given pressing the appropriate left-hand (Q) or right-hand (P) key, according to the sorting choice of the subject. We instructed subjects to answer as fast and accurate as they could, since IAT scores ground both on accuracy rating and reaction times. Instructions were repeated before starting every new block and category cues on the left/right hand corner remained on the screen for the entire duration of the block. Following the procedures of Greenwald et al. (2003), we mixed up pictures and words in seven blocks, as follows: (a) a 20-trial target picture discrimination block (the Italian word "Paraplegico" ("Paraplegic") appeared in the top left-hand corner and the Italian word "Deambulante" ("Walking") appeared in the top right-hand corner); (b) a 20-trial attribute discrimination block (the Italian word "Buono" ("Pleasant") appeared in the top left-hand corner of the screen and the Italian word "Cattivo" ("Unpleasant") in the top right-hand corner); (c) a 20-trial "practice" combination block with both pictures and attributes (the words "Paraplegic/Pleasant" appeared in the top left-hand corner while the words "Walking/Unpleasant" appeared in the top right-hand corner); (d) a 40-trial congruent test block of the same combination in (c); (e) a 20-trial target discrimination block in which the target categories were reversed ("Paraplegic" now appeared in the top right-hand corner of the screen and "Walking" in the top left-hand corner); (f) a 20-trial practice reversed combination block ("Paraplegic/Unpleasant" now appeared in the top right-hand corner and "Walking/Pleasant" now appeared in the top lefthand corner); and (g) a 40-trial congruent test block of the same combination in (f).

The stimuli for the target picture and attribute discrimination blocks were presented randomly, as the stimuli for the combination blocks. Incorrect responses resulted in a red 'X' being presented on the screen. A 250-ms interval separated each trial after a response was made in all blocks.

Questionnaires

Explicit preference

Next to the implicit bias we evaluated explicit preference toward healthy or paraplegic individuals. Participants were instructed to rate how much they prefer one out of these two categories on a visual, vertical 10-cm analogue scale (VAS). Participants were asked to indicate their explicit preference with a sign along the VAS line. The position was then converted into a numerical value.

Empathy

Participants were asked to fill the Interpersonal Reactivity Index (IRI, Davis, 1996), a selfreport measure on empathic dispositions, comprising 28 mixed positive and negative statements. Using a 5-point Likert scale (ranging from 1 ["Does not describe me very well"] to 5 ["Does describe me very well"]), participants rated each statement. The questionnaire comprises 4 subscales, each with 7 items: Empathetic Concern (EC i.e. the tendency to experience feelings of sympathy and compassion for unfortunate others), Perspective Taking (PT i.e. the reported tendency to spontaneously adopt the psychological point of view of others in everyday life), Fantasy Scale (FS i.e. the measure of tendency to imaginatively transpose oneself into fictional situations) and Personal Distress (PD i.e. the tendency to experience distress and discomfort in response to extreme distress in others).

Data Handling

Performance on the IAT was scored using the algorithm proposed by Greenwald et al. (1998). Data from the IAT, the IRI and the VAS were analyzed with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVAs) in which group (controls C, paraplegics P, or therapists T) was the betweensubject variable. All pair-wise comparisons were performed using the Duncan's post hoc test. A significance threshold of p < .05 was set for all statistical analyses. The data are reported as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Moreover, Pearson's correlations tests were run for subjective ratings and the IAT scores. All behavioral data from Experiment 1 are reported in Figure 6.2, Figure 6.3, Figure 6.4 and Figure 6.5.

6.2.3 EXPERIMENT II:

Participants

The study included the participation of 40 healthy subjects (20 women, mean age 28.07 years \pm 7.37 SD, range 19–48). They were different from those involved in the previous task, and all were unaware of the specific aim of the study. No participant presented signs of psychiatric disorder, and none had a history of substance abuse. All subjects were right-handed as determined using the 10-item version of the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971). Informed written consent was obtained for all procedures, and the local ethics committee of Fondazione Santa Lucia, Rome, approved the study.

Procedure

This experiment was done in three different sessions: 1) a pre manipulation session, 2) an interaction session and 3) a post manipulation session, all in the same day and lasting approximately 90 minutes in total.

Pretest session

The pre-manipulation session included the completion of the Interpersonal Reactivity Index (IRI, Davis, 1996), the explicit measurement and the first version of the Implicit Association Test (both described in 6.2.1). Since we administered the IAT test two times we created two parallel versions of the test (one with the paraplegic and positive combination first, version A; and one with the paraplegic and negative combination first, version B). Order effects are commonly reported in studies using the IAT and do not appear to impact the reliability and validity of this measure (Nosek et al., 2005). Nevertheless, the IAT versions were counterbalanced across participants in two ways to prevent methodological confounds. Participants who showed a positive bias toward walking people were randomly grouped into two groups, according to different experimental manipulation. Groups didn't show any difference in terms of age, gender and education (all ps > 0.5). Participants who did not show the bias (n=10) were excluded from the study, and did not take part to the other sessions of the experiment.

Manipulation

The interaction session was different for the two groups. Group 1 (i.e. social interaction group)'s interaction included a 45 min discussion session with a paraplegic patient (G.Z.) who participated in the study. G.Z., male, 42 years old, was recruited at Fondazione Santa Lucia Hospital in Rome, Italy. He had a traumatic spinal cord injury 760 days before the beginning of the study. The neurological injury level was determined using the American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) international standards for the classification of spinal cord injury. An expert neurologist examined G.Z. and ascribed to him the AIS grade A. The interaction was

built on a semi-structured plot conducted by G.Z. Different topics were treated along the talk, and time-to-time G.Z., had to show, or talk about, some limitations due to the disability.

Group 2 (i.e. passive interaction)'s interaction consisted in 45 minutes listening to an audio registration about some limitations due to the disability. The recording included 4 different topics. In particular, some clinical aspects of paraplegia (etiology, phases of spinal shock, sexual functioning), the use of technological tools (special cars, public transportation, home automation, the exoskeleton), and some examples of possible discomfort (the problem of architectural barriers and the social reintegration and employment) have been addressed in the recording. To ensure that subjects paid constant attention to the recording a short questionnaire about the topics was administered.

Post-manipulation session

The post interaction session included the second version of the IAT.

Data Handling

Performance on the IAT was scored using the algorithm fully described in 2.1.5 (Greenwald et al., 1998). Data were analyzed with a 2x2 analysis of variance (ANOVA) in which group (Group 1 vs Group 2) was the between subject variable and session (Pre manipulation vs. Post manipulation) was the within subject variable. A significance threshold of p < .05 was set for all statistical analyses. All pair-wise comparisons were performed using the Duncan's post hoc test. All behavioral data are reported in Figure 6.6.

One-way ANOVAs, with group as the between-subject variable, were conducted to test the group differences for the IRI and VAS subjective results. Moreover, correlations test were run to verify the influence of the subjective ratings on the IAT scores.

6.3 RESULTS

6.3.1 EXPERIMENT I

Difference in implicit biases between healthy, patients and therapists

The ANOVA for the IAT score (Figure 6.2) revealed significant differences across groups $(F_{(2,42)} = 12.41; p < .001)$. The Duncan's post hoc test for multiple comparisons showed no differences in mean IAT scores between paraplegic patients and healthy controls (P = 0.34, H = 0.48; p = 0.81); meaning that both groups have an implicit positive bias for walking people.

Crucially, in therapists group IAT values (T = -0.11) were significantly different both from paraplegic patients (p <0.001) and healthy controls (p =0.002). This means that physical therapists showed an opposite implicit behavior compared to paraplegic patients and healthy subjects; i.e. they showed a strong implicit and positive bias towards paraplegic patients.



Figure 6.2 Difference in implicit bias between the groups. The IAT scores in three groups of subjects
(individuals with spinal cord injuries, healthy individuals and physical therapists) are reported. The error bars indicate the standard error of the mean (SEM). The black bars indicate significant results from the post hoc comparisons (p < 0.05).

Association between implicit bias and years of group-membership

Interestingly, we found a significant inverse correlation between the IAT scores of physical therapists and their years of working experience with SCI patients (mean = 8.7 years, r = - 0.63; p = 0.01); meaning that the more they worked with patients the less they show the bias (Figure 6.3).

On the contrary there was no significant correlation between the IAT scores of SCI patients and the time since injury (mean = 7.7 years, r = -0.28; p > 0.3).



Figure 6.3 Association between implicit bias and years of group-membership in physical therapists. The IAT scores in physical therapists are negatively correlated with years of group's membership.

Difference in the explicit preference between the groups

The ANOVA for the explicit walking/paraplegic (Figure 6.4) preference revealed a significant effect of group (p <0.001). In particular the Duncan's post-hoc test revealed that the group of

physical therapists was the only one who did not show any kind of explicit preference (T = 0). This result differed both from healthy subjects, who showed the highest explicit preference for walking people (H = 4.6, p = 0.009), and from patients with SCI, who explicitly declared to prefer paraplegic patients (P = -4.6, p = 0.01). Moreover patients with SCI and healthy subjects differed from each other (p < 0.001) showing the opposite direction of explicit preference.



Explicit Preference

Figure 6.4 Difference in the explicit preference between the groups. The explicit preference score in three groups of subjects (individuals with spinal cord injuries, healthy individuals and physical therapists) is reported. The error bars indicate the standard error of the mean (SEM). The black bars indicate significant results from the post hoc comparisons (p < 0.05).

IRI

Concerning the IRI questionnaire results (Figure 6.5), the ANOVAs revealed a significant effect of interaction ($F_{(6,123)} = 4.23$, p < 0.001). In particular Duncan's post hoc test revealed that in Perspective Taking (P = 15.8, H = 20.7, T = 19.3) patients with SCI obtained significantly lower scores than healthy controls (p =0.003) and therapists (p =0.03), which did not differ from each other (p =0.4). Similarly, in Empathy Concern (P = 15.3, H = 19.8, T = 18.8) patients with SCI showed lower scores than healthy controls (p =0.006) and therapists (p =0.03), which again did not differ from each other (p =0.5). Differently, in the Fantasy

Scale (P =13.5, H =16.0, T=12.2) paraplegic patients showed similar scores both compared to healthy controls (p = 0.14) and therapists (p = 0.36), which differed from each other (p =0.02). In the Personal Distress subscale (P =12.1, H =9.6, T =7.1) patients with SCI showed comparable scores with healthy controls (p = 0.11), but differed from physical therapists (p = 0.001), which did not differ from healthy controls (p = 0.09).



Figure 6.5 Difference in the Interpersonal Reactivity Index between the groups. The IRI scores in three groups of subjects (individuals with spinal cord injuries, healthy individuals and physical therapists) are reported, for the 4 subscales. The error bars indicate the standard error of the mean (SEM). The black bars indicate significant results from the post hoc comparisons (p < 0.05).

6.3.2. EXPERIMENT 2

IAT Scores

The ANOVA for the IAT scores (Figure 6.6) revealed a main effect of group ($F_{(1,28)} = 5.7$; p =

0.02) and a main effect of session ($F_{(1,28)} = 7.9$; p = 0.008) as well as a significant effect of

interaction ($F_{(1,28)} = 4.65$; p = 0.03). The Duncan's post-hoc test for multiple comparisons, showed that in the pre test session the two groups did not differ from each other, showing the same implicit positive bias toward walking people (Group1 = 0.46, Group2 = 0.59; p = 0.51). Crucially, in the post session test, subjects who underwent the social active interaction showed a significant decreasing of their bias (Group1 = 0.05), which was different both from their bias in the pre test session (p = 0.001) and from the post session bias of subjects who underwent just the passive listening (Group2 = 0.54, p = 0.01). Moreover, subjects who underwent just the passive listening did not show any difference between the pre and the post session test (p = 0.64) confirming their bias.



Figure 6.6 Difference in implicit bias between the two groups. The IAT scores in two groups of subjects (active interaction vs. passive listening groups) are reported. The error bars indicate the standard error of the mean (SEM). The asterisk indicates significant results from the post hoc comparisons (p < 0.05).

IRI scores and VAS subjective ratings on explicit preference didn't show any significant difference between the two groups in both pre- and post manipulation session (all p > 0.5). No correlations were found between any of these variables and the IAT scores in the pre or the post session test.

6.4 DISCUSSION

The present study explored the presence of bias toward wheelchair-bound patients with spinal cord injury (SCI) and revealed four key findings, which importantly contribute to the implicit versus explicit manner of biases as well as to their plasticity. First, healthy participants do indeed show an implicit and explicit preference towards healthy subjects. Second, there is a dissociation between implicit and explicit in-group behavior in patients with SCI: while they explicitly declared an in-group preference they implicitly showed an out-group (i.e. healthy) preference. Third, physical therapists do not show any implicit or explicit bias and this effect is modulated by their actual experience with patients. Fourth, real and active social interaction leads to drastic changes of the bias, which has important real-life applications.

Together, our results suggest that thinking about disability is very different from the feelings we actually experience during interactions with individuals on a wheelchair. The opportunity to overcome disability prejudice through the promotion of pro-social inter/intra-group relationships is a challenging issue that can be used to promote the development of specific form of pro-social behavior.

Difference between implicit and explicit attitudes

Implicit (unconscious) and explicit (conscious) modes of thought have been often theorized as separate mental entities. The idea that the two constructs are essentially dissociated so that one component may drive in opposition to the other can be found in Freud's (1933) and in psychodynamic proposals about prejudice (Adorno et al., 1950; Bettelheim & Janowitz, 1949), but also in cognitive psychology and modern neuroscience. Unconscious cognitive processes have been deeply examined in the light of implicit and explicit mental processes (Kihlstrom, 1987; Schacter & Tulving, 1994). Theoretical and methodological developments have supported the interest in implicit social cognition, including implicit stereotyping and prejudice (Bargh, 1994; Devine, 1989; Greenwald & Banaji, 1995). Derived from models of the cognitive psychology, implicit prejudice can be defined as the automatic cognitive association between a social group and negative evaluation (Fazio, Jackson, Dunton, & Williams, 1995). A great deal of work has repeatedly supported the notion of dissociation between implicit and explicit attitudes, showing that implicit socio-cognitive processes have the ability to be qualitatively and quantitatively discrepant from explicit ones. These results suggest that although explicit attitudes are usually reflecting no bias, implicit attitudes are negative toward out-groups.

In our experiment healthy individuals who scored high in explicit preference, also scored high on the implicit one; similarly physical therapists which did not show any explicit preference, behaved consistently and coherently also in the implicit task. These data suggests that implicit and explicit attitudes may not be as dissociated as once thought. Recent findings have shown correlations between these types of measures (Cunningham et al., 2001; Gawronski, 2002; Kawakami et al., 1998; Lepore & Brown, 1997; Wittenbrink et al., 1997). Interestingly, these correlations can be highly variable depending on the particular attitude being measured (Nosek et al., 2002), the degree to which the attitude is elaborated (Nosek, 2004), motivation to control prejudiced reactions (Devine et al., 2002; Fazio et al., 1995), or the degree to which societal norms allow for the explicit expression of prejudice toward the group (Franco & Maass, 1999). In this sense, claim to have an explicit preference for walking people may be socially acceptable for our healthy participants, who have not felt the need to control their answers and to hide this preference when measured in a non-discriminatory way, free of negative connotations towards the out-group. Interestingly, this is not the case of studies on racial bias, where usually people feel very high motivations to consciously control their prejudice and a big difference between implicit and explicit is usually found.

On the other hand, patients with SCI behaved in a completely different way. They showed dissociation between implicit and explicit in-group behavior. In particular they explicitly declared to prefer paraplegic individuals (in-group preference) but implicitly showed a preference for walking ones (out-group preference). This might be due to the fact although it is well established that paraplegia results in dramatic lifestyle changes, little is understood about living in the community as an individual with SCI, especially from the first person perspective (O'Connor et al., 2004). Even if speculative we can draw some explanation to this dissociation. Although from the explicit and cognitive point of view most patients with SCI know to be in a new life condition (i.e. part of a new in-group) and consider themselves to be "individuals with a wheelchair" or "enwheeled individuals" (Papadimitriou, 2008); some may still consider themselves to be more close to the previous in-group (namely the walking people), if not from a physical point of view, at least from a psychological one. Moreover, despite their new physical condition, most patients with SCI continue to attend the environments and to meet the people who were used before the injury, which would help to strengthen the implicit and prior preference for walking people.

Our data suggest that although implicit and explicit attitudes may be dissociated when directly compared and may be discrete systems, a greater permeability between these systems of

115

prejudice may exist. The bidirectional link between implicit and explicit attitudes may indicate that both implicit and explicit prejudices are part of a more general system of preference for one's own group relative to out-groups. Two plausible theories regarding the correlation between implicit and explicit attitudes claim (a) that implicit and explicit attitude measures tap the same attitude construct (single-factor hypothesis) and (b) that implicit and explicit attitudes are completely dissociated (full dissociation hypothesis). Further studies are still needed in this direction to evaluate the specific loading of both implicit and explicit aspects in the creation and extinction of the prejudice.

Experience-dependent effects on biases

Although health care professionals' negative attitudes toward disability may affect successful rehabilitation outcomes and reintegration into the community (Chubon, 1982; Paris, 1993), very little as been written about their personal perception on disability. A study from White & Olson (1998) showed that the majority of the healthcare professionals had positive attitudes toward people with disabilities. Despite this, people with disability often detect inappropriate staff attitudes and behaviors as the biggest obstacle to health services (Carter & Markham, 2001; Byron & Dieppe, 2009). The majority of these studies involved occupational therapy students but the literature on the influence of actual experience in shaping physiotherapists' attitudes is more restricted (French, 1994, 1995, 2000a, b, c; French and Swain, 1997). As part of the validation of the Interaction with Disabled Persons scale, Gething (1993) studied the attitudes of practicing physiotherapists towards disabled persons and emphasized the importance of the first interaction, highlighting that it is not the prior contact per se that is the critical factor, but the nature and dynamics of this interaction. Moreover, while practice setting, age and educational level has no significant effect on healthcare professionals'

attitude scores, their actual experience seemed to be correlated with higher attitudes values (White & Olson, 1998).

To our best knowledge our study is the first one that allows an evaluation of both implicit and explicit attitude of physiotherapists towards people with disabilities. Different than normal healthy participants, physical therapists do not show an implicit or explicit bias towards their patients. Interestingly, the lack of bias is dependent on the amount of time working with these patients; the more they worked with patients the less they show the bias. Congruently, a recent study (Tervo et al., 2004) reported that years of experience and hours per week employed predicted comfort with challenging rehabilitation situations.

This finding supports the hypothesis that contact with disabled individuals influences attitudes in a positive way (Stachura and Garven, 2003; Vargo and Semple, 1988; Lyons, 1991; Gething, 1992; Oermann and Lindgren, 1995; Paris, 1993). Interestingly, a positive attitude refers also to the belief that people with disability can be productive community members. This expectation seems to be in the opposite direction compared to the SCM (Cuddy et al., 2007; Fiske et al., 2007; Fiske et al., 2002), which classified disabled people as low in the competence dimension. In this sense, physical therapists seem to be impermeable to the influence of the SCM.

A concrete application of the social contact hypothesis.

We are all influenced by social stereotypes (Devine, 1989). The first step toward a positive modification is to recognize negative thoughts and feelings and make a conscious effort to change them without being influenced.

Some studies inquired the behavioral effects of completing the IAT: being informed about our potential bias through a direct and concrete personal experience, such as that provided by the

IAT, may contribute to improve the consciousness of people toward their implicit behavior. Making people aware of their intergroup bias is a good first step toward reducing it (Devine, 1989; Monteith & Mark, 2005). Many discussions on prejudice reduction suggest that enhancing people's awareness of bias and of their limited control over their responses could cause them to better regulate their intergroup behavior, which in turn could have a beneficial effect on the signals they transfer to out-group members. Even if this is possible, it seems more likely that some other factors intervene.

The active contact between in-group and out-group members and the perception of a common identity have been indicated as useful strategies for the reduction of prejudice (Brown & Hewstone, 2005). Under some conditions, direct contact between members of different groups can reduce stereotyping, prejudice and discrimination. Allport (1954) has firstly described this phenomenon in his social contact hypothesis. When a member of a majority group meets with a minority group member and the experience is a positive one, an attitude change on two levels will result: a target-specific approach change and a new positive and generalized attitude toward the group as a whole. Initial assumptions about the other, which arise from the (negative) stereotypes, are replaced by more positive perceptions of the individual and its original group.

The contact hypothesis contains a long list of conditions for a successful contact (Amir, 1969, 1976). However, Pettigrew and Tropp (2000), in their meta-analysis of contact studies, have found that it is not necessary that all of Allport's conditions be present simultaneously for bias to be reduced. In our study the effect of a real, active, social interaction leads to drastic changes of the bias. Importantly, passively increasing knowledge about the disability did not lead to a similar result.

The hypothesis of the social contact has a great practical importance for interventions in the promotion of cross-categorical contact and the reduction of bias. Not only the positive and

direct contact between members of different groups can reduce stereotyping, but also indirect contact can have positive effects on this reduction (Wright et al., 1997). Knowing that a member of our group has a contact with a member of the out-group seems to be sufficient to reduce prejudice. One of the limits of this theory is that individuals may activate mechanisms to neutralize the influence of dissonant and unexpected information arising from the positive contact (i.e. the use of cognitive explanations, the attribution of positive effects to external factors or the reduction of future interaction) making the positive contact with out-group members not effective or insufficient in the reduction of the negative attitude. Additionally organizing meetings among members of opposing groups raises both logistical and financial issues.

Despite these questions remain yet unanswered, we believe that the advantages of using the social interaction for an out-group contact are exceptionally promising. We have shown how even a short intervention, has the power of changing implicit bias and we advocate the introduction of inter/intra-group relationships as a vital part of both health care and social contexts. Interestingly, it remains still to investigate how stable and durable are these effects. This should also be investigated from a neuroanatomical point of view, for example, by exploring possible changes of the BOLD signal in brain areas of pain representation during observations of in-group/out-group members.

CHAPTER 7

GENERAL DISCUSSION

The impairment of the motor, sensory and autonomic systems in SCI can have a devastating effect on function (Yu, 1998) and tremendous efforts are undertaken to identify the clinically most important mechanisms involved in recovery after SCI. Studying the effects of sensory loss on body, action and tool representations, as well as social interactions, provides a glimpse into the role played by afferent information on the bodily self and related cognition. The general aim of this project was to explore the relation between the actual bodily states of patients with spinal cord injury and the possible changes in different aspects of cognition, affection and social behavior. We provided evidence that bodily states, such as the lesion level and the extensive wheelchair use, affect both the subjective experience of tool embodiment and the motor auditory mapping. Moreover, we showed that social preferences and personal interactions could be modulated by new interpersonal social dynamics. Taken together our results allow some important considerations.

7.1 Embodiment, disembodiment, re-embodiment

Most patients with SCI perceive that their legs are still their own (Lenggenhager et al., 2012), despite their inability to use or feel them (Cole, 2004). Although the patients do not confuse their body parts with their wheelchair (Nizzi et al., 2012), some do consider themselves to be "individuals with a wheelchair," whereas others regard themselves as "enwheeled individuals" (Papadimitriou, 2008; Cole, 2004). This identity or "wholeness" discrepancy prompted us to investigate whether the somatomotor deafferentation/deefferentation of

disconnected body segments and the exposure to/experience with the wheelchair, affects corporeal awareness of embodiment. To explore the presence of any such relationship, in Chapter 3 we presented a novel developed questionnaire regarding wheelchair-related feelings. We used a principal component analysis (PCA) to estimate the factors that are involved in the sub-aspects of tool embodiment in relation to lesion level. PCA revealed the presence of three major components. Among all participants included in the study, a significant number experienced the wheelchair as being internal to the corporeal boundary, so that the regular use of a wheelchair induces the perception that the body's edges are not fixed, but are instead plastic and flexible to include the wheelchair, suggesting a revision in the body image. Patients with lesions in the lower spinal cord, and loss of movement and sensation in the legs but spared upper body movement, showed a higher degree of functional embodiment than those with lesions in the upper spinal cord and impairment in the entire body. In the case of an upper spinal cord lesion, much more than in the case of a lower spinal cord lesion, there is a more pronounced reduction of strength and functionality in the entire body as well as an overall lack of feeling of touch. Such impairment interferes with the feeling of the wheelchair in direct contact with the body and with the regular status that updates the enwheeled body in motion. The corporeal awareness of the tool emerges not merely as an extension of the body but as a substitute for (and part of) the functional self. This assistive device offers the possibility, at least in principle, to partially "repair" the motor functionality of the damaged body part (Murray 2004; Pereira et al., 1996) and appears conceived not as an object to move but as a mediator of the limbs' action. This reorganization of the body model is consistent with the positive inclusion of the wheelchair to accommodate physical impairment and restore mobility (Papadimitriou, 2008; Standal, 2011; Arnhoff & Mehl, 1963; Higuchi et al., 2004, Higuchi et al., 2009; Merleau-Ponty, 2002). Since body representations take into account every perceptual input related to the body, it is reasonable to think that it should be plastic enough to update accordingly to slow and fast changes the body undergoes with time. A series

of studies demonstrated a relationship between changes in the physical body structure and body representations at different levels (Serino & Haggard, 2010; Ramachandran et al., 1992; Farnè et al., 2002; Di Russo et al., 2006; Taylor-Clarle et al., 2004; de Vignemont et al., 2005; Tajadura-Jimenez et al., 2012; Tsakiris, 2010; Gandevia & Phegan, 1999). However, one of the best examples revealing a direct link between primary cortical activity at the level of the primary somatosensory cortex and body representation is indeed represented by deafferentation (Dijkerman & De Haan, 2007).

Altogether, data presented in Chapter 3 suggest that the subjective experience of the embodiment of an external tool in patients with SCI is a complex, multifarious process that requires the following: a feeling of ownership over the tool (including a long-lasting coherent and accurate representation); online multisensory integration, referenced on the state of the body (including the effective regulation of sensorimotor information flow); and, finally the self-attributed control of the physical body and its movement. One potential study limitation was the use of introspective data and PCA, which, although an elegant and powerful tool (Longo et al., 2008), needs to include empirical measures. Therefore, in the study presented in Chapter 4, we aimed to establish the effect of sensorimotor loss and specific use of wheelchair, on embodiment processes.

Many theories have proposed an association between the perception and execution of actions, suggesting that both are coded according to a common representational format (Prinz, 1997, Brass et al., 2001, Brass et al., 2000, Craighero et al., 2002, Kilner et al., 2003, Sturmer et al., 2000, Repp and Knoblich, 2007). Neural studies in healthy (Gazzola et al., 2006, Rizzolatti et al., 1996, Doehrmann et al., 2010) and brain-damaged (Pazzaglia et al., 2008) individuals indicate that action perception and execution rely on largely overlapping neural substrates. However, it is still unclear whether lifelong (mobility by lower limbs) and newly acquired (mobility by WHC) perceptual and motor experiences differently impact the integrity of

action-perception mapping. In the study presented in Chapter 4, we address this issue by testing aural discrimination ability in different samples of participants using sounds that arose from wheelchair, upper limb, lower limb, and animal actions. Our results indicate that an inability to move the lower limbs in patients with SCI did not lead to impairment in the discrimination of lower limb-related action sounds. Importantly, patients with SCI discriminated wheelchair sounds better than individuals with comparable auditory experience (i.e. physical therapists) and inexperienced, able-bodied subjects.

Alteration of the action network involved in the perception of human motor acts may occur even in the absence of a cortical lesion, such as in blind (Ricciardi et al., 2009, Lewis et al., 2011), deaf (Alaerts et al., 2011) and SCI (Arrighi et al., 2011) individuals. These results prompted us to investigate whether the somatosensory deafferentation and motor deefferentation of specific body parts alter the audio-motor mapping of actions generated by the affected body part. In the visual domain patients with SCI exhibit reduced perceptual sensitivity when compared to the biological motion of the point-light displays of the entire body (Arrighi et al., 2011) and specific impairments in the visual perception of form and action in the disconnected body parts (Pernigo et al., 2012). However, data presented in Chapter 4 gave psychophysical evidence that paraplegic patients recognize lower and upper limb actions as efficiently as able-bodied individuals. Several mechanisms such as brain plasticity (Bunge et al., 1993; Bunge et al., 1997; Guest et al., 2005; Anderson et al., 2004; Cariga et al., 2002), motor mirroring (Costantini et al., 2005), reinforced memory (Nico et al., 2004), training exercises and motor imagery (Fiorio et al., 2006), may explain the preservation of perceptual signaling referred to the paralyzed portion of the body following SCI. The preservation of the perceptual ability in SCI patients suggests that the cortical regions involved in action simulation could play a compensatory role and facilitate the maintenance of intact audio-motor resonance in patients with impaired lower limb motor functions. Moreover, findings shown in Chapter 4 highlight the unique role of motor practice

in learning ability. Individuals with SCI, when compared with auditory experts, can closely match aural perception with wheelchair-executed motion, enabling these patients to quickly extract and discriminate relevant WHC sounds. Visual and auditory wheelchair familiarity, although not fundamental, certainly plays a role in the discrimination of its sound. Although the physical therapists did not demonstrate the same ability as the wheelchair-bound subjects in recognizing the WHC sounds, the mere "observation/audition" ability of the wheelchairbound subjects enhanced their WHC sound discrimination ability when compared with healthy subjects. The acquisition of motor skills through physical vs. perceptual practice may imply a highly selective coupling of perceptual-motor information. The striking effects of perceptual-motor practice with specific objects induce long-term structural changes in monkey (Quallo et al., 2009) and in human (Bassolino et al., 2010, Aglioti et al., 2008; Canzoneri et al., 2013) body representations. We believe that this action-dependent embodiment phenomenon is triggered from the changes in tool, action and body representations, documented by the present experiments. This proposal has been recently introduced by our group in the context of a neural network model designed to account for the decision process in the sound matching process, presented in Chapter 5.

The evidence that patients with SCI can distinguish WHC sounds from other distracting sounds more rapidly than individuals with no direct perceptual or motor wheelchair experience gives the empirical measure that was lacking in Chapter 3. SCI patients probably redefine or modify their motor abilities, appropriating the action schema to include the actual features of the wheelchair, so that the subjective personal experience of wheelchair embodiment descripted in Chapter 3, finds in Chapter 4 its functional translation. In individuals with SCI, the brain does not lose its perceptual ability to function properly. Instead, audio-motor associations appear to be modified and enhanced to incorporate external salient tools that now represent extensions of their body schemas. This particular example of neural plasticity is a formidable opportunity to forge novel treatments that intervene with new

essential objects to regain and extend the potentiality of physically impaired individuals. The exclusive plastic effect of physical (as opposed to perceptual) learning on the development of new action perception abilities suggests that it is essential for people to experience close sensorimotor associations in order to forge new learning opportunities (Serino et al., 2007, Bassolino et al., 2010).

7.2 The importance of intergroup contact

Embodied accounts of social cognition argue that body representations play a causal role in sociocognitive processing (Gallese et al., 2004). These shared bodily representations for self and other may be particularly important for empathy and other core sociocognitive processes such as stereotype, as they can afford us a unique, first-person understanding of the experiences of others. People often report empathizing with the trials and tribulations of others. While some accounts characterize empathy as a general tendency that individuals possess to differing degrees, an alternative, understudied view is that empathy emerges out of similarity-driven matches between potential targets and empathizers. Actually, the activation of shared bodily representations for self and other has been shown to be modulated by whether the other person being observed is a member of in-group or out-group. The project presented in Chapter 6 examined whether these matches, even when not explicitly identified, influence social experiences, and whether this social relationship has consequences for implicit stereotyping toward people with disabilities. In two different experiments we explored the presence of stereotypes toward patients with spinal cord injury (SCI) and we then investigated if such hardwired biases could be modified by a personal interaction with an individual with SCI. Our findings revealed that SCI patients and healthy subjects showed an implicit preference toward healthy individuals and that the opposite was true for the therapists. In addition, we found that subjects who underwent a significant active social interaction showed a weaker and non-significant bias.

The effects of implicit bias have important implications for social cognition, sociocognitive processes, empathy, mental simulation and prosocial behavior. Results from our studies shows that social interaction is not only sensitive to the presence of stereotypes but is also shaped by actual interactions with others and, more specifically, by active social exchange with other people during the interaction. While previous work has shown that empathy can arise out of the dispositional tendencies that individuals possess, the current study demonstrates that previous social experience between individuals of different groups can influence social relations with- and evaluations of- out-group members. Active social contact between groups not only reduces the disability bias, but may also influence expectations for future relationship. Philosophical considerations well as neurophysiology, as neuropsychology, and behavioral evidence converged in showing that body representation is of fundamental importance for the individual, being the medium for every social interaction. It is worth noting, however, the relevance of emotional and motivational significance, such as previous experience, behaviors and knowledge about others. Our study opens up several lines of future research. First, it will be interesting to replicate the effect with different social groups and stereotypes. Second, our findings would be strengthened by replication using alternative measures of both implicit and explicit stereotype. Further research is also needed to investigate in more depth the nature of the implicit attitudes modulated by self-other bodily representation.

7.3 Concluding remarks

In order to entirely account for the different aspects of body experience involved in interaction with the environment, complex higher-level multimodal representations of the body in the brain must exist, supporting perceptual, motor and emotional functions, and, ultimately, underlying the experience of having a body and the ability of using that body to interact with the external world.

An unconscious body model, the body schema, which enables motor control and reflects the proprioceptive, tactile inputs of how the body is "felt", may regulate the functional aspects of embodiment considerably. Indeed, the compensatory flexibility of wheelchair embodiment observed in patients with SCI is linearly linked to their ability to feel and move their body in the space again. The online information regarding movement in a wheelchair is a prerequisite for the capacity to feel that one's own body generates the event and one has control over it. Indeed, an objective and quantitative evaluation of changes in patients with spinal cord lesions help identify the cause that may preclude the experience of self-attribution and embodiment of a tool. United harmony between the body and the tool may be key for the embodied experience of success or rejection of an assistive device. Embodying a wheelchair may enhance the efficiency and safety of movement, thereby reducing bodily effort and the damage produced by its use. This ease of use may lead to greater autonomy and self-organization, thus allowing patients to benefit from the opportunities offered by the environment in which they move.

The finding of preservation of audio motor representation after complete SCI has important implications for basic science research. A variety of experimental therapies are emerging to promote regeneration of the injured spinal cord, including the application of neurotrophic factors (Kwon et al., 2002), drug therapy (Baptiste and Fehlings, 2006), and cell-based therapies (Guest et al., 2005). If regeneration of the injured spinal cord, and thus reconnection of the brain to the muscles, is possible, it is vital that the brain must still be able to activate in a way that will generate movement. Specifically, the capacity to embody new objects may extend an individual's physical impaired ability and remains a potentially unexploited resource for the growing population of those who are severely disabled.

Most of the studies presented in this dissertation investigated how the representation of action and body changes as a function of interaction with an artificial object. Critically, in everyday life the distinction between successful and unsuccessful exchange is meaningful not only in terms of object interaction, but mainly in terms of social interaction. The hypothesis that social contact decreases implicit negative stereotype has great practical importance for interventions in the promotion of cross-categorical contact and the reduction of bias. Not only the positive and direct contact between members of different groups can moderate stereotyping, but also indirect contact can have positive effects on this reduction (Wright et al., 1997). Negative implicit attitudes towards out-groups are formed at an early age, and remain relatively stable throughout adulthood (Baron & Banaji, 2006). We have shown that inducing intergroup contact may attenuate these persistent implicit social biases, altering the perceived boundaries between in-group and out-group. Our results begin to 'bridge the gap' between the basic, perceptual representation of self and other, and the complex social mechanisms underlying much of our everyday social interaction.

REFERENCES

- Adorno TW, Frenkel-Brunswick E, Levinson DJ, Sanford RN. (1950) The authoritarian personality. New York: Harper.
- Aglioti SM, Cesari P, Romani M, Urgesi C. (2008) Action anticipation and motor resonance in elite basketball players. Nat Neurosci 11 (9): 1109-1116.
- Aglioti SM, Pazzaglia M. (2011) Sounds and scents in (social) action. Trends in cognitive sciences 15 (2): 47-55.
- Aglioti SM, Pazzaglia M. (2010) Representing actions through their sound. Experimental brain research. 206 (2): 141-151.
- Aglioti SM, Smania N, Manfredi M, Berlucchi G. (1996) Disownership of left hand and objects related to it in a patient with right brain damage. Neuroreport 8 (1): 293-296.
- Alaerts K, Swinnen SP, Wenderoth N. (2009) Action perception in individuals with congenital blindness or deafness: how does the loss of a sensory modality from birth affect perception-induced motor facilitation? J Cogn Neurosci 23 (5): 1080-1087.
- Alaerts K, Swinnen SP, Wenderoth N. (2011) Interaction of sound and sight during action perception: evidence for shared modality-dependent action representations. Neuropsychologia 47 (12): 2593-2599.
- Alkadhi H, Brugger P, Boendermaker SH, Crelier G, Curt A, Hepp-Reymond MC, Kollias SS. (2005) What disconnection tells about motor imagery: evidence from paraplegic patients. Cereb Cortex 15 (2): 131-140.
- Allport GW. (1954) The Nature of Prejudice. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley. 537 pp.
- Amir Y. (1969) Contact hypothesis in ethnic relations. Psychological Bulletin, 71(5), 319-342.

- Anderson AJ, Robert S, Huang W, Young W, Cotman CW. (2004) Activation of complement pathways after contusion-induced spinal cord injury. Journal of neurotrauma 21 (12): 1831-1846.
- Anderson KD, Acuff ME, Arp BG, Backus D, Chun S, Fisher K, et al. (2011) United States (US) multi-center study to assess the validity and reliability of the Spinal Cord Independence Measure (SCIM III). Spinal cord; 49(8):880-5.
- Andre JM, Paysant J, Martinet N, Beis JM, Le Chapelain L. (2001) Illusions of body normality in amputees and paraplegic patients. Rev Neurol (Paris) 157: 1237-1243.
- Arnhoff F, Mehl M. (1963) Body image deterioration in paraplegia. Journal of Nervous & Mental Disease 137: 88-92.
- Arrighi R, Cartocci G, Burr D. (2011) Reduced perceptual sensitivity for biological motion in paraplegia patients. Curr Biol 21 (22): R910-911.
- Arrindell WA, Van der Ende J (1985) An empirical test of the utility of the observations-tovariables ratio in factor and components analysis. Applied Psychological Measurement 9.
- Arzy S, Thut G, Mohr C, Michel CM, Blanke O (2006) Neural basis of embodiment: distinct contributions of temporoparietal junction and extrastriate body area. J Neurosci 26: 8074-8081.
- Avenanti A, Sirigu A, Aglioti SM. (2010) Racial bias reduces empathic sensorimotor resonance with other race pain. Curr. Biol. 20, 1018–1022.
- Avillion AE (1986) Barrier perception and its influence on self-esteem. Rehabil Nurs 11: 11-14.
- Aziz-Zadeh L, Iacoboni M, Zaidel E, Wilson S, Mazziotta J. (2004) Left hemisphere motor facilitation in response to manual action sounds. Eur J Neurosci 19 (9): 2609-2612.
- Baptiste DC, Fehlings MG (2006) Pharmacological approaches to repair the injured spinal cord. J Neurotrauma; 23:318–334.

- Bargh JA. (1994) The four horsemen of automaticity: Awareness, intention, efficiency, and control in social cognition. In R. S. Wyer & T. K. Srull (Eds.), Handbook of social cognition (2nd ed., pp. 1-40). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Baron A, & Banaji M. (2006) The development of implicit attitudes: Evidence of race evaluations from ages 6 and 10 and adulthood. Psychological Science, 17, 53–58.
- Barsalou LW. (2008) Grounded cognition. Annu Rev Psychol 59: 617-645.
- Bassolino M, Serino A, Ubaldi S, Ladavas E. (2010) Everyday use of the computer mouse extends peripersonal space representation. Neuropsychologia 48 (3): 803-811.
- Bates PS, Spencer JC, Young ME, Rintala DH. (1993) Assistive technology and the newly disabled adult: adaptation to wheelchair use. Am J Occup Ther 47: 1014-1021.
- Batson CD, & Ahmad NY. (2009) Using empathy to improve intergroup attitudes and relations. Social Issues and Policy Review, 3, 141.
- Batson CD, Van Lange PAM, Ahmad N, Lishner DA. (2003) Altruism and helping behavior. In M. A. Hogg & J. Cooper (Eds.), Sage handbook of social psychology (pp. 279–295). London: Sage Publications.
- Bayona NA, Bitensky J, Teasell R. (2005) Plasticity and reorganization of the uninjured brain. Top Stroke Rehabil; 12:1–10.
- Beaud ML, Schmidlin E, Wannier T, Freund P, Bloch J, Mir A, et al. (2008) Anti-Nogo-A antibody treatment does not prevent cell body shrinkage in the motor cortex in adult monkeys subjected to unilateral cervical cord lesion. BMC Neurosci; 9: 5.
- Belin P, Zatorre RJ. (2000) 'What', 'where' and 'how' in auditory cortex. Nat Neurosci, 3(10), 965-966.
- Berlucchi G, Aglioti S. (1997) The body in the brain: neural bases of corporeal awareness. Trends Neurosci 20: 560-564.
- Berryman LJ, Yau JM, Hsiao SS. (2006) Representation of object size in the somatosensory system. Journal of Neurophysiology, 96, 27–39.

- Bettelheim B, & Janowitz M. (1949) Ethnic tolerance: a function of social and personal control. American Journal of Sociology, 55, 137-145.
- Blanke O, Arzy S. (2005) The out-of-body experience: disturbed self-processing at the temporo-parietal junction. Neuroscientist 11: 16-24.
- Blanke O, Landis T, Spinelli L, Seeck M. (2004) Out-of-body experience and autoscopy of neurological origin. Brain 127: 243-258.
- Blanke O, Metzinger T. (2009) Full-body illusions and minimal phenomenal selfhood. Trends Cogn Sci 13: 7-13.
- Blanke O. (2012) Multisensory brain mechanisms of bodily self-consciousness. Nat Rev Neurosci 13: 556-571.
- Bogacz, Brown, Moehlis, Holmes, Cohen (2005) How a biological decision network can implement a statistically optimal test. Modelling Natural Action Selection: Proceedings of an International Workshop, 3-8. AISB Press, Brighton, UK, 2005.
- Brass M, Bekkering H, Prinz W. (2000) Movement observation affects movement execution in a simple response task. Acta Psychol (Amst) 106 (1-2): 3-22.
- Brass M, Bekkering H, Wohlschlager A, Prinz W. (2001) W. Compatibility between observed and executed finger movements: comparing symbolic, spatial, and imitative cues. Brain Cogn 44 (2): 124-143.
- Brown R, & Hewstone H. (2005) An integrative theory of intergroup contact. In M. Zanna (Ed.), Advances in experimental social psychology (Vol. 37, pp. 255-343). San DiegoCA: Academic Press.
- Bruehlmeier M, Dietz V, Leenders KL, et al. (1998) How does the human brain deal with a spinal cord injury? Eur J Neurosci;10:3918–22.
- Bryant FB, Yarnold PR. (1995) Principal components analysis and exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis. In L G Grimm & R R Yarnold (Eds), Reading and

understanding multivariale statistics (pp 99-136) Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

- Bunge RP, Puckett WR, Becerra JL, Marcillo A, Quencer RM. (1993) Observations on the pathology of human spinal cord injury. A review and classification of 22 new cases with details from a case of chronic cord compression with extensive focal demyelination. Advances in neurology 59: 75-89.
- Bunge RP, Puckett WR, Hiester ED. (1997) Observations on the pathology of several types of human spinal cord injury, with emphasis on the astrocyte response to penetrating injuries. Advances in neurology 72: 305-315.
- Burgess PR, Wei JY, Clark FJ, Simon J. (1982) Signaling of kinesthetic information by peripheral sensory receptors. Annual Review of Neuroscience 5:171-187.
- Buxbaum LJ, Coslett HB. (2001) Specialised structural descriptions for human body parts: Evidence from autotopagnosia. Cogn Neuropsychol;18:289–306.
- Byron M, Dieppe P. (2000) Educating health professionals about disability: 'attitudes, attitudes, attitudes'. JR 17 Soc Med; 93: 397-98.
- Canzoneri E, Ubaldi S, Rastelli V, Finisguerra A, Bassolino M, Serino A. (2013) Tool-use reshapes the boundaries of body and peripersonal space representations. Exp Brain Res. 228(1):25-42.
- Cardinali L, Frassinetti F, Brozzoli C, Urquizar C, Roy AC, Farne A. (2009) Tool-use induces morphological updating of the body schema. Curr Biol 19 (12): R478-479.
- Cardinali L, Jacobs S, Brozzoli C, Frassinetti F, Roy AC, et al. (2012) Grab an object with a tool and change your body: tool-use-dependent changes of body representation for action. Exp Brain Res 218: 259-271.
- Cariga P, Catley M, Nowicky AV, Savic G, Ellaway PH, Davey NJ. (2002) Segmental recording of cortical motor evoked potentials from thoracic paravertebral myotomes in complete spinal cord injury. Spine 27 (13): 1438-1443.

- Carruthers G. (2008) Types of body representation and the sense of embodiment. Conscious Cogn, 17(4), 1302-1316.
- Carter JM, Markham N. (2001) Disability discrimination. 16 BMJ; 323:178-79.
- Casile A, Giese MA. (2006) Nonvisual motor training influences biological motion perception. Curr Biol 16 (1): 69-74.
- Catz A, Itzkovich M, Agranov E, Ring H, Tamir A. (1997) SCIM--spinal cord independence measure: a new disability scale for patients with spinal cord lesions. Spinal cord. Dec;35(12):850-6.
- Catz A, & Itzkovich M. (2007) Spinal Cord Independence Measure: comprehensive ability rating scale for the spinal cord lesion patient. Journal of rehabilitation research and development 44 (1): 65-68.
- Chiao JY, & Mathur VA. (2010) Intergroup empathy: How does race affect empathic neural responses? Current Biology, 20, R478–R480.
- Chubon RA. (1982) An analysis of research dealing with the attitudes of professionals toward disability. Journal of Rehabilitation, 25-30.
- Cohen J. (1973) Eta-squared and partial eta-squared in fixed factor ANOVA designs.
 Educational and Psychological Measurement 33 107–112.
- Cole J. (2004) Still lives. Cambridge: MIT press.
- Coleman LM. (2006) Stigma: An enigma demystified. In: Davis LJ, editor, The disabilities studies reader. 2nd ed. New York: Rutledge Taylor & Francis Group; pp. 141–152.
- Corbetta M, Burton H, Sinclair RJ, Conturo TE, Akbudak E, McDonald JW. (2002) Functional reorganization and stability of somatosensory-motor cortical topography in a tetraplegic subject with late recovery. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99 (26): 17066-17071.

- Corradi-Dell'Acqua C, Hesse MD, Rumiati RI, Fink GR. (2008) Where is a nose with respect to a foot? The left posterior parietal cortex processes spatial relationships among body parts. Cereb Cortex;18:2879–90.
- Corradi-Dell'Acqua C, Tomasino B, Fink GR. (2009) What is the position of an arm relative to the body? Neural correlates of body schema and body structural description. J Neurosci; 29:4162–71.
- Costantini M, Galati G, Ferretti A, Caulo M, Tartaro A, Romani GL, Aglioti SM (2005) Neural systems underlying observation of humanly impossible movements: an FMRI study. Cereb Cortex;15(11):1761-1767.
- Craighero L, Bello A, Fadiga L, Rizzolatti G. (2002) Hand action preparation influences the responses to hand pictures. Neuropsychologia 40 (5): 492-502.
- Cramer SC, Orr EL, Cohen MJ, Lacourse MG. (2007) Effects of motor imagery training after chronic, complete spinal cord injury. Experimental brain research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation cerebrale 177 (2): 233-242.
- Cramer SC, Lastra L, Lacourse MG, Cohen MJ. (2005) Brain motor system function after chronic, complete spinal cord injury. Brain; 128(Pt 12):2941-50.
- Cuddy AJC, Fiske ST, & Glick P. (2007) The BIAS map: Behaviors from intergroup affect and stereotypes. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 92, 631–648.
- Cunningham, WA, Preacher KJ, & Banaji MR. (2001) Implicit attitude measures: Consistency, stability, and convergent validity. Psychological Science, 12, 163-170.
- Curt A, Alkadhi H, Crelier GR, Boendermaker SH, Hepp-Reymond MC, et al. (2002) Changes of non-affected upper limb cortical representation in paraplegic patients as assessed by fMRI. Brain 125: 2567-2578.
- Curt A, Yengue CN, Hilti LM, Brugger P (2011) Supernumerary phantom limbs in spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 49: 588–595.

- Davis MH. (1996) Empathy: A Social Psychological Approach. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- De Lucia M, Camen C, Clarke S, Murray MM. (2009) The role of actions in auditory object discrimination. NeuroImage 48 (2): 475-485.
- De Preester H. (2011) Technology and the Body: the (Im)Possibilities of Re-embodiment.
 Foundations of Science 16: 119-137.
- de Vignemont F, Ehrsson HH, Haggard P. (2005) Bodily illusions modulate tactile perception. Curr Biol, 15(14), 1286-1290.
- de Vignemont F. (2010) Body schema and body image--pros and cons. Neuropsychologia 48: 669-680.
- de Vignemont F. (2011) Embodiment, ownership and disownership. Conscious Cogn 20: 82-93.
- Decety J, & Ickes W. (2009) The social neuroscience of empathy. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Devine PG. (1989) Stereotypes and prejudice: Their automatic and controlled components. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 56, 5-18.
- Devine PG, Plant EA, Amodio DM, Harmon-Jones E, & Vance SL. (2002) The regulation of explicit and implicit race bias: The role of motivations to respond without prejudice. Journal of Person- ality and Social Psychology, 82, 835-848.
- Di Russo F, Committeri G, Pitzalis S, Spitoni G, Piccardi L, Galati G, et al. (2006) Cortical plasticity following surgical extension of lower limbs. NeuroImage, 30(1), 172-183.
- Dijkerman HC, de Haan EHF. (2007) Somatosensory processes subserving perception and action. Behav Brain Sci, 30(2), 189-201.
- Dimitrijevic MR. (1988) "Residual motor functions in spinal cord injury". Advances in Neurology 47: 138–155.

- Doehrmann O, Weigelt S, Altmann CF, Kaiser J, Naumer MJ. (2010) Audiovisual functional magnetic resonance imaging adaptation reveals multisensory integration effects in objectrelated sensory cortices. J Neurosci 30 (9): 3370-3379.
- Donoghue JP, Suner S, Sanes JN. (1990) Dynamic organization of primary motor cortex output to target muscles in adult rats. II. Rapid reorganization following motor nerve lesions. Exp Brain Res.; 79:492–503
- Dovidio JF, Piliavin JA, Gaertner SL, Schroeder DA, & Clark RD. (1991) The arousal/costreward model and the process of intervention: A review of the evidence. In M. S. Clark (Ed.), Prosocial behavior (pp. 86–118). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Dovidio, John F., Kerry Kawakami, Samuel L. Gaertner (2002) Implicit and Explicit Prejudice and Interracial Interaction. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 82(1): 62– 68.
- Duggal N, Rabin D, Bartha R, Barry RL, Gati JS, Kowalczyk I, Fink M. (2010) Brain reorganization in patients with spinal cord compression evaluated using fMRI. Neurology. 30;74(13):1048-54.
- Dunlop SA. (2008) Activity-dependent plasticity: implications for recovery after spinal cord injury. Trends in Neurosciences; 31:410–418.
- Dusart I, Schwab ME. (1994) Secondary cell death and the inflammatory reaction after dorsal hemisection of the rat spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci; 6: 712–24.
- Ehrsson HH, Holmes NP, Passingham RE. (2005) Touching a rubber hand: feeling of body ownership is associated with activity in multisensory brain areas. J Neurosci 25: 10564-10573.
- Elbert T, Pantev C, Wienbruch C, Rockstroh B, Taub E. (1995) Increased cortical representation of the fingers of the left hand in string players. Science; 270: 305–7.
- Everitt BS. (1975) Multivariate analysis: the need for data, and other problems. Br J Psychiatry 126: 237-240.

- Farné A, Ladavas E. (2000) Dynamic size-change of hand peripersonal space following tool use. Neuroreport 11 (8): 1645-1649.
- Farné A, Roy AC, Giraux P, Dubernard JM, Sirigu A. (2002) Face or hand, not both: perceptual correlates of reafferentation in a former amputee. Curr Biol, 12(15), 1342-1346.
- Fazio P, Cantagallo A, Craighero L, D'Ausilio A, Roy AC, Pozzo T, Calzolari F, Granieri E, Fadiga L. (2009) Encoding of human action in Broca's area. Brain 132 (Pt 7): 1980-1988.
- Fazio RH, Jackson JR, Dunton BC, & Williams CJ. (1995) Variability in automatic activation as an unobtrusive measure of racial attitudes: A bona fide pipeline? Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 69, 1013-1027.
- Felician O, Anton JL, Nazarian B, Roth M, Roll JP, Romaiguère P. (2009) Where is your shoulder? Neural correlates of localizing others' body parts. Neuropsychologia. 47(8-9):1909-16.
- Field A. (2011) Discovering statistics using SPSS (3rd ed.). London, England: SAGE.
- Fields RD. (2008) White matter in learning, cognition and psychiatric disorders. Trends Neurosci; 31: 361–70.
- Fiorio M, Tinazzi M, Aglioti SM. (2006) Selective impairment of hand mental rotation in patients with focal hand dystonia. Brain 129: 47–54.
- Fiske ST, Cuddy, AJC, & Glick P. (2007) First judge warmth, then competence: Fundamental social dimensions. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 11, 77–83.
- Fiske ST, Cuddy AJC, Glick P, Xu J. (2002) A model of (often mixed) stereotype content: competence and warmth respectively follow from perceived status and competition. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 82, 878–902.
- Flor H, Mühlnickel W, Karl A, Denke C, Grüsser S, Kurth R, Taub E. (2000) A neural substrate for nonpainful phantom limb phenomena. Neuroreport. 15;11(7):1407-11.
- Fogassi L, Ferrari PF, Gesierich B, Rozzi S, Chersi F, Rizzolatti G. (2005) Parietal lobe: from action organization to intention understanding. Science 308 (5722): 662-667.

- Franco FM, & Maass A. (1999) Intentional control over prejudice: When the choice of the measure matters. European Journal of Social Psychology, 29, 469-477.
- French S. (1994) Attitudes of health professionals towards disabled people. Physiotherapy. 80: 687-93.
- French S (1995) 'Equality not difference for disabled people', Physiotherapy, 81, 3, 116-118.
- French S. (2000a) Physiotherapy: A psychosocial approach, Butterworth Heinemann, Oxford, 2nd edn.
- French S. (2000b) 'The attitudes of health professionals towards disabled people' in: French, S (ed) op cit, pages 88-99.
- French S. (2000c) 'Defining disability: Its implications for physiotherapy practice' in: French, S (ed) op cit, pages 336-350.
- French S and Swain J. (1997) Changing disability research: Participating and emancipatory research with disabled people. Physiotherapy, 83, 1, 26-32.
- Freud S. (1933) New introductory lectures on psycho-analysis. New York: Norton
- Freund P, Rothwell J, Craggs M, Thompson AJ, Bestmann S. (2011a) Corticomotor representation to a human forearm muscle changes following cervical spinal cord injury. Eur J Neurosci 34: 1839-1846.
- Freund P, Weiskopf N, Ward NS, Hutton C, Gall A, Ciccarelli O, Craggs M, Friston K, Thompson AJ. (2011) Disability, atrophy and cortical reorganization following spinal cord injury. Brain. 134(Pt 6):1610-22.
- Freund P, Wheeler-Kingshott CA, Nagy Z, Gorgoraptis N, Weiskopf N, Friston K, Thompson AJ, Hutton C. (2012) Axonal integrity predicts cortical reorganisation following cervical injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 83(6):629-37.
- Fuentes CT, Pazzaglia M, Longo MR, Scivoletto G, Haggard P. (2013) Body image distortions following spinal cord injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 84: 201-217.

- Fuhrer JJ. (1996) The subjective wee-being of people with spinal cord injury: relationships to impairment, disability and handicap. Topics in Spinal Cord Injury Reahbilitation. 1,56-71.
- Gaertner SL, Dovido JF, Johnson G. (1982) Race of victim, non responsive by standers, and helping behavior. The Journal of Social Psychology, 11, 69–77.
- Gallagher S, Cole J. (1995) Body schema and body image in a deafferented subject. J Mind Behav; 16:369–90.
- Gallagher S. (2005) How the Body Shapes the Mind. New York: Oxford. University Press.
- Gallese V, Fadiga L, Fogassi L, Rizzolatti G. (1996) Action recognition in the premotor cortex. Brain 119 (Pt 2): 593-609.
- Gallese V, Keysers C, Rizzolatti G. (2004) A unifying view of the basis of social cognition. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 8(9), 396–403.
- Gallese V & Sinigaglia C. (2010) The bodily self as power for action. Neuropsychologia, 48(3), 746-755.
- Gallese V. (2007) Embodied simulation: from mirror neuron systems to interpersonal relations. Novartis Found Symp 278: 3-12; discussion 12-19, 89-96, 216-221.
- Gandevia SC, Phegan CM. (1999) Perceptual distortions of the human body image produced by local anaesthesia, pain and cutaneous stimulation. J Physiol 514 (Pt 2): 609-616.
- Gawronski B. (2002) What does the Implicit Association Test measure? A test of the convergent and discriminant validity of prejudice-related IATs. Experimental Psychology, 49, 171-180.
- Gazzola V, Aziz-Zadeh L, Keysers C. (2006) Empathy and the somatotopic auditory mirror system in humans. Curr Biol 16 (18): 1824-1829.
- Gething L. (1992) Interaction with Disabled Persons Scale Manual, University of Sydney.
- Gething L. (1993) Attitudes toward people with disabilities of physiotherapists and members of the general population. Australian Journal of Physiotherapy, 39, 4, 291-295.

- Ghosh A, Haiss F, Sydekum E, Schneider R, Gullo M, Wyss MT, Mueggler T, Baltes C, Rudin M, Weber B, Schwab ME. (2010) Rewiring of hindlimb corticospinal neurons after spinal cord injury. Nat Neurosci. 13(1):97-104.
- Gimbel L. (1975) The pathology of boredom and sensory deprivation. Can J Psychiatr Nurs 16: 12-13.
- Giraux P, Sirigu A, Schneider F, Dubernard JM. (2001) Cortical reorganization in motor cortex after graft of both hands. Nat Neurosci 4 (7): 691-692.
- Goodale MA, Milner AD. (1992) Separate visual pathways for perception and action. Trends Neurosci, 15(1), 20-25.
- Gorsuch RL. (1983) Factor analysis. Hillsdale,NJ: Erlbaum.
- Greenwald AG, & Banaji MR. (1995) Implicit social cognition: Attitudes, self-esteem, and stereotypes. Psychological Review, 102, 4-27.
- Greenwald AG, McGhee DE, Schwartz JL. (1998) Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: The implicit association test. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 1464–1480.
- Greenwald AG, Nosek BA, Banaji MR. (2003) Understanding and using the implicit association test: I. An improved scoring algorithm. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 85, 197–216.
- Greenwald AG, T. Poehlman A, Uhlmann EL, Mahzarin E, Banaji MR. (2009) Understanding and Using the Implicit Association Test: III. Meta-Analysis of Predictive Validity. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 97(1): 17-41.
- Guest JD, Hiester ED, Bunge RP. (2005) Demyelination and Schwann cell responses adjacent to injury epicenter cavities following chronic human spinal cord injury. Experimental neurology 192 (2): 384-393.
- Hains BC, Black JA, Waxman SG. (2003) Primary cortical motor neurons undergo apoptosis after axotomizing spinal cord injury. J Comp Neurol; 462: 328–41.
- Hair J, Tatham R, Anderson R, Black W. (1998) Multivariate data analysis. Princeton University Press, New Jersey.

- Head H, Holmes G. (1911) Sensory disturbances from cerebral lesions. Brain, 34 (2–3), 102.
- Henderson LA, Gustin SM, Macey PM, Wrigley PJ, Siddall PJ. (2011) Functional reorganization of the brain in humans following spinal cord injury: evidence for underlying changes in cortical anatomy. J Neurosci 31: 2630-2637.
- Henderson WR, Smyth G. (1948) Phantom limbs. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry;11:88–112.
- Higuchi T, Cinelli ME, Greig MA, Patla AE. (2006) Locomotion through apertures when wider space for locomotion is necessary: adaptation to artificially altered bodily states. Exp Brain Res 175: 50-59.
- Higuchi T, Hatano N, Soma K, Imanaka K. (2009) Perception of spatial requirements for wheelchair locomotion in experienced users with tetraplegia. J Physiol Anthropol 28: 15-21.
- Higuchi T, Takada H, Matsuura Y, Imanaka K. (2004) Visual estimation of spatial requirements for locomotion in novice wheelchair users. J Exp Psychol Appl 10: 55-66.
- Hihara S, Notoya T, Tanaka M, Ichinose S, Ojima H, Obayashi S, Fujii N, Iriki A. (2006) Extension of corticocortical afferents into the anterior bank of the intraparietal sulcus by tooluse training in adult monkeys. Neuropsychologia, 44(13), 2636-2646.
- Ho CH, Wuermser LA, Priebe MM, Chiodo AE, Scelza WM, Kirshblum SC. (2007) Spinal cord injury medicine. 1. Epidemiology and classification. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 88: S49–S54.
- Hommel B, Musseler J, Aschersleben G, Prinz W. (2001) The Theory of Event Coding (TEC): a framework for perception and action planning. The Behavioral and brain sciences 24 (5): 849-878; discussion 878-937.
- Hopfield JJ. (1982) Neural networks and physical systems with emergent collective computational abilities, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA, vol. 79 no. 8 pp. 2554–2558.

- Hotz-Boendermaker S, Funk M, Summers P, Brugger P, Hepp-Reymond MC, Curt A, Kollias SS. (2008) Preservation of motor programs in paraplegics as demonstrated by attempted and imagined foot movements. NeuroImage 39 (1): 383-394.
- Hotz-Boendermaker S, Hepp-Reymond MC, Curt A, Kollias SS. (2011) Movement observation activates lower limb motor networks in chronic complete paraplegia. Neurorehabilitation and neural repair 25 (5): 469-476.
- Iriki A, Tanaka M, Iwamura Y. (1996) Coding of modified body schema during tool use by macaque postcentral neurones. Neuroreport, 7(14), 2325-2330.
- Ishibashi H, Hihara S, Takahashi M, Heike T, Yokota T, Iriki A. (2002) Tool-use learning induces BDNF expression in a selective portion of monkey anterior parietal cortex. Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 102(1-2), 110-2.
- Jain N, Catania KC, Kaas JH. (1997) Deactivation and reactivation of somatosensory cortex after dorsal spinal cord injury. Nature; 386:495–498.
- Jauregui-Renaud K, Sang FY, Gresty MA, Green DA, Bronstein AM. (2008) Depersonalisation/derealisation symptoms and updating orientation in patients with vestibular disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 79: 276-283.
- Jolliffe I. (2002) Principal Component Analysis. Springer-Verlag, Inc, New York,
- Jones EG. (2000) Cortical and subcortical contributions to activity-dependent plasticity in primate somatosensory cortex. Annu Rev Neurosci; 23: 1–37.
- Jurkiewicz MT, Crawley AP, Verrier MC, Fehlings MG, Mikulis DJ. (2006) Somatosensory cortical atrophy after spinal cord injury: a voxel-based morphometry study. Neurology; 66: 762 4.
- Jurkiewicz MT, Mikulis DJ, Fehlings MG, Verrier MC. (2010) Sensorimotor cortical activation in patients with cervical spinal cord injury with persisting paralysis. Neurorehabil Neural Repair; 24: 136–40.

- Kammers MP, Longo MR, Tsakiris M, Dijkerman HC, Haggard P. (2009) Specificity and coherence of body representations. Perception, 38(12), 1804-1820.
- Kammers MP, Mulder J, de Vignemont F, Dijkerman HC. (2010) The weight of representing the body: addressing the potentially indefinite number of body representations in healthy individuals. Exp Brain Res, 204(3), 333-342.
- Kawakami K, Dion KL, Dovidio JF. (1998) Racial prejudice and stereotype activation.
 Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 24, 407-416.
- Kew JJ, Ridding MC, Rothwell JC, Passingham RE, Leigh PN, Sooriakumaran S, Frackowiak RS, Brooks DJ. (1994) Reorganization of cortical blood flow and transcranial magnetic stimulation maps in human subjects after upper limb amputation. J Neurophysiol. 72(5):2517-24
- Kihlstrom JF. (1987) The cognitive unconscious. Science, 237, 1445-1452.
- Kilner JM, Paulignan Y, Blakemore SJ. (2003) An interference effect of observed biological movement on action. Curr Biol 13 (6): 522-525.
- Kim BG, Dai HN, McAtee M, Vicini S, Bregman BS. (2006) Remodeling of synaptic structures in the motor cortex following spinal cord injury. Exp Neurol; 198: 401–15.
- Kirshblum S, Campagnolo D, Delisa J. (2001). Spinal Cord Medicine. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Kohonen, Teuvo (1982) Self-Organized Formation of Topologically Correct Feature Maps. Biological Cybernetics 43 (1): 59–69.
- Kokotilo KJ, Eng JJ, Curt A. (2009) Reorganization and preservation of motor control of the brain in spinal cord injury: a systematic review. J Neurotrauma 26: 2113-2126.
- Kolb B. (1995) Brain Plasticity and Behavior. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Kulig K, Newsam CJ, Mulroy SJ, Rao S, Gronley JK, Bontrager EL, Perry J. (2001) The effect of level of spinal cord injury on shoulder joint kinetics during manual wheelchair propulsion. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon).16(9):744-51.
- Kunstman JW & Plant EA. (2008) Racing to help: racial bias in high emergency helping situations. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 95, 1499–510.
- Kwon BK, Liu J, Messerer C, Kobayashi NR, McGraw J, Oschipok L, Tetzlaff W. (2002) Survival and regeneration of rubrospinal neurons 1 year after spinal cord injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.; 99:3246–3251.
- Lackner, JR. (1988) Some proprioceptive influences on the perceptual representation of body shape and orientation. Brain; 111: 281-297.
- Lafuente DJ, Andrew J, Joy A. (1985) Sacral sparing with cauda equina compression from central lumbar intervertebral disc prolapse. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry 48 (6): 579–581.
- Lahav A, Saltzman E, Schlaug G. (2007) Action representation of sound: audiomotor recognition network while listening to newly acquired actions. J Neurosci 27 (2): 308-314.
- Lenggenhager B, Pazzaglia M, Scivoletto G, Molinari M, Aglioti SM. (2012) The sense of the body in individuals with spinal cord injury. PLoS One 7: e50757.
- Lenggenhager B, Smith ST, Blanke O. (2006) Functional and neural mechanisms of embodiment: importance of the vestibular system and the temporal parietal junction. Rev Neurosci 17: 643-657.
- Lepore L, & Brown R. (1997) Category and stereotype activation: Is prejudice inevitable? Journal of Personality & Social Psychology, 72(2), 275-287.
- Lewis JW, Frum C, Brefczynski-Lewis JA, Talkington WJ, Walker NA, Rapuano KM, Kovach AL. (2011) Cortical network differences in the sighted versus early blind for recognition of human-produced action sounds. Hum Brain Mapp 32 (12): 2241-2255.
- Lewis JW, Phinney RE, Brefczynski-Lewis JA, DeYoe EA. (2006) Lefties get it "right" when hearing tool sounds. J Cogn Neurosci 18 (8): 1314-1330.
- Lin VWH, Cardenas DD, Cutter NC, Frost FS, Hammond MC. (2002) Spinal Cord Medicine: Principles and Practice. Demos Medical Publishing.

- Longo MR, Azanon E, Haggard P. (2010) More than skin deep: body representation beyond primary somatosensory cortex. Neuropsychologia, 48(3), 655-668.
- Longo MR, Haggard P. (2010) An implicit body representation underlying human position sense. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 107(26), 11727-11732.
- Longo MR, Kammers MP, Gomi H, Tsakiris M, Haggard P. (2009) Contraction of body representation induced by proprioceptive conflict. Curr Biol, 19(17), R727-728.
- Longo MR, Schuur F, Kammers MP, Tsakiris M, Haggard P. (2008) What is embodiment? A psychometric approach. Cognition 107: 978-998.
- Longo MR, Serino A. (2012) Tool use induces complex and flexible plasticity of human body representations. Behav Brain Sci 35: 229-230.
- Lundell H, Barthelemy D, Skimminge A, Dyrby TB, Biering-Sorensen F, Nielsen JB. (2011a) Independent spinal cord atrophy measures correlate to motor and sensory deficits in individuals with spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord; 49: 70–5.
- Lundell H, Christensen MS, Barthelemy D, Willerslev-Olsen M, Biering-Sorensen F, Nielsen JB. (2011b) Cerebral activation is correlated to regional atrophy of the spinal cord and functional motor disability in spinal cord injured individuals. Neuroimage; 54: 1254–61.
- Lyons, M (1991) Enabling or disabling? Students' attitudes towards persons with disabilities.
 American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 45, 4, 311-316.
- MacCallum RC, Widaman KF, Zhang SSH. (1999) Sample size in factor analysis.
 Psychological Methods 4: 84-89.
- Maravita A, Iriki A. (2004) Tools for the body (schema). Trends Cogn Sci 8: 79-86.
- Marino RJ, Barros T, Biering-Sorensen F, Burns SP, Donovan WH, Graves DE, Haak M, Hudson LM, Priebe MM. (2003) International standards for neurological classification of spinal cord injury. The journal of spinal cord medicine 26 Suppl 1: S50-56.

- Mattia D, Cincotti F, Astolfi L, de Vico Fallani F, Scivoletto G, Marciani MG, Babiloni F. (2006) Motor cortical responsiveness to attempted movements in tetraplegia: evidence from neuroelectrical imaging. Clin Neurophysiol 120 (1): 181-189.
- Mattia D, Cincotti F, Mattiocco M, Scivoletto G, Marciani MG, Babiloni F. (2009) Motorrelated cortical dynamics to intact movements in tetraplegics as revealed by high-resolution EEG. Hum Brain Mapp 27 (6): 510-519.
- McConnell AR & Leibold JM. (2001) Relations among the Implicit Association Test, Discriminatory Behavior, and Explicit Measure of Racial Attitudes. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology 37(5): 435-42.
- Melzack R, Bromage PR. (1973) Experimental phantom limbs. Exp Neurol;39:261-9.
- Merleau-Ponty M. (2002) Phenomenology of Perception. London: Routledge.
- Mishkin M, Ungerleider LG. (1982) Contribution of striate inputs to the visuospatial functions of parieto-preoccipital cortex in monkeys. Behav Brain Res, 6(1), 57-77.
- Monteith MJ, & Mark AY. (2005) Changing one's prejudiced ways: Awareness, affect, and self-regulation. European Review of Social Psychology, 16, 113–154.
- Moore CI, Stern CE, Dunbar C, Kostyk SK, Gehi A, Corkin S. (2000) Referred phantom sensations and cortical reorganization after spinal cord injury in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 19;97(26):14703-8.
- Moro V, Urgesi C, Pernigo S, Lanteri P, Pazzaglia M, Aglioti SM. (2008) The neural basis of body form and body action agnosia. Neuron 60 (2): 235-246.
- Moseley GL. (2007) Using visual illusion to reduce at-level neuropathic pain in paraplegia.
 Pain 130 (3): 294-298.
- Murray CD. (2004) An interpretative phenomenological analysis of the embodiment of artificial limbs. Disabil Rehabil 26: 963-973.
- Navarro X. (2009) Chapter 27: Neural plasticity after nerve injury and regeneration. Int Rev Neurobiol 87: 483-505.

- Newport R, Preston C. (2010) Pulling the finger off disrupts agency, embodiment and peripersonal space. Perception 39: 1296-1298.
- Nico D, Daprati E, Rigal F, Parsons L, Sirigu A. (2004) Left and right hand recognition in upper limb amputees. Brain: a journal of neurology;127(Pt 1):120-32.
- Nizzi MC, Demertzi A, Gosseries O, Bruno MA, Jouen F, Laureys S. (2012) From armchair to wheelchair: how patients with a locked-in syndrome integrate bodily changes in experienced identity. Conscious Cogn. 21(1):431-7.
- Nock, MK, Banaji MR. (2007) Prediction of Suicide Ideation and Attempts Among Adolescents Using a Brief Performance-Based Test. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 75(5): 707–15.
- Nosek BA, Greenwald AG, Banaji MR. (2005) Understanding and using the Implicit Association Test: II. Method variables and construct validity. Pers Soc Psychol Bull. 31(2):166-80.
- Nosek BA. (2004) Moderators of the relationship between implicit and explicit attitudes. Unpublished manuscript.
- Nosek BA, Banaji MR, Greenwald AG. (2002) Harvesting implicit group attitudes and beliefs from a demonstration Web site. Group Dynamics, 6(1), 101-115.
- Nudo RJ, Wise BM, SiFuentes F, Milliken GW. (1996) Neural substrates for the effects of rehabilitative training on motor recovery after ischemic infarct. Science; 272: 1791–4.
- O'Connor D, Young J, Saul M. (2004) Living with Paraplegia: Tensions and Contradictions: Health and Social Work 29(3): 207-219.
- Oermann MH & Lindgren CL. (1995) An educational program's effect on students' attitudes towards people with disabilities: A one-year follow-up. Rehabilitation Nursing, 20, 1, 6-10.
- Oja E. (1982) Simplified neuron model as a principal component analyzer. Journal of Mathematical Biology 15 (3): 267–273.

- Oldfield RC. (1971) The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. Neuropsychologia 9 (1): 97-113.
- Olsson CJ. (2012) Complex motor representations may not be preserved after complete spinal cord injury. Experimental neurology 236 (1): 46-49.
- Papadimitriou C. (2008) Becoming en-wheeled: The situated accomplishment of reembodiment as a wheelchair user after spinal cord injury. Disability & Society 23: 691-704.
- Paqueron X, Leguen M, Rosenthal D, Coriat P, Willer JC, Danziger N. (2003) The phenomenology of body image distortions induced by regional anaesthesia. Brain. 126(Pt 3):702-12.
- Paris MJ. (1993) Attitudes of medical students and healthcare professionals towards people with disabilities. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 74, 818-825.
- Pazzaglia M, Galli G, Scivoletto G, Molinari M. (2013) A functionally relevant tool for the body following spinal cord injury. PloS one 8 (3): e58312.
- Pazzaglia M, Pizzamiglio L, Pes E, Aglioti SM. (2008a) The sound of actions in apraxia. Curr Biol 18 (22): 1766-1772.
- Pazzaglia M, Smania N, Corato E, Aglioti SM. (2008b) Neural underpinnings of gesture discrimination in patients with limb apraxia. J Neurosci 28 (12): 3030-3041.
- Pazzaglia, M. (2013) Does what you hear predict what you will do and say? The Behavioral and brain sciences: 42-43.
- Pereira BP, Kour AK, Leow EL, Pho RW. (1996) Benefits and use of digital prostheses. J Hand Surg Am 21: 222-228.
- Pernigo S, Moro V, Avesani R, Miatello C, Urgesi C, Aglioti SM. (2012) Massive somatic deafferentation and motor deefferentation of the lower part of the body impair its visual recognition: a psychophysical study of patients with spinal cord injury. The European journal of neuroscience.

- Perry A, Bentin S, Ben-Ami Bartal I, Lamm C, Decety J. (2010) Feeling the pain of those who are different from us – modulation of EEG in the mu/alpha range. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 10, 493–504.
- Pettigrew TF & Tropp LR. (2000) Does intergroup contact reduce prejudice? Recent metaanalytic findings. In S. Oskamp (Ed.), Reducing Prejudice and Discrimination: Social Psychological Perspectives (pp. 93-114). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Pick A. (1992) Storrung der Orientierung am eigenen Korper. Psychol Forshung;2:303–18.
- Pons TP, Garraghty PE, Ommaya AK, Kaas JH, Taub E, Mishkin M. (1991) Massive cortical reorganization after sensory deafferentation in adult macaques. Science. 28;252(5014):1857-60.
- Pratto F & Glasford DE. (2008) Ethnocentrism and the value of a human life. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 95, 1411–28.
- Prinz W. (1997) Perception and action planning. European Journal of Cognitive Psychology 9 (2): 129-154.
- Quallo MM, Price CJ, Ueno K, Asamizuya T, Cheng K, Lemon RN, Iriki A. (2009) Gray and white matter changes associated with tool-use learning in macaque monkeys. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106 (43): 18379-18384.
- Ramachandran VS, Rogers-Ramachandran D, Stewart M. (1992) Perceptual correlates of massive cortical reorganization. Science, 258(5085), 1159-1160.
- Ratcliff R. (1993) Methods for dealing with reaction time outliers. Psychol Bull 114 (3): 510-532.
- Repp BH, Knoblich G. (2007) Action can affect auditory perception. Psychol Sci 18 (1): 6-7.
- Ricciardi E, Bonino D, Sani L, Vecchi T, Guazzelli M, Haxby JV, Fadiga L, Pietrini P. (2009)
 Do we really need vision? How blind people "see" the actions of others. J Neurosci 29 (31):
 9719-9724.

- Rizzolatti G, Craighero L. (2004) The mirror-neuron system. Annu Rev Neurosci 27: 169-192.
- Rizzolatti G, Fadiga L, Gallese V, Fogassi L. (1996) Premotor cortex and the recognition of motor actions. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res 3 (2): 131-141.
- Rooth & Dan-Olof. (2010) Automatic associations and discrimination in hiring: Real world evidence. Labour Economics 17(3): 523–534.
- Salanova V, Andermann F, Rasmussen T, Olivier A, Quesney LF. (1995) Parietal lobe epilepsy. Clinical manifestations and outcome in 82 patients treated surgically between 1929 and 1988. Brain. 118 (Pt 3):607-27.
- Saucer DA, Miller CT, Doucet N. (2005) Dfferences in helping Whites and Blacks: a metaanalysis. Personality and Social Psychology Review, 9, 2–16.
- Schacter DL & Tulving E. (1994). Memory systems. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Schubotz RI, von Cramon DY, Lohmann G. (2003) Auditory what, where, and when: a sensory somatotopy in lateral premotor cortex. NeuroImage 20 (1): 173-185.
- Schutz-Bosbach S, Prinz W. (2007) Perceptual resonance: action-induced modulation of perception. Trends in cognitive sciences;11(8):349-55.
- Schwoebel J, Coslett HB. (2005) Evidence for multiple, distinct representations of the human body. J Cogn Neurosci, 17(4), 543-553.
- Sekhon LH, Fehlings MH. (2001) Epidemiology, demographics, and pathophysiology of acute spinal cord injury. Spine 26 (24 Suppl): S2–12.
- Serino A, Bassolino M, Farne A, Ladavas E. (2007) Extended multisensory space in blind cane users. Psychological science 18 (7): 642-648.
- Serino A, Haggard P. (2010) Touch and the body. Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 34(2), 224-236.
- Sherrington CS. (1906) The Integrative Action of the Nervous System. Yale university press, New Haven.

- Sherwood AM; Dimitrijevic MR; McKay WB. (1992) Evidence of subclinical brain influence in clinically complete spinal cord injury: discomplete SCI. Journal of Neurological Sciences 110: 90–98.
- Singer T, Seymour B, O'Doherty JP, Kaube H, Dolan RJ, Frith CD. (2004) Empathy for pain involves the affective but not sensory components of pain. Science, 303, 1157–61.
- Stachura, K & Garven, F (2003) Comparison of occupational therapy and physiotherapy students' attitudes towards people with disabilities. Physiotherapy, 89, 11, 653-664.
- Standal OF. (2011) Re-embodiment: incorporation through embodied learning of wheelchair skills. Med Health Care Philos 14: 177-184.
- Stefan K, Cohen LG, Duque J, Mazzocchio R, Celnik P, Sawaki L, Ungerleider L, Classen J.
 (2005) Formation of a motor memory by action observation. J Neurosci 25 (41): 9339-9346.
- Stephan WG & Finlay K. (1999) The role of empathy in improving intergroup relations. Journal of Social Issues, 4, 729–743.
- Sturmer B, Aschersleben G, Prinz, W. (2000) Correspondence effects with manual gestures and postures: a study of imitation. J Exp Psychol Hum Percept Perform 26 (6): 1746-1759.
- Tajadura-Jiménez A, Väljamäe A, Toshima I, Kimura T, Tsakiris M, Kitagawa N. (2012) Action sounds recalibrate perceived tactile distance. Curr Biol, 22(13), R516-7.
- Taylor-Clarke M, Jacobsen P, Haggard P. (2004) Keeping the world a constant size: object constancy in human touch. Nat Neurosci, 7(3), 219-220.
- Tervo RC & Palmer G. (2004) Health professional student attitudes towards people with disability. Clin Rehabil. 18: 908
- Ticini LF, Schutz-Bosbach S, Weiss C, Casile A, Waszak F. (2012) When sounds become actions: higher-order representation of newly learned action sounds in the human motor system. J Cogn Neurosci 24 (2): 464-474.

- Towles-Schwen T & Fazio RH. (2006) Automatically activated racial attitudes as predictors of the success of interracial roommate relationships. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 42(5): 698–705.
- Truccolo W, Friehs GM, Donoghue JP, Hochberg LR. (2008) Primary motor cortex tuning to intended movement kinematics in humans with tetraplegia. J Neurosci 28: 1163-1178.
- Tsakiris M, Prabhu G, Haggard P. (2006) Having a body versus moving your body: How agency structures body-ownership. Conscious Cogn 15: 423-432.
- Tsakiris M. (2010) My body in the brain: a neurocognitive model of body-ownership. Neuropsychologia 48: 703-712.
- Vaccaro A, Fehlings (2010) Spine and Spinal Cord Trauma: Evidence-Based Management. Thieme Publishers. ISBN (Americas): 9781604062212
- Van Overwalle F, Baetens K. (2009) Understanding others' actions and goals by mirror and mentalizing systems: a meta-analysis. NeuroImage 48 (3): 564-584.
- Vargo JW & Semple JE. (1988) Professional and personal attitudes of physiotherapy students toward disabled persons. Australian Journal of Physiotherapy, 34, 1, 23-26.
- White MJ & Olson RS. (1998) Attitudes towards people with disabilities: A comparison of rehabilitation nurses, occupational therapists, and physical therapists. Rehabilitation Nursing, 23, 3, 126-131.
- Winance M. (2006a) Pain, disability and rehabilitation practices. A phenomenological perspective. Disabil Rehabil 28: 1109-1118.
- Winance M. (2006b) Trying Out the Wheelchair: The Mutual Shaping of People and Devices through Adjustment. Science, Technology, & Human Values 31: 52-72.
- Wittenbrink B, Judd CM, Park R. (1997) Evidence for racial prejudice at the implicit level and its relationship with question- naire measures. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 72, 262- 274.

- Wolpert DM, Goodbody SJ, Husain M. (1998) Maintaining internal representations: the role of the human superior parietal lobe. Nat Neurosci; 1:529–33.
- Wright SC, Aron A, McLaughlin-Volpe T, Ropp SA. (1997) The extended contact effect: knowledge of cross-group friendships and prejudice. Univ. Calif., Santa Cruz. Unpublished manuscript.
- Wrigley PJ, Press SR, Gustin SM, Macefield VG, Gandevia SC, Cousins MJ, Middleton JW, Henderson LA, Siddall PJ. (2009) Neuropathic pain and primary somatosensory cortex reorganization following spinal cord injury. Pain.141(1-2):52-9.
- Wyndaele M and Wyndaele JJ. (2006) Incidence, prevalence and epidemiology of spinal cord injury: what learns a worldwide literature survey? Spinal Cord; 44-9:523-529.
- Xu X, Zuo X, Wang X, Han S. (2009) Do you feel my pain? Racial group membership modulates empathic neural responses. J. Neurosci. 29, 8525–8529.
- Yu D. (1998) A crash course in spinal cord injury. Postgrad Med.; 104:109–10. 113–6, 119–22.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My main and deepest gratitude goes to Dr. Mariella Pazzaglia who followed my work day after day since the moment we first met, in 2007. She shared with me her vast knowledge of the discipline and mainly her profound passion. She thought me to look for the shades we daily meet being psychologists and researchers, little things which are not written in the books, but which can make the difference.

My thanks goes also to Professor Salvatore Maria Aglioti for giving me the opportunity to attend this prestigious Ph.D. program and for having directly and indirectly challenged me to try to do my best.

My esteem and friendship go to Dr. Bigna Lenggenhager who is for me an example of commitment. I thank her for her availability to share her scientific knowledge and for the precious time spent together outside the laboratory.

I would like also to thank Professor Olaf Blanke and all the people from the LNCO in Lausanne for the nice collaborations and for all the help they provided me. In particular to: Elisa Canzoneri, Jean Paul Noel Cue, Roberta Ronchi, Javier Bello Ruiz, Andrea Serino, Polona Pozeg, Mariia Kaliuzhna and Roy Salomon.

Special thanks are also due to all the people of the Cognitive Social and Affective Neuroscience Lab in Rome, because everything started in there. In particular to: Khatarina Koch, Lucia Sacheli, Giusi Porciello, Giulia Rizza and Brittany Holmes.

I would also like to thank my patients, whose strength has inspired my research, even when all seemed lost.

Last but not least, I am grateful to my parents. Because, to know where we are going, we have to know where we came from.

155

APPENDIX A

Additional clinical information about spinal cord injury

In all complete spinal cord lesions, sensation is lost below the level, and because people do not feel they can injury themselves without awareness. They have to be aware of skin care to prevent burns and, especially, pressure ulcers. In addition there are a number of other functions altered or lost because of spinal cord injury. Temperature regulation can be a problem, because patients cannot shiver, sweat, or control blood vessels' dilatation and constriction below their level. The latter may also be the reason for autonomic dysreflexia. Cervical spinal cord injury leads to a brief initial period of hypertension, caused by the release of epinephrine and norepinephrine from the adrenal medulla. This is followed by the autonomic equivalent of the spinal shock, in which sympathetic activity is greatly reduced. Cardiovascular manifestations include hypotension and bradycardia, as a result of demised sympathetic outflow from thoracic segment. Over a longer time, spinal sympathetic reflexes become hyperactive, and autonomic dysreflexia commonly develops. Noxious stimuli that would normally cause a moderate sympathetic response lead instead to massive vasoconstriction and potentially life-threatening hypertension (Vaccaro & Fehlings, 2010). A large increases in blood pressure can suddenly occur, which present as severe headache and sweating over the forehead caused by dilatation of the normally controlled blood vessels of the head and neck, connected to the brain by the intact cervical cord, in response to a rise in blood pressure following a problem in the area of body below the level of the lesion. Bladder dilatation is a potent cause of this but some people have dysreflexia during rehabilitation when they are first raised to the vertical. This is a medical emergency, with stroke a real possibility if the blood pressure is not immediately reduced. The rise in blood pressure is all the worse because tetraplegics normally live with lower blood pressure than able-bodied people. Also muscle spasms can be a real problem in those with lesions above the lumbar

cord. Initially after spinal injury there is a loss of all reflex activity, known as "spinal shock". But then, over months, reflexes become abnormally active, which can lead to huge spasms in response to relatively innocuous stimuli. Lastly, people with spinal cord injury have to live with a variety of pain. Roughly 60-65 percent of people have pain, and in 20-25 percent is severe. This may reflect damage to the nerve roots at the site of the lesion, or elsewhere. Later it may also be the result of shoulder arthritis after years of transfers to and from the chair, for example. Lastly, among the most troubling types of pain are "neuropathic pain" and "phantom pain", perceived in the area of the body below the level of the cord damage in an area that cannot be usually felt.

TABLE 3.1

DEMOGRAPHIC AND CLINICAL DATA OF THE PATIENTS

Case	Age	Gender	Time since Injury (days)	Time since wheelchair utilization (days)	Daily wheelchair use (hours)	Lesion Level	AIS grade	Etiology	SCIM Self-Care (0-20)	SCIM Mobility (0-40)
P1	26	F	3350	3260	10	C3	Α	Traumatic	0	3
P2	30	м	2550	2450	10	C4	А	Traumatic	0	3
P3	40	М	730	715	15	C4	D	Traumatic	20	20
P4	24	м	1654	1530	11	C4	в	Traumatic	1	6
P5	30	М	4015	3960	15	C5	А	Traumatic	18	14
P6	35	м	258	195	10	C5	A	Traumatic	4	6
P7	29	F	8395	8310	10	C5	с	Traumatic	-	-
P 8	29	М	540	450	12	C5	A	Traumatic	13	13
P9	40	М	980	920	10	C5	А	Traumatic	4	5
P10	25	м	975	900	15	C5	А	Traumatic	12	11
P11	22	М	420	350	11	C5	А	Traumatic	11	11
P12	31	М	3650	3600	14	C6	A	Traumatic	14	16
P13	40	М	6570	6500	15	C6	A	Traumatic	18	16
P14	54	F	8230	8160	12	C6	Α	Traumatic	11	11
P15	29	М	4015	3920	15	C6	с	Traumatic	18	14
P16	31	М	530	495	13	C6	A	Traumatic	11	11
P17	29	F	750	690	10	C6	с	Traumatic	5	6
P 18	52	F	3650	3550	10	C6	А	Traumatic	9	10
P19	61	F	9000	8930	14	C6	А	Traumatic	15	14
P20	40	М	400	310	10	C6	А	Traumatic	0	3
P21	41	М	3900	3825	15	C6	А	Traumatic	18	16
P22	36	F	4000	3940	14	C6	А	Traumatic	13	14
P23	22	F	3900	3830	14	C6	А	Traumatic	-	-
P24	65	м	230	190	10	C7	с	Traumatic	5	6
P25	22	М	290	230	10	C7	D	Traumatic	20	19
P26	47	м	1095	995	10	C7	D	Neoplastic	5	6
P27	62	F	300	260	10	T2	А	Myelitis	12	9
P28	34	м	240	215	13	тз	А	Traumatic	17	15
P29	42	м	1170	1140	11	тз	А	Traumatic	18	15
P30	47	м	2400	2330	11	Т4	А	Traumatic	19	16
P31	56	М	2100	2020	13	T4	А	Traumatic	19	16
P32	53	М	10220	10160	14	Τ4	А	Traumatic	14	9
P33	72	F	188	160	11	Т5	с	Traumatic	12	9
P34	44	М	6040	5985	15	Т5	A	Traumatic	20	19
P35	63	м	4000	3880	10	Т5	А	Neoplastic	20	15
P36	39	F	3850	3710	14	т5	Α	Traumatic	20	19
P37	35	М	6770	6700	16	Τ7	А	Traumatic	20	19
P38	31	М	450	380	12	т7	Α	Traumatic	20	17
P39	42	м	4945	4885	16	т8	А	Traumatic	20	19
P40	39	М	5840	5760	15	т8	A	Traumatic	19	16
P41	42	м	1170	1070	14	т9	A	Neoplastic	20	18
P42	42	м	4380	4320	15	т9	A	Traumatic	20	19
P43	19	М	789	750	14	T10	A	Traumatic	20	19
P44	42	М	960	925	15	T10	A	Traumatic	20	19
P45	35	М	590	520	11	T10	A	Traumatic	20	19
P46	27	м	1200	1170	14	T10	A	Traumatic	20	16
P47	40	М	4015	3865	15	T11	A	Traumatic	20	19
P48	47	м	2190	2140	15	T11	A	Traumatic	20	15
P49	39	М	3256	3195	14	T11	Α	Traumatic	20	19
P50	49	F	450	410	11	T12	Α	Traumatic	18	15
P51	38	м	2057	2000	15	T12	Α	Traumatic	20	19
P52	29	м	2190	2160	16	L1	Α	Traumatic	20	21
P53	56	м	600	540	10	L1	с	Traumatic	17	13
P54	34	м	1100	1055	12	L1	D	Neoplastic	20	21
P55	68	М	4745	4685	10	L1	Α	Traumatic	17	17
Range	19 - 72	12 F - 43 M	188 - 10220	160 - 10160	10 - 16	C3 - L1	A - D	•	0 - 20	3 - 21
Mean	39.92		2768.76	2701.72	12.67				14.84	13.88
SD	12.65		2540.82	2533.73	2.15				6.42	5.17

Table 3.1. Clinical and demographic characteristics of patients with SCI. The neurological levels of the lesion and injury, as determined by the American Impairment Scale (AIS), are indicated. Spinal Cord Independence Measure (SCIM) scores were not available for patient nos. 12 and 25.

	Sco	ores	Communalities			
Statement	Mean	Standard deviation	1° component	2° component	3° component	
[BI1] Diet:	3.18	2.15	0.11	0.57	0.58	
BI2] Maintenance	4.45	2	0.004	0.71	0.71	
BI3] Defense	4.03	2.37	0.0001	0.62	0.63	
[BI4] Awareness:	5.6	1.98	0.03	0.06	0.35	
[BI5] Tool:	3.2	2.38	0.27	0.28	0.50	
[BE1] Entire body	2.6	2.34	0.005	0.03	0.33	
[BE2] Lower limbs	3.38	2.58	0.45	0.48	0.62	
[BE3] Substitution	3.74	2.77	0.57	0.57	0.60	
[BE4] Extension	1	1.74	0.21	0.21	0.77	
[BE5] Action	5.12	2.24	0.11	0.40	0.49	
[LL] Lesion Level	10.89	5.68	0.42	0.43	0.44	

Table 3.2: Scores and Communalities to questionnaire statements

LIST OF SOUNDS						
Upper Limb	Lower Limb	Wheelchair	Animals			
Clapping hands, single human	Footsteps, man	WHCM being rolled down a hallway	Pigeon flying			
Clapping hands, group	Footsteps, woman	WHCM being rolled, solid ground	Insects flying			
Knocking on door	Running, hard surface	Keys opening door	Dog walking			
Writing on chalkboard, quick	Running, solid ground	WHCM braking 1	Horses galloping, slow			
Writing on chalkboard, slow	Running, group	WHCM braking 2	Horse galloping, solid ground			
Scratching, quick	Footsteps, solid ground	Bicycle	Herd passing			
Typing on computer keyboard	Going down wooden stairs, quick	WHCM rattle, cement surface	Horses trotting, soil			
Typing on computer keyboard, fast	Going down stairs, hard surface	WHCM rattle, wooden surface	Horse trotting, guick			
Drumming fingers	Footsteps, quick	Film projector	Cows moving			
Scratching	Dancing, tapping fast	WHCM movement, slow	Birds flying			
Scratching, fast	Dancing, tapping slow	WHCM rattle, wooden surface	Bird flying			
Writing with chalk	Going up the stairs, quick	Zip fastener	Rattle snake rattling			
Snapping fingers	Marching, group	WHCM rolling, indoor	Dog digging 1			
Snapping finger	Marching, single human	WHCM rolling, hard uneven surface	Dog digging 2			
Cracking fingers	Dancing, flamenco	Bowling ball	Dog footstep			
Drumming fingers	Running, outdoor	WHCE braking 1	Horse galloping, slow			
Drumming finger	Running, indoor	WHCE braking 2	Horse galloping, indoor			
Typing on computer keyboard	Dancing, tip tap	Elevator	Dog running around			
Cracking finger	Going up stairs, indoor	WHCE moving changing from high to lower speed.	Horses galloping, solid surface			
Cracking knuckles	Going up stairs, outdoor	WHCE moving changing from a low to a higher speed	Horse gallop, solid surface			
Snapping finger	Marching, slow	Coffee machine	Hoofed animal stampede			
Hands drumming, quick	Footsteps, broken glasses	WHCE moving, solid ground	Bird flapping			
Hands drumming	Footsteps, wooden surface	WHCE going back and forth	Butterfly flapping wings			
Hands clapping	Going up stairs, man	Scooter	Horse trotting slow			
Applause, medium crowd	Running, wet surface	WHCE turning on and accelerating fast	Horse galloping, indoor			
Hands clapping, single human	Running, gravel	WHCE turning on and moving	Horses galloping, soil			
Tapping fingers, multiple	Footsteps, wet surface	Hairdryer	Zebra trotting			
Knocking on wooden door	Going up stairs, quick wearing tennis shoes	WHCE moving, solid ground	Bat flapping wings			
Knocking on metal door	Going up wooden stairs, quick	WHCE accelerating	Hen flapping			
Tapping fingers	Running, wearing tennis shoes	Scooter	Dog panting			

Table 4.2 List of the sounds of the auditory discrimination action task described in Chapter 4. A complete list of the category of 10 sets of three sounds used in the matching-tosample auditory discrimination action task described in Chapter 4 is provided. Each sound depicts upper (U_{RAS}) and lower (L_{RAS}) limb-related action sounds, wheelchair-related action sounds (W_{RAS}), and animal action-related sounds (A_{ARS}). In each category, the sample, the matching and the non-matching sound stimuli are indicated in the first, second and third rows of each of the 10 sound sets, respectively. The sounds were chosen on the basis of two psychophysics studies. During the test-creation phase, healthy subjects who did not subsequently participate in the study listened to each sound and assessed how easily it could be identified. The selection of the auditory stimuli was based on the results of a preliminary psychophysics study involving 20 healthy participants (11 men, 22–34 years of age). Each

160

participant listened to each sound and chose between two verbal tags. Only one tag correctly described the sound; the other tag was used as a realistic distractor. Only the sounds that were correctly matched by at least 80% of the participants were used in the subsequent study. Ten groups of three sounds formed every trial set for each sound action category that was chosen for use in the final test. The test performances of 10 healthy participants (3 men; mean age, 23.6 ± 4.8 years) were assessed. No differences were observed in the recognition rate of the U_{RAS} (mean, 88%; range, 70–100%), L_{RAS} (mean, 85%; range, 75–91%), W_{RAS} (mean, 80%; range, 70–100%), or A_{RAS} (mean, 90%; range, 75–100%) action sounds (P > 0.8).

Chapter number	Original text (Not published Before)	Submitted: No Feedback Received	Submitted: Revision Requested or Revision Submitted	Accepted or Published
Chapter 1 Phenomenology of spinal cord injuries: a brain body disconnection	Х			
Chapter 2 Theoretical background	Х			
Chapter 3 A functionally relevant tool for the body following spinal cord injury				X (Plos One)
Chapter 4 Embodying functionally relevant action sounds in patients with spinal cord injury		X (Cortex)		
Chapter 5 A computational model on perceptual- motor process of action- related sound	Х			
Chapter 6 Don't look at my wheelchair: changing people's bias through social interaction		X (Cognitive, Affective and Behavioral Neuroscience)		
Chapter 7 General discussion	Х			

Overview of Publications Status

Other Papers:

- Galli G, Noel Cue JP, Blanke O, Serino A. The role of spatial exploration and tool use in full body peripersonal space representation. *In prep.*
- 2) Galli G, Scivoletto G, Molinari M, Pazzaglia M. Body part mental rotation in patients with spinal cord injury. *In prep*.
- 3) Galli G, Scivoletto G, Felici L, Molinari M, Pazzaglia M. Verbal markers of pain in patients with spinal cord injury. *In prep.*
- 4) Salomon R, Galli G, Bello Ruiz J, Blanke O. Full body illusion modulates access to visual consciousness in a continuous flash suppression task. *In prep*.
- 5) Pozeg P, Galli G, Blanke O. Crossmodal congruency effect and first person point of view as measures of virtual leg illusion. *In prep*.
- 6) Pazzaglia M, Galli G, Aglioti SM. Body part-specific emotions influence action recognition in apraxic patients. *In prep.*
- Pazzaglia M & Galli G. Crossmodal correspondences as a cue for neglect rehabilitation.
 2013. *In prep.*